Public Document Pack

&i Dorset

Council

Audit and Governance Committee

Date: Monday, 13 January 2025
Time: 6.30 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ

Members (Quorum: 3)

Gary Suttle (Chair), Spencer Flower (Vice-Chair), Belinda Bawden, Matt Bell, Neil Eysenck,
Jill Haynes, Alex Fuhrmann, Andrew Parry and Andy Todd

Co-opted Members: R Ong and S Roach.

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ

For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services
Meeting Contact john.miles@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in
the exempt part of this agenda.

For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free

public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet. Once
downloaded select Dorset Council.

Agenda

ltem Pages
1. APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.
2 MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9" December 2024.
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interest

as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their decision

councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration.



If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer
in advance of the meeting.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Representatives of town or parish councils and members of the public
who live, work, or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council
area are welcome to submit either 1 question or 1 statement for each
meeting. You are welcome to attend the meeting in person or via MS
Teams to read out your question and to receive the response. If you
submit a statement for the committee this will be circulated to all
members of the committee in advance of the meeting as a supplement
to the agenda and appended to the minutes for the formal record but
will not be read out at the meeting. The first 8 questions and the first 8
statements received from members of the public or organisations for
each meeting will be accepted on a first come first served basis in
accordance with the deadline set out below.

All submissions must be emailed in full to
john.miles@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30 am on 8" January 2025.

When submitting your question or statement please note that:

e You can submit 1 question or 1 statement.

¢ A question may include a short pre-amble to set the context.

e It must be a single question and any sub-divided questions will not be
permitted.

e Each question will consist of no more than 450 words, and you will be
given up to 3 minutes to present your question.

¢ When submitting a question please indicate who the question is for
(e.g., the name of the committee or Portfolio Holder)

e Include your name, address, and contact details. Only your name will
be published but we may need your other details to contact you about
your question or statement in advance of the meeting.

¢ Questions and statements received in line with the council’s rules for
public participation will be published as a supplement to the agenda.

e All questions, statements and responses will be published in full
within the minutes of the meeting.

MINUTES OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE SUB-COMMITTEE

To note the minutes of the Audit & Governance Hearing Sub-
committee (if any meetings have been held).

No Meetings Held.
RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE

To receive a report by Chris Swain, Risk Reporting Officer.


mailto:john.miles@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

SEPTEMBER (PERIOD 6) FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 17 - 142
2024/25

To receive a report by Sean Cremer, Corporate Director Finance and
Commercial.

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE - UPDATE 143 -
154
To receive a report by Marc Eyre, Service Manager for Assurance.
CORPORATE COMPLAINTS AND MANAGING CUSTOMER 155 -
BEHAVIOUR 180

To receive a report by Marc Eyre, Service Manager for Assurance.
UPDATE ON OUR FUTURE COUNCIL WORK

To receive an update by Aidan Dunn, Executive Director Corporate
Development.

REPORT OF INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY - PROGRESS REPORT 181 -
2024/25 - JANUARY 2025 196

To receive a report by Angie Hooper, SWAP.

WORK PROGRAMME 197 -
198
To consider the work programme for the Committee.

URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b)
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be
recorded in the minutes.

Exempt Business 199 -
202

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item

in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the

meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act

1972 (as amended).

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the
item of business is considered.

Appendix B — Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up.



This page is intentionally left blank



Public Document Pack Agenda Iltem 2

«Q Dorset

Council

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON MONDAY 9 DECEMBER 2024

Present: Cllrs Gary Suttle (Chair), Spencer Flower (Vice-Chair), Matt Bell,
Neil Eysenck, Andrew Parry and Andy Todd.

Co-opted Member: R Ong and S Roach

Also Present: Clirs Clifford, Biggs, Bartlett and Ireland

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):

Susan Dallison (Democratic Services Team Leader), Aidan Dunn (Executive Director -
Corporate Development S151), Richard Ironside (Senior Accountant), Heather Lappin
(Head of Strategic Finance), Jonathan Mair (Director of Legal and Democratic and
Monitoring Officer), John Miles (Democratic Services Officer), Sally White (Assistant
Director SWAP), David Wilkes (Service Manager for Treasury and Investments) and
Grace Evans (Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer), lan Howse
(Deloitte)

Officers present remotely (for all or part of the meeting):

Sean Cremer (Corporate Director for Finance and Commercial) and Angela Hooper
(Principal Auditor SWAP)

45. Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Clirs Belinda Bawden, Alex Furhmann,
and Jill Haynes.

46. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2024 were confirmed and
signed.

47. Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.
48. Public Participation

No Public Participation.
49.  Minutes of the Audit & Governance Sub-committee

No Meetings Held.

Page 5



50.

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2024/25

ClIr Clifford introduced the report by explaining that this was a half term report, and
it was interesting to see some of the balancing act that went on in treasury
management. He informed that interest rates had been falling but not as fast as
predicted which had positive and negative impacts for Dorset Council. A reduced
interest rate helped fund the Council’s Capital Program but at the same time it
meant lower returns on cash investments.

The Service Manager Treasury and Investments introduced the report. Treasury
management activity had been heavily impacted by the wider world. The biggest
external factors were interest rates. Inflation had come back towards the Bank of
England’s target this financial year and subsequently there had been cuts to the
base rate but not as many cuts as were anticipated this time last year. The bank
rate is very important for treasury activities because the returns that the Council
receives on its cash balances tend to follow this closely. Shorter term borrowing
rates were closely linked to the bank rate as well. The interest rates on longer term
borrowing were not as closely linked to the bank rate but were more closely
aligned to the interest rates that central government could borrow at which had
also held up higher than expected.

He covered Section 4 of the report, the local context- Table 1 Balance Sheet
Summary and gave an explanation to the numbers and how these interlinked with
each other. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was expected to increase
from just under £390 million at the beginning of the year to £450 million by the end
of the financial year. An increase of £60 million which was £30 million more than
the expected increase when the budget was agreed in February 2024 due to
slippage in the delivery of the Capital Program being more than predicted when
the budget was agreed. External borrowing was forecast to be £325 million at year
end compared to £225 million at the beginning of the year, an increase of £100
million over the year. When the budget was agreed external borrowing was
expected to be £313 million at year end, therefore officers were now forecasting
an increase of £12 million since the budget was agreed. It was expected that there
would be less reserves by the end of the financial year than the Council had at the
start of the financial year which meant there were less ‘balance sheet resources’
available to offset external borrowing with internal borrowing. He went through
Section 6 of the report- Treasury Performance. There was improvement in the
figures as for local authority’s cash flows were quite heavily weighted to the first 6-
9 months of the year which meant the Council had benefitted from higher than
expected returns on its investment balances.

In response to questions about the Capital Program and slippage, the Executive
Director Corporate Development explained that progress against the Capital
Program was reported on a quarterly basis to Cabinet and monitored monthly by
officers.

Noted.

2
Page 6



51.

52.

53.

4.

Councillor Code of Conduct and Complaint Process

Cllr Flower introduced the report, and Councillors had last adopted a councillor
complaint process on 15" April 2021. He explained that back in July 2024 the
Committee decided to review the new draft process for dealing with complaints
against Councillors. A task and finish group had been set up to look into the detail
and the work went really well. A number of good comments were made by
colleagues across the chamber which the Deputy Monitoring Officer had taken into
account. ClIr Flower referenced the track changes on Pg 37 of the report that
showed all the changes that had been incorporated since the July 2024 draft
version.

Recommendation to Full Council

The Committee recommend that Council adopt the new Councillor Complaint
Process.

Reason for Decision

To support councillors in maintaining high standards of conduct and to ensure a
proportionate and clear approach to the assessment and hearing of complaints
against councillors.

Update on Our Future Council Work

The Executive Director Corporate Development recapped the Our Future Council
Work for the Committee. He explained that the Our Future Council Work looked at
how to run the Council more cost effectively whilst improving the services for our
residents. Cabinet two weeks ago received an outlined business case, and a full
business case was being developed. The principle of the full business case was
going to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 9™ January 2025. Which
would form a part of the pre-budget deliberations at Place and Resources Scrutiny
Committee on the 17" January 2025 and formerly going to Cabinet as a full
business case on 28" January 2025.

Work Programme

No comments were made.

Urgent items

The following items of business were considered by the Chairman as urgent
pursuant to section 100B (4) b) of the Local Government Act 1972. The item was
considered to be urgent because (the backstop introduced by the Accounts and
Audit (amendment) Regulations 2024 meant that the business needed to be

completed by 13 December 2024, and this limited the time available to issue
papers for the meeting).

3
Page 7



55.

ISA 260 2021/22 - Dorset Council and Dorset Pension Fund

The Executive Director Corporate Development introduced the report and set the
scene. He explained that accounts were published and audited to ensure the
transparency and accountability for public money and how it was spent on public
services and to build up public confidence. In recent years there had been a
growing back log of unaudited accounts. For example, for the financial year
2022/23 just 1% of Councils and national bodies published their audited accounts
on time. The Government had got together with key local audit partners to tackle
the backlog and set statutory backlog dates of 13" December for the publication of
audited accounts for financial years 2022/23. There had also been Further
backstops for the 2023-24 accounts which were later in the year. The Government
plan was for auditors to focus on more updated accounts and to clear the backlog
and bring the Committee up to date.

lan Howse informed that the 2021/22 accounts both for the Council and the
Pension Fund, would be issued with an unmodified opinion. The 2022/23 accounts
of both the council and pension fund would be disclaimed due to insufficient time
due to the backstop date. Those opinions would say that Deloitte were unable to
give an opinion due to the lack of time to complete. In terms of the 21/22 audit,
the audit plan set out the significant risks which were completeness and accuracy
of the accrued expenditure and the capitalisation of infrastructure assets under
construction. There were complex assumptions made around property valuations
and the accounting around those property valuations. Finally, the valuation of the
pension scheme liability. Some misstatements had been identified in terms of
capitalisation but nothing material and some misstatements over accruals. There
were some issues coming out of the audit that stood uncorrected, and he
requested that the committee asked management to correct auditing standards.
These were not material and if not corrected these would not impact on the
opinion of the 2021/22 accounts. There was a significant adjustment in relation to
Colefox school which was an academy school. There was one disclosure
misstatement.

Proposed by ClIr Suttle, seconded by Clir Flower.

Decision:

1. The Committee noted the content of the Auditor’s ISA260 Reports
1.1Dorset Council 2021/22

1.2 Dorset Pension Fund 2021/22

2. The Committee agreed the content of the letters of management
representation, and to delegate authority to the s151 Chief Financial Officer
(in consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or
the Chair of the Pension Fund Committee as appropriate) subject to any

further changes as required by external auditors Deloitte LLP.

1.1Dorset Council 2021/22

4
Page 8



56.

1.2 Dorset Pension Fund 2021/22

3. The Committee agreed the audited financial statements for the period
ending 31 March 2022 for Dorset Council (including Dorset Pension Fund
accounts), and to delegate authority to the s151 Chief Financial Officer (in
consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or the
Chair of the Pension Fund Committee as appropriate) to approve the
accounts subject to any further changes as required by external auditors
Deloitte LLP.

Reason for Decision

As part of the national backstop stop deadline of the 13th of December 2024 for
the completion of the 2021/22 audit, the committee are asked to approve the
recommendations which provide an unmodified opinion on the financial statements
for 2021/22.

ISA 260 2022/23 - Dorset Council and Dorset Pension Fund

lan Howse introduced the report. There were no significant issues in relation to the
draft accounts to be published alongside the disclaimer opinion. There were no
issues identified regarding value for money and no weaknesses in arrangements,
however work was still ongoing and would be reported to the next Committee.
Nothing material had come about for the Pension Fund and there were a humber
of disclosure points brought forward from 21/22.

Proposed by ClIr Suttle, seconded by Clir Flower.
Decision:
1. The Committee noted the content of the Auditor’s ISA260 reports:

1.1 Dorset Council 2022/23
1.2 Dorset Pension Fund 2022/23

2. The Committee noted the content of the Auditor’s opinions:

2.1 Dorset Council 2022/23

2.2 Dorset Pension Fund 2022/23 (financial statements)

2.3 Dorset Pension Fund 2022/23 (consistency with Pension Fund
Annual Report)

3.The Committee agreed the content of the letters of management
representation, and delegate authority to the s151 Chief Financial Officer (in
consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or the
Chair of the Pension Fund Committee as appropriate) subject to any further
changes as required by external auditors Deloitte LLP.

1.1 Dorset Council 2022/23
1.2 Dorset Pension Fund 2022/23

5
Page 9



4. The Committee agreed the financial statements for the year ending 31
March 2023 for both Dorset Council (including Dorset Pension Fund
accounts), and delegate authority to the s151 Chief Financial Officer (in
consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or the
Chair of the Pension Fund Committee as appropriate) to approve the
accounts subject to any further changes as required by external auditors
Deloitte LLP.

Reason for Decision

As part of the national backstop stop deadline of the 13th of December 2024 for
the completion of the 2022/23 audit, the committee are asked to approve the
recommendations which provide a disclaimer of opinion on the financial
statements for 2022/23.

57. Exempt Business
There was no exempt business.

Duration of meeting: 6.30 - 7.38 pm

Chairman

6
Page 10



Agenda Iltem 6

Audit and Governance Committee
13 January 2025
Risk Management Update

For Review and Consultation

Cabinet Member and Portfolio:
Clir N Ireland, Leader of the Council, Climate, Performance and Safeguarding

Executive Director:
A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development

Report Author: Chris Swain

Job Title: Risk Management & Reporting Officer
Tel: 01305 228691

Email: chris.swain@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public

Brief Summary: The continual development and promotion of risk management
is integral to strong performance, business continuity, compliance and delivering
strong outcomes for the residents of Dorset. Strong risk management with a clear
understanding and governance of strategic and operational risks will ensure that
Dorset Council remains well placed to demonstrate that objective and informed
decisions are being taken. The senior leadership team (SLT) owns strategic risk
management, with an agreed risk management framework and policy statement
both of which set out the council’s commitment. The focus of this report is to
provide an overview of the highest-level risks identified within the corporate risk
register, as well as provide an overview of the processes and work that has been
implemented to drive enhancements in risk management since Audit and
Governance Committee on the 23 September 2024.

Recommendation: The Audit and Governance Committee note the key risks
identified in the risk registers, with escalation to scrutiny committees where
appropriate.

Reason for Recommendation: To ensure that the council’s risk management
methodologies remain current, proportionate, and effective in enabling informed
decisions based on identified risks to be made.

Page 11


https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

Report

Both the People and Health Scrutiny Committee and Place and Resources
Scrutiny Committee consider the detail of individual risks. The role of Audit
and Governance Committee is to satisfy itself over the adequacy of the
risk management framework.

Dorset Council’s “Principal Risks” have been confirmed, following approval
of the new Council Plan and can be viewed via the following link:
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/wi/strategic-risk-management

This set of Principal Risks will form the top tier of classification for all other
risks to filter underneath as subsets. The intention is they will enable the
organisation to be informed and act on cross enterprise risks, and

therefore, enhance the delivery of its objectives.

Strategic
Key Risks

External Reporting

Internal Reporting

Quarterly Feed

Council Plan

Place Board Monthly

Risk/Performance Directorate Level Risks

Meeting

Monthly Reporting Monthly Reporting Monthly Reporting Monthly Reporting

Operational Level Reporting

Operational / Service Level
Risks

Following approval of the organisation’s Principal Risks, work is underway
to provide an associated Risk Appetite Statement for Dorset Council. This
will work in tandem with the Principal Risks, providing a high-level
strategic steer as to the amount of risk that the organisation is willing to
take in the pursuit of its objectives.

Business Intelligence & Performance has recently been restructured to
create a new Strategy service, which incorporates Risk under a broader
Strategic Performance, Intelligence and Risk team. The new service has
been realigned to provide Dorset Council with the strategically focussed
capacity to inform, influence and drive change in the organisation. The
new service is taking steps to orient its reporting frameworks to improve
the delivery of performance, intelligence and risk information to Dorset
Council’s strategic stakeholders.

Page 12


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/strategic-risk-management

15

1.6

1.7

The Risk Management & Reporting Officer has completed workshops with
both the Children’s Services Extended Leadership Team and Digital Place
Service to share best practice. Engagement continues with risk owners in
Children’s Services to review and improve the articulation of their entries
on the corporate risk register.

A minor change has been made to the Risk Scoring Matrix under
likelihood, where “Certain” has been amended to “Almost Certain”. This
small change represents that the Risk Register is for the entry of risks,
which are defined by their varying degree of uncertainty. This is as
opposed to an issue, which is something that is certain and requires
immediate attention. Work is underway to update all material with the
revised terminology.

Overall Dorset Council corporate risk register compliance in a rolling 12
months since January 2024 as per published Audit and Governance
Committee papers:

Month January | April July September | January

2024 2024 2024 2024 2025
Overall 41% 90% 92% 100% 100%
Compliance

Financial Implications

There are no budget implications specifically, however unmanaged risks
could pose a threat to the Council’s financial stability. Identified risk controls
could also have direct budget implications, each of which must be
considered according to a cost/benefit analysis prior to implementation.

Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications

The corporate risk register identifies several climate related risks, but there
are no specific environmental risks to consider related to this report.

Well-being and Health Implications

Health, safety, and wellbeing is identified as one of our corporate risk
themes.

Other Implications

Page 13



10.

None.
Risk Assessment

HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level
of risk has been identified as:

Current Risk: N/A
Residual Risk: N/A

This is a report detailing the risks faced by Dorset Council and therefore
does not have a rating to consider in relation to a decision. Appendix A
provides an update on those Very High risks that are currently identified
within the Council’s risk register and would have a very high level of
impact attached to them.

Equalities Impact Assessment

There are none specifically, however the risk register itself identifies
several equality related risks.

Appendices

Appendix A - Summary of Very High Risks
Background Papers

None.

Report Sign Off

This report has been through the internal report clearance process and
has been signed off by the Director for Legal and Democratic (Monitoring
Officer), the Executive Director for Corporate Development (Section 151
Officer) and the appropriate Portfolio Holder(s)

Page 14


https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities

APPENDIX A

Audit and Governance
Committee

13 January 2025

Risk Management Exception - Quarterly Update Report

Very High Risks

As of 09 December 2024

Page 15



5 10
Catastrophic
4 8
Major
3 6
Impact Moderate
2 4
Slight
1 2 3
Limited
Very . . . Almost
Unlikely Unlikely Possible Likely Certain
Likelihood

Assessing Likelihood

In assessing likelihood, the following 1 to 5 scoring system is to be followed:

Likelihood

Almost Reasonable to expect that the event WILL happen, reoccur, possibly
Certain or frequently.

Score 5

Likely Event is MORE THAN LIKELY to occur. Will probably happen or
Score 4 reoccur but is not a persisting issue.

Possible LITTLE LIKELIHOOD of event occurring. It might happen or reoccur
Score 3 occasionally.

Unlikely Event NOT EXPECTED. Do not expect it to happen or reoccur, but it is
Score 2 possible that it might do so.

Very EXCEPTIONAL EVENT. This will probably never happen or reoccur.
Unlikely

Score 1

Page 16



Assessing Impact

In assessing impact, the following 1 to 5 scoring system is to be followed:

Impact

Catastrophic
Score 5

Multiple deaths of employees or those in the Council’s care.
Inability to function effectively, Council-wide.

Will lead to resignation of Chief Executive and/or Leader.
Corporate Manslaughter charges.

Service delivery must be taken over by Central Government.
Front page news story in National Press.

Financial loss over £10m.

Major
Score 4

Suspicious death in Council's care.

Major disruption to Council's critical services for more than 48
hours.

Noticeable impact achieving strategic objectives.

Will lead to resignation of Senior Officers and/or Cabinet
Member.

Adverse coverage in National press/Front Page news locally.
Financial loss £5m-£10m.

Moderate
Score 3

Serious injury to employees or those in the Council's care.
Disruption to one critical Council service for more than 48
hours.

Will lead to resignation of Head of Service / Project Manager.
Adverse Coverage in local press.

Financial loss £1m-£5m.

Slight
Score2

Minor injury to employees or those in the Council's care.
Manageable disruption to services.

Disciplinary action against employee.

Financial loss £100k-£1m.

Limited
Score 1

Day-to-day operational problems.
Financial loss less than £100k.

Page 17




Overall Risk Summary — 09 December 2024

Likelihood
Very Unlikely Possible Likely Certain Ove,ra” .
- Compliance | Total Risks
unlikely
100% 373
Catastrophic 1 2
- Major 3 38 Very ngh/ Overdue
% Moderate 10 62 High 0
£ siight 4 80 31 9 4 Compliance | (0-00%)
Limited 4 3 4 0 0 100%
Adults and Housing
Likelihood
Very Unlikely Possible Likely Certain Overall .
- Compliance | Total Risks
unlikely
100% 36
Catastrophic 0 a 0 0 0
. Major 0 a0 Very High/ | Overdue
% Moderate 3 8 10 | High 0
E Slight 0 7 4 0 0 Compliance (0.00%)
Limited 0 0 0 0 0 100%

Adults and Housing - Very High: None

Page 18




Children’s Services

Very
unlikely

Likelihood

Unlikely Possible Likely Certain

Catastrophic 0
Major
Moderate
Slight
Limitad

Impact

=1 [[r=] | i=]

EU"IM—"'—"'

Overall
Compliance
100%

Very High /
High
Compliance
100%

Total Risks
27

Overdue
0
(0.00%)

Children’s Services - Very High:

1. Instability in the High Needs Block budget may create an increased deficit
in the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) resulting in a deficit in Dorset

Councils financial position.

Corporate Development

Very
unlikely

Likelihood

Catastrophic 0

- Major 0

L

=  Moderate 0

E  slight 1
Limited 2

12
13
39

Unlikely Possible Likely Certain

Overall
Compliance
100%

Very High /
High
Compliance
100%

Total Risks
110

Overdue
0
(0.00%)

Corporate Development - Very High:

1. A successful cyber-attack to IT systems causes loss of service or data.

2. There is a business continuity risk from delayed ICT recovery after a
disruption such as a power failure.

Page 19




Legal and Democratic

Likelihood
Very  Unlikely Possible Likely Certain Overall _
unlikely Compliance | Total Risks
100% 44
Catastrophic 1 o MM o o
g Major 1 8 Very High / Overdue
S Moderate |2 T 12 High 0
£ Slight 08 1 0 0 Compliance (0.00%)
Limited 0 0 0 0 0 100%
Legal and Democratic - Very High: None
Place
Likelihood
Very  Unlikely Possible Likely Certain Overall |
unlikely Compliance | Total Risks
100% 150
Catastrophic 0 1
& Major 2 B Very High / Overdue
T Moderate | &5 32 37 High 0
E  Slight 3 A 1w 2 3 Compliance (0.00%)
Limited  EEENNEN20NATa o 100%

Place - Very High: None

Page 20




Public Health

Likelihood
Very  Unlikely Possible Likely Certain
unlikely
Catastrophic 0 0 0 0 0
- Majar 0 0 0 0 )]
i Moderate 0 a 1 _
£ slight 0 0 3 1 1
Limited 0 a a 0 a

Overall
Compliance
100%

Very High /
High
Compliance
100%

Total Risks
6

Overdue
0
(0.00%)

Public Health — Very High: None

Page 21




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Audit and Governance Committee
13 January 2025

September (Period 6) financial management
report 2024/25

For Decision

Portfolio Holder:
Clir S Clifford, Finance & Capital Strategy

Local Councillor(s):
All

Executive Director:
A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development

Report Author: Sean Cremer

Job Title: Corporate Director, Finance and Commercial
Tel: 01305 228685

Email: sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public

Brief Summary:

Following presentation to Cabinet on 19" November 2024, this report comes to
Cabinet with information about the Council’s forecast financial performance for
the full 2024/25 financial year. The forecasts are based on data as at 30"
September 2024 (Quarter 2).

Recommendation:

Audit & Governance is asked to:

1. note SLT’s forecast of the full year’s outturn for the Council, made at the
end of September 2024 including progress of the transformational and efficiency
savings incorporated into the budget;

2. note the capital programme for 2024/25;

Reason for Recommendation:

Review of the organisation’s performance against budget is a key aspect of this
Committee’s role.

Page 23


https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/

Cabinet
19 November 2024

September 2024 (Period 6) financial
management report 2024/25

Portfolio Holder:
Clir S Clifford, Finance & Capital Strategy

Local Councillor(s):
All

Executive Director:
A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development

Report Author: Sean Cremer

Job Title: Corporate Director, Finance and Commercial
Tel: 01305 228685

Email: sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public
Brief Summary:

This report comes to Cabinet with information about the Council’s forecast
financial performance for the full 2024/25 financial year. The forecasts are based
on data as at 30" September 2024 (Quarter 2).

Recommendation:
Cabinet is asked to:

1. note SLT’s forecast of the full year’s outturn for the Council, made at the end
of September 2024 including progress of the transformational and efficiency
savings incorporated into the budget;

2. note the capital programme for 2024/25;

3. approve the capital spend of £3.45m against Sewerage Treatment Services
Improvement Works as agreed by CSAMG on 7 October 2024.

4. approve additional capital spend of £2.8m for Weymouth Harbour Walls F&G
of which £1.3m to be funded from Dorset Council resources and £1.48m from
Harbour reserves (subject to harbour advisory committee). A detailed
breakdown is shown in the appendix which brings total project spend to
£13.8m.

Page 24



5. approve additional capital spend of £1.0m for Foster and Kinship Carers
Adaptations Capital Fund.

6. reallocate the budget of £160k from Parkdean improvement works to
Greenhill.

7. to continue procurement to deliver Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC)
Transformation programme — part 2 with an expected value of £9m, of which
Dorset Council is committing to up to £1.5m with a further step of making any
contract award and finalising the partnership agreement with NHS partners
should be delegated to the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder for Adults, Clir
Robinson, after consultation with the relevant Executive Director, Jonathan
Price, Cabinet portfolio holder for Finance and Capital Strategy, ClIr Clifford
and Executive Director for Corporate Development (s151 officer), Aidan
Dunn.

Reason for Recommendation:

The Council provides a mix of statutory and discretionary services to
communities across Dorset and is legally required to set a balanced budget
every year, and so must deliver services within the resources made available
through the revenue and capital budgets for 2024/25. This report summarises
the Council’s forecast financial performance for the year at the end of September
2024.

The operating environment for Local Authorities across the UK remains
challenging given the ongoing and sustained impact through the recovery phase
of the pandemic, as well as international conflict driving inflation. These external
factors are bringing pressure to bear through increased demand, rising costs and
complexity, in addition to reducing funding. As a result, effective control and
monitoring of activities and budgets has never been more important.

It is therefore essential to understand the developing financial performance and
projected position this year. This ensures that resources are deployed to deliver
the Council’s services in line with the Council Plan’s priorities, that the
organisation remains in good financial health and that service delivery remains
sustainable. The Council makes a significant contribution in supporting
employment, training and economic prosperity, as well as being a provider and
commissioner of critical public services. Balancing all of these strategic, and
often, competing priorities is a responsibility which should not be taken lightly.

Page 25


https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/

Financial Implications
Financial implications are covered within the body of this report.
Climate Implications

The Council’s budget continues to fund action set out in the climate and
ecological emergency action plan, including a £10m capital expenditure
commitment over the term of the current MTFP.

Well-being and Health Implications

The Council has continued its focus on keeping people safe and well,
particularly during the pandemic and also in managing the transition out of
national restrictions.

The Council continues to play an essential role in distributing government
grants to individuals, businesses and other qualifying groups during the
year as well as delivering high-quality public services.

Other Implications
None specific.
Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision; the level of risk
has been identified as:

Current Risk: High
Residual Risk: High

Council finances are under extreme pressure. This report outlines
pressure within the revenue budgets which, in the absence of mitigation,
will be required to be funded from reserves. Reserves have reduced from
2023/24 to 2024/25 and will reduce further if required to meet the revenue
overspend.

Looking ahead, further pressure on the Council’s reserves comes from the
cumulative deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), which could
exceed available reserves if a solution is not identified before the statutory
override ends in March 2026.

Page 26



Early expectations are for a further national one-year funding settlement
for 2025/26, which does not provide confidence that the underlying,
systemic underfunding for Local Government service delivery will be
addressed. As aresult, it is expected that the local and national pressures
the Council is facing in the current financial year can be expected to
continue over the medium term.

Taking both the local and national operating environment into
consideration, the S151 Officer, the Council’s Chief Finance Officer,
establishes the current risk assessment as high and that readers of the
report should expect:

I. the budget gap for next year (2025/26) should be expected to widen
ii. delivering a balanced budget to require a reprioritisation of service
delivery to ensure ongoing financial sustainability.

Equalities Impact Assessment

No specific equalities issues have emerged in drafting the Council’s
various reports on financial performance and position.

Appendices

Appendix A - Savings Plans

Appendix B — Climate Wheel

Appendix C

- Capital Project Approval — Sewerage Treatment Services,

- Foster and Kinship Carers Adaptations, Weymouth Harbour Walls F&G,
- Capital reallocation of Parkdean improvement works to Greenhill

Background Papers

2023/24 draft outturn report
2024/25 budget strategy report

Page 27


https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5886/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jun-2024%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=5772&Ver=4

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

Budget Setting 2024/25 and context

2023/24 ended with an overspend of £15.9m in service budgets, offset by
Central Finance adjustments of £14.9m, resulting in a net £1m overspend.
Setting the budget for 2024/25 saw rebasing of the ongoing pressures
within service budgets increasing by £39m, £23m of which was in the
Place directorate.

Setting the budget for 2024/25 involved setting a strategic budget and
MTFP against another one-year settlement from Government.

The Council’s budget requirement is £376.7m and was funded from rural
services delivery grant (£3.2m), new homes bonus (£0.9m), business
rates (£64m), revenue support grant (£0.7m) and council tax (£307.9m).
More detail is set out in the budget strategy report.

When setting the 2024/25 budget the Council approved a savings
requirement from the Our Future Council programme of £8.6m, this figure
is made up of an undelivered £0.5m from 2023/24 and a new £8.1m for
2024/25. The risk of non-delivery is underwritten by reserves.

The Council’s budget is essentially fixed in cash terms at the start of each
year and its ability to raise additional income is limited. There are national
controls in place around council tax and business rates and ability to
generate income from trading is relatively limited in the short-term as well,
as potentially at odds with wider economic development ambitions.

There are also major national policy changes within our planning horizon —
such as work on education funding formulae. One piece of policy change
that has been cancelled is the Introducing a cap on care costs which had
previously been due to come in for October 2023 but had been delayed for
2 years.

The 2024/25 pay award, which is negotiated nationally, was agreed in late
October 2024 which will be back dated to take effect from 15t April 2024.
This will be an increase of £1,290 (pro-rata for part-time employees) up to
SCP 43, and an increase of 2.5% on all pay points from SCP 44. For the
2024/25 budget an increase of 5% was built in. At the time of writing this
report, the impact is being analysed and further detail will be provided in
the Quarter 3 report.

Page 28


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=153&MId=5772&Ver=4
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9315/

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

Overall projection

At the end of quarter 2 (September), the Council is forecasting an
overspend of £13.2m, which represents 3.5% of the Council’'s budget
requirement (£376.7m). £8.6m of this overspend had previously been
anticipated as it relates to the Our Future Council transformation
programme, for which a risk reserve has been established.

This level of overspend is of significant concern as it identifies unbudgeted
service pressures of £12.6m, which can only be partially mitigated by
Central Finance funding improvements of £8m.

The current forecast will require use of reserves to meet the overspend. In
previous years there has been improvement at the later stages in the year,
this has typically been due to ‘central finance’ mitigation, such as releasing
the contingency or improvements to collection fund. As mentioned in the
period 4 report, most of areas in Central Finance have already been
deployed and are therefore unlikely to be available to mitigate any future
pressures, or reduce the forecast overspend later in the year.

Section 15 of the report also outlines a number of forecasted uses of
reserves. Inthe event that the £13.2m forecast improves, there remains
an underlying reliance on reserves during 2024/25. To maintain
appropriate level of reserves these will need to be replenished during the
life of the current MTFP.

The directorate variances are summarised in the table below.

. Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ Movement
Lelismie g Outturn Underspend from July (P4)
£'000 £'000 £'000
People - Adults & Housing 153,171 160,985 (7.814) (5.1%) (3,952)
People - Children's 85,5611 90,304 (4,793) (5.6%) (144)
Place 105,556 106,306 (750} (0.7%) 639
Corporate Development 38,899 38,408 491 1.3% 461
Legal & Democratic Services 7,522 7,306 216 2.9% 31
Public Health 326 326 0 0.0% 0
Total Service Budgets 390,986 403,635 (12,649) (3.2%) (2,965)
Qur Future Council savings (8,622) 0 (8,622) (100.0%) 0
General Funding (29,805) (30,102) 297 1.0% (86)
Capital Financing 17,775 17,782 (7 (0.0%) 0
Contingency (2,319) (7,089) 4,769 205.6% (100)
Precepts/Levy 19,438 19 441 (3 (0.0%) 1
Central Finance (394 540) (397 512) 2972 0.8% 4
Whole Authority | (7,086)] 6,155  (13,241)] (3,491)
Dedicated Schools Grant budgets | 7.086] 39.077]  (31.,991)] || (2.138)]

Page 29



More detail on the specific directorates is set out in the following paragraphs.

Children’s Services

10.6 The Children’s Services forecast is £90.304m compared with a net budget
of £85.511m an overspend of £4.793m (5.6%).

10.7

10.8

10.9

People Services - Children Net Budget ?;:tﬁzt Fnretﬁ:;‘[!?::;zendlf frrn:\j]i?;‘eirl;tl]
£'000 £'000 £'000
Quality Assurance 2,988 2976 12 0.4% (0)
Care & Protection 63,385 66,953 (3,568) (5.6%) (807)
Commissioning and Partnerships 4141 5,378 (1,237 (29.9%) 463
Director's Services 2,187 2,157 0 0.0% 0
Education and Learning 13,293 13,293 0 0.0% 0
DSG Recharges (454) (454) 0 0.0% 0
Total Directorate Budget 85,511 90,304 (4,793) (5.6%) (144)

Care & Protection

Most of the overspend sits within Care and Protection, the social services
side of the directorate, partially compensated through the Social Care
grant, announced in the Local Government Settlement.

The support required to meet the needs of children who are disabled is
forecast to overspend by £1m. This predominantly is for externally
commissioned support packages, direct payments and short breaks. The

cause is a mixture of inflation, increased complexity and the difficulty

finding providers through the direct payment mechanism.

There is an overspend of £0.4m for supporting unaccompanied, asylum-
seeking children (UASC). Dorset is part of the National Transfer Scheme,
accepting transfers of children into our care to provide crucial placements.

10.10 The National Transfer Scheme set a quota for all local authorities was
adjusted in August 2023 to accommodate the equivalent of 0.1% of the
local child population. This threshold could change again.

10.11 For Dorset, this represents 67 young people. We are currently looking
after 53 young people and are responsible for 79 care leavers who were
formerly asylum-seeking children which will increase to 99 by March 2025.

Page 30




10.12 The National Transfer Scheme provides a degree of funding to support
unaccompanied children, however this mainly covers the direct placement
costs, so excludes costs such as interpreter fees, and social worker
resource. The funding varies depending upon the number of
unaccompanied children, the age of the child or young person and
whether the child is part of the National Transfer Scheme.

10.13 Additional budget was allocated to support our accompanied children and
young people during previous budget setting processes. The budget was
allocated to fund a team to support our unaccompanied children and
young people, and to fund interpretation costs.

10.14 The overspend position is driven by the number of unaccompanied young
people over 18. Central government funding for this cohort reduces and is
often not enough to fund placement costs.

10.15 Staying Put / Supported accommodation is forecast to overspend by
£0.12m. This area supports young people to remain in fostering
placements when they turn 18. There is central government support and it
is not enough to compensate the full weekly cost for a young person in an
Independent Foster Agency (IFA) placement.

Commissioning and Partnerships

10.16 At the end of September, only one transformation saving is rated as red.
This is the Birth to Settled Adulthood project. £0.581k of the target moved
to Adults in September, reducing the Children’s B2SA savings target from
£1.55m to £0.969m. £1.3m of transformational savings are defined as
amber and £3.3m are rated green. Section 12 contains more information
on the progress of this activity.

10.17 The Children’s Services Transformation Team monitor and review the
progress of these projects monthly.

Families First for Children Pathfinder

10.18 In June 2023, Dorset was announced as one of three authorities for the
Families First for Children (FFC) Pathfinder, containing four workstreams.
Dorset were awarded £4.9m from the DfE until March 2025 to help
implement and test the four workstreams. At present, the full allocation is
forecast to be received and utilised.

10.19 The EEC pathfinder was announced in February 2023 as part of the
government’s children’s social care implementation strategy, stable
homes, built on love.

Page 31


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/families-first-for-children-ffc-pathfinder-programme/families-first-for-children-ffc-pathfinder-programme-and-family-networks-pilot-fnp

10.20 It responds to recommendations from the Independent review of children’s
social care, the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report on child
protection in England and the Competitions and Market Authority’s market
study of children’s social care provision. The pathfinder will test delivery of
key strategy commitments.

Children in care

10.21 Dorset’s efforts to rebalance the system with a focus on early support and
prevention has seen a reduction in the number of Children in Care.
However, Dorset are not immune to national pressures including inflation,
marketplace and increasing complexity of need, resulting in a forecast
overspend of £2.3m

10.22 Dorset’s Children in Care population has reduced since September 2020
(by 16%), although August saw an increase in the number of children in
care (Graph 1).

Dorset Council: Children in Care - net weekly cost and number of children

Children's

New National

Pathfind

Pathfinde:
launched

Transfer '
Scheme Dorchester Rd
announced

Met weskly cost - all CIC, 633,702

564,511
cress WM\/\/
Net waekly cost - all CIC Exc. UASC, 593,550

486

MNumber of CiC, , 452

MNumber of CiC Exc. UASC, 399

> 4 %5 5§
= st 12 s 8 F FEsAESE g s b EAES S 3 23

3

Febru;

v 2022.23

Graph 1: Dorset’s CiC population and next weekly cost since September
2020

Page 32



10.23 The overall improvement since September 2020 is a result of a

combination of planned and strategic activity, including the transformation
programme, locality working, putting the child at the heart of decision
making, investing in the No Wrong Door approach and strong
commissioning, all delivered by a dedicated workforce.

10.24 This trend is not mirrored nationally, although Table 1 highlights Dorset is

not immune to national pressures, including inflation - a13% increase in
net weekly cost despite the reduction in the number of external

placements (Table 2).

Sept Sept %

2020 2024 Change
Net weekly cost - all CIC 564,511 | 639,703 13%
USAC £ 9,075 46,153 409%
Net weekly cost - all CIC Exc. UASC | 555,436 | 593,550 7%
Number of CiC 486 452 -7%
USAC No. 11 53 382%
Number of CiC Exc. UASC 475 399 -16%

Table 1: Change in numbers and cost September 2020 to September 2024

Sept Sept Sept Sept March June Sept %

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2024 2024 | Change
Fostering Dorset Council 211 191 175 181 188 188 182 -14%
Fostering External 114 113 106 89 88 91 91 -20%
Residential External 60 60 54 49 46 44 46 -23%
ggﬁir?grtial Dorset 5 6 4 5 5 5 6 20%
High Cost Supported 16 8 9 8 15 12 14 -13%
Low Cost Supported 13 5 2 6 4 5 9 -31%
Supported Lodgings 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 -
Other 4 5 2 6 0 0 2 -50%
Adoption 18 19 14 16 13 7 12 -33%
Parent/Child/Family 34 25 52 43 34 30 35 3%

Total 475 432 418 405 393 382 399 -16%

Table 2: Split of Children in Care placements (exc. UASC and Place12a — BS2A/CWaD) September
2020 to September 2024

Page 33




10.25 Nationally, recent research by the County Councils Network CCN showed
there was a surge in over 20,000 extra referrals in county areas following
the pandemic and over 1,000 more children in local authority care; a trend
that has not abated since. (Social Work Today, 8 November 2023).
continuous improvement in service delivery for children and young people
in Dorset has meant that the rises seen nationally are not the situation
seen in Dorset, evidenced in Graph 1 and Tables 2 and 3.

10.26

The

If the number of children in care (exc. our unaccompanied children) had
remained at 475, at September 2024 averages, it is estimated an
additional £5.8m of annual cost would be incurred. This means £5.8m has

been avoided whilst maintaining high standards of care and support.

10.27 An overspend is reported for supporting our children in care, and this is
mainly driven by three factors: our children’s needs increasing in
complexity, inflation and an external residential placement market that isn’t

functioning effectively, as referenced in the Competition and Markets

Authority (CMA) published in 2022, which was a market study into
children’s social care provision. Children's social care market study final
report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

10.28 This is the forecast outturn position at the end of September, in what could
be a changeable year. The main risks for Children’s Services that may
further impact the outturn position are: inflation (including cost of living
upon the children and families we support as this may increase demand),
delivering capital projects on time and on budget (there are revenue
implications for late projects), new placements and placement changes,
delivery of transformation savings, tribunals and increasing new burdens
that may not be fully funded. This includes Chickerell Camp,

unaccompanied young people and new responsibilities for the Virtual

School.

Adults Services & Housing

10.29 The Adults Services & Housing forecast is £160.985m compared with a
net budget of £153.171m, an overspend of £7.814m (5.1%). Thisis a
worsening position compared to Period 4 of £3.952m.

. Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ Movement
People Services - Adults Net Budget Outtarn e e from July (P4)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adult Care Packages 119,750 127,529 (7,780) (5.5%) (3,873)
Adult Care 16,866 16,660 306 1.8% i
Commissioning & Improvements 8,325 8,486 (160} (1.9%) (178)
Directorate Wide 1,719 1,719 (0} (0.0%) 0
Housing & Community Safety 6,511 6,691 (180} (2.8%) 93
Total Directorate Budget 153,171 160,985 (7.814) (5.1%) (3,952)

Page 34



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report

Adult care packages

10.30 The forecast overspend within adult care packages is £7.780m and is
based on the current cohort of adults being supported. As with any needs-
led service, it is challenging to completely predict the future need over the
medium term. Reviewing performance against last year shows that unit
costs have stabilised but seen additional people receiving care over and
above the budget level.

10.31 As at the end of September 4,256 people were in receipt of adult care
services. The ASC package budget for 24/25 was set based on the
number of people receiving packages in October 2023 (4,086). There has
been a continued increase in numbers since November 2023.

10.32 When reviewing residential and nursing packages, there was an increase
of 81 people from October 2023 when the directorate growth was put
forward to the start of the new financial year (April 2024). Based on the
average package price on 15t April 2024 this has resulted in an unforeseen
in-year pressure of £5.1m.

10.33 From October 2023 to September 2024 the total number of people being
supported has increased by 210 (with an increase from April 2024 to
September 2024 of 99).

10.34 As a local authority, we have noted an increase from health partners in the
expectations of the level of health needs that a social care service can
lawfully meet for people with needs falling outside of hospital discharge to
assess and for people with increasing health needs in the community. As
a result of this the number of cases that are now meeting the Continuing
Health Care (CHC) threshold has reduced. In year we have seen a lower
number of cases meeting CHC criteria and of the cases that have been
agreed the saving/ back pay is just under £1m less compared to last year.
On top of this we are seeing an increasing number of CHC cases not
being found eligible and are passing back to Dorset Council to fund. So
far there have been 17 cases with an in-year cost of £1m.

10.35 Health have also reduced funding in year which previously supported our
Home First Accelerator programme particularly funding support within the
reablement contract.

Page 35



10.36 A system wide Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC) transformation

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

programme has been agreed in principle following completion of a
diagnostic in September 2024. Dorset Council is acting as the lead on the
procurement on behalf of System partners and will prepare a partnership
agreement and will agree the cost and benefit share with partners. Further
details will be provided to Cabinet in December 2024 and providing the
Council, BCP council and Health partners agree to participate, the
expectation is that savings across the system will be achieved from
2025/26 through to 2029/30.

The budget continues to be actively managed, with the intention of
reducing the forecast overspend during the later part of 2024/25. However,
the Adult Care budget is demand driven so will need constant
management.

Housing

Housing is currently forecasting an overspend of £0.180m (2.76%). The
overspend is due to a partial under achievement of a £300k savings target
from 2022/23 and bad debts written off.

Homelessness approaches are 8% lower than last year. Effective early
prevention work by the triage and tenancy sustainability team means less
clients are facing homelessness. The move to upstream prevention work
has been very effective. Work is underway to review reasons for
homelessness data to be used to direct and shift prevention resources
where necessary.

The number of households in bed and breakfasts continues to reduce.
Families in bed and breakfasts have increased in the last quarter from 6
families in June to 23 in September There has been a reduction in the
number of Single households from 64 in June down to 51 in September.
Successful placement for individuals can be dependent on
accommodation being self-contained to meet the needs of individuals.
Demand currently outstrips supply. Improvements in void management
have helped to reduce the number in the last quarter.

Page 36



Public Health

10.41 The public health grant for 2024/25 for BCP Council is £21.772m and for
Dorset Council is £15.433m. Agreed local authority contributions for the
year gave a shared service budget of £25.962m after retained amounts.

10.42 The forecast for the shared service stands at £212k overspent. This is
largely due to the following:

1. A new community heath Improvement services contract, live from April
2024. Costs are now higher, and activity is forecast to increase. It is
still too early to assess impact.

2. Anticipated non-recurrent costs agreed through Joint Public Health
Board. Current forecast includes £358k such costs, and £168k moved
in from reserves to cover.

3. Pay budget assumed 5% pay award and 5% vacancy factor. No
current vacancies in team.

10.43 As Public Health is funded by a ringfenced grant, the existing public health
reserve will cover any overspend within public health.

Place directorate

10.44 When setting the 2024/25 budget for Place, the Council approved a net
increase in the budget of £23m. This year, the overall forecast for Place
directorate as at the end of September is a projected overspend of
£0.75m, with a projection of £106.31m net spend against a net budget of
£105.56m. This is an improvement of £0.6m on the forecast as at the end
of July, which was a projected overspend of £1.39m.

Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ Movement
Place Net Budget Qutturn Underspend from July (P4)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Assets and Regeneration 4 418 6,258 (1,843) (41.7%) (907)
Highways 5576 6,220 B44)] (11.5%) (356)
Planning 5,181 5,662 (481) (9.3%) 416
Travel 40,048 38,855 1,193 3.0% 1,161
Business Support 2,115 2,096 20 0.9% 20
Environment and Wellbeing 8,337 8,506 (169) (2.0%) (1689)
Community and Public Protection 3812 3,826 (14} (0.4%) 20
Waste - Commercial & Strategy 17,845 16,504 1,340 7.5% 332
Waste - Operations 16,679 16,820 (141) (0.8%) 24
Directors Office 1,547 1,568 (13} (0.8%) 87
Total Directorate Budget 105,556 106,306 (750) (0.7%]) 639

Page 37




10.45

10.46

10.47

A.

The overall position remains largely as previously reported : significant
budget pressures through under-achievement of income and savings
targets in Assets and Regeneration, Planning and Building Control (where
income targets were automatically uplifted by 5% as part of the budget-
setting process, despite current adverse market conditions) are being
contained by a favourable budget position in waste management, Dorset
Travel, and strict expenditure control across the whole of the Place
Directorate.

Assets and Regeneration

The Assets and Regeneration forecast is an adverse position of £1.843m
against a £4.416m net budget.

The major items within the forecast are as follows.

A £303k unfunded charge in relation to backdated NNDR liability around
the Dorset Council element of Coombe House.

. Dorset Innovation Park including Battlelab is budgeted to make a small

income, but currently costs are exceeding income. An estimate of the
adverse position is £300k for 2024/25.

. A planned reduction of Repairs and Maintenance spend by £200k to

contain expenditure within available funds.

. There is a target saving in relation to reduced property estate running

costs by disposing of surplus property. It is now assumed that this target
(£486k) will not be met in full this year due to delays in disposals,
assumed here at an adverse £200k.

Industrial Sites rental income will not be able to achieve the mandated 5%
uplift in income. This is estimated at an adverse £131k.

A change in operating model for the Design and Delivery teams will see
less funding claimed from capital for staffing costs. The estimate for this is
an adverse £115k against the budget of £715k.

. There is an existing income budget for car parking at County Hall of £169k

whilst charges have recently been reintroduced and so an
underachievement of income is assumed here at £100k.

. Farms are suffering voids and increased costs, estimated for 2024/25 is

£63k adverse. Farms are subject to a strategic review which may
determine further actions in due course.

Page 38



10.48 Within Assets and Property, “compliance spend” is taking place to make
properties compliant with current building safety legislation, as Dorset
Council inherited a stock of buildings that were in variable conditions and
states of compliance from its predecessor councils in 2019 and work
continues to bring them up to an acceptable minimum standard. At the
time of writing, spend is circa £7.8m in 2024/25. This is not part of the
Assets and Property normal revenue spend, being exceptional by nature,
and the funding for this work is to be met from a combination of funds with
a contribution from existing Property repairs and maintenance budgets
where applicable. Where this work cannot be capitalised, this will fall to
reserves to fund the revenue elements of the spend.

Highways

10.49 The net highways revenue expenditure budget is £5.576m. Underneath
this headline figure, the expenditure budget lines amount to circa £30m
and income and other contributions of circa £24m. This is separate from
the value of highways schemes which form part of the capital programme.

10.50 Highways revenue budgets are made up of three services, which are
Parking Services (net income budget £7.7m), Highways Infrastructure (net
expenditure budget £8.7m) and Network Operations (net expenditure
budget £4.6m). On that basis, it can be seen how the income generated
from car parks reduces the overall cost of Highways activity. Highways
are currently projected to be £644k adverse overall.

10.51 Within the £644k overall adverse forecast, the Highways services are
projecting a £355k overspend, primarily related to the Modelling team
being unable to access capital funding.

10.52 Parking services are current forecasting an adverse forecast of £289k.
Reasons for adverse impacts on car parking income include a reduction of
circa £120k income due to loss of car parking at Portland which has gone
back to the landowners, the Crown Estate and the trial change to reduce
car parking rates in three car parks across the County.

Page 39



Planning

10.53 The Planning service has an overall £481k forecast adverse variance,
largely due to a projection of £290k adverse in relation to Development
Management, (planning applications received), and a £205k projected
adverse variance in Building Control due to a downturn in the housing
market. The figures also include £100k of additional funding that has been
provided from the corporate centre towards the cost of planning
inquiries. The shortfall against the expected costs of the Alderholt appeal
is expected to be met from staff savings (vacancies) (£115k).

Dorset Travel

10.54 Overall, Dorset Travel is forecasting an underspend of circa £1.2m on a
net budget of £40m. The budget for 2024/25 was uplifted by £12m, based
on actual spend in recent years and the expected continued growth
trajectory. Nationally this sector has seen both growth in demand and also
significant cost uplift in excess of inflation, and that was the context for the
2024/25 budget setting. The expectation was that an uplift of £12m should
compensate for insufficient budget uplifts in recent years and put the
2024/25 budget into an appropriate position to cope with the continuation
of uplifting costs that were expected. In a positive turn of events at the
end of Qtr 2, we are seeing some evidence that transport costs for the new
school year could be less than anticipated when setting the budget.

10.55 In SEN Transport, it has previously been noted that the number of children
in provided transport (taxis, minibuses etc) has been increasing by 10%
year on year for 3 years, however this appears to have slowed with the
increase at this current time being circa 7% more clients rather than the
anticipated 10%. The overall number of routes (arising from efficiencies in
commissioning for greater numbers of children) is broadly unchanged.
Also included in these figures for the new school year are the effects of
new levels of stability in the marketplace. It is thought that overall
economic stability — currently low inflation, and in particular the cost of
vehicle fuel — is a major contributing factor. The overall impact on the SEN
Transport budget of the above changes needs to be fully worked through.
The quarter 2 forecast has is forecasting an underspend of circa £900k on
a budget of £22m.

Page 40



10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

School transport costs are predicted to underspend by £151k on a budget
of circa £12m. We have previously noted unfunded costs in relation to
school transport for school age children accommodated at the Chickerell
Camp, which were originally estimated at £300k which have reduced to
circa £20k through use of mainstream school transport. In addition, similar
to SEN transport above, recent contract renewal prices for the new school
year were, in aggregate, more favourable than expected.

At the time of writing, the travel arrangements and associated contract
prices for the new school year have only recently been sighted and
implemented. The favourable position reported here is a cautious holding
position, pending further clarity on how the contracts perform and actual
costs being incurred.

Business Support
Business Support is forecasting a £20k underspend.
Community and Public Protection

CPP are forecasting an adverse variance of £14k on a net budget of
£3.8m. Licencing income looks healthy but there is lost income on CCTV
and Community Safety Accredited Scheme (CSAS) services and
Bereavement services are looking at a forecast of £102k adverse in the
area of income generation and staffing costs.

Environment & Wellbeing

The overall Environment &Wellbeing forecast is £168k adverse. Adverse
variances include the unfunded wall repairs (E75k) taking place at
Greenhill on Weymouth seafront, dealing with Ash tree die-back (£50k),
biodiversity income £30k (this is linked to the reduced number of planning
applications so far this year) and unbudgeted legal fees (£13.5k)
associated with the Piddlehinton residential gypsy and traveller site.

Waste Strategy

Waste Strategy are forecasting an underspend of £1.340m at the end of
September. The favourable position is mainly due to the recyclate (DMR)
market (although this does currently remain volatile) and continued
favourable prices for recycled glass. In addition, there are also favourable
positions on both the Garden and Commercial services.

Page 41



10.62 It remains the case that a lot of the disposal budgets within Commercial
Waste & Strategy are extremely volatile, and the outlook can change
within a short period of time.

Waste Operations

10.63 Waste Operations is currently forecasting an adverse variance of £141k on
a net budget of £16.7m. Budget pressures are predicted in areas where
reductions have been applied to budgets, in street cleansing and in
agency staff.

Directors Office

10.64 The Directors Office has a forecast adverse variance of £12.5k, which
includes adverse forecasts as a result of planned management changes
(E57k) and other unbudgeted management costs but also expected
favourable variances with regard to the expected recharge of costs
regarding externally funded projects.

Fees & Charges

10.65 The table below highlights the level of fees and charges that are brought
into Place directorate. It can be seen the directorate brings in circa £50m
of fees and charges, albeit that the forecasting for the current year
suggests nearer to £49m with adverse areas, as mentioned above, in car
parking income, Planning and Assets and Property in particular.

Forecast

2024/25 Budget Forecast :
Variance
£ 000s £ 000s £ 000s
Highways -16,493 -15,951 -543
Planning -4,531 -4,060 -471
Dorset Travel -630 -706 76
Environment and Wellbeing -10,193 -10,285 92
Community & Public Protection -3,370 -3,493 123
Commercial Waste & Strategy -7,676 -8,139 463
Waste Operations -120 -199 78
LUF & Economic Development -92 -135 43
Assets & Property -8,021 -6,445 -1,576
Place -51,127  -49,413 -1,714

Page 42



Corporate Development

10.66 The Corporate Development is forecasting an underspend of £491k (1.3%).

Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ Movement
Corporate Development Net Budget Culturn e — from July (P4)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial & Commercial 9 960 9787 173 1.7% 68
Human Resources 1,745 1,654 92 5.2% 92
ICT Operations 8,807 8,736 i 0.8% (0}
Chief Executive's Office 1,128 1,064 64 5.7% 64
Directors Office 354 354 0 0.0% 0
Strate.gy, I_:‘.erformance and 6,704 6,649 56 0.8% 0
Sustainability

Tran;formatmn, Customer and Cultural 10,201 10,165 26 0.2% 297
Services

Total Directorate Budget 38,899 38,408 491 1.3% 481

10.67 Finance & Commercial is forecasting an underspend of £173k, in the
main this relates to pay savings of £248k from vacancies plus additional
income of £35k, which is offset by spend on agency staff of £107k.

10.68 HR is forecasting an underspend of £92k, the restructuring of the External
Payroll and Technical Teams has resulted in a reduction in both pay and

other costs.

10.69 ICT Operations are reporting a forecast underspend of £71k. This
comprises of pay savings of £321k from vacant posts, which are being
utilised within the service area to offset increased Microsoft licensing costs
resulting from a package upgrade that provides enhanced cyber security
and other benefits, and other inflationary increases.

10.70 Chief Executive’s Office is forecasting an underspend of £64Kk, this is
largely due to pay savings achieved from vacancies and minor structure

changes.

10.71 Strategy, Performance and Sustainability comprises Organisational
Development, Business Intelligence and Performance, Communication
and Engagement and Climate & Ecological Change. The forecast
underspend of £56k is largely the result of pay savings due to vacant posts

and contract changes.

Page 43




Transformation, Customer and Cultural Services

10.72 Within Transformation, Customer and Cultural Services there are several
forecast movements. Digital & Change are forecasting an underspend of
£172k pay savings. In addition, Customer Services are forecasting an
underspend of £24k pay savings.

10.73 Following the Libraries restructure redundancy costs are forecast to reach
£390k. This overspend has been largely offset by vacancy management
prior to the launch of the new operation model, so the net position for the
service is £160k overspent.

Legal & Democratic Services
10.74 The Legal & Democratic forecast is £7.306m compared with a net budget
of £7.522m, an underspend of £216k (2.9%).

. Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ ove
Legal & Democratic Net Budget Outturn e - _
£'000 £'000 £'000 DOC
Assurance 1,706 1,712 (5) (0.3%) (2)
Democratic & Elections Services 3,082 3,082 0 0.0% 0
Land Charges (272) (308) 34 12 5% 33
Legal Services 3,006 2,818 188 6.3% g
Total Directorate Budget 7,522 7,306 216 2.9% 31
10.75 Land Charges are forecasting an underspend of £34k, the shortfall in
forecast income continues to reduce and an underspend in pay driven by
holding vacancies and not recruiting maternity cover at this time.
10.76 Legal Services have a number of vacancies, there is active recruitment
underway, however, following consideration of the likely start dates £188k
of pay savings have been released.
Central budgets
10.77 The forecast for central budgets is £397.480m compared with a net income
budget of £398.072m, is a forecast overspend of £592k (0.1%).
. Forecast Forecast (Overspend)/ OVE
Central Finance Net Budget Outturn Torpons -
£'000 £'000 £'000 000
Qur Future Council (8,622) 0 (8,622)| (100.0%) 0
General Funding (29.805)]  (30,102) 297 1.0% (86)
Capital Financing 17,775 17,782 (7) (0.0%) 0
Contingency (2,319) (7,089) 4769]  2056% (100)
Precepts/Levy 19,438 19441 (3) (0.0%) 1
Central Finance (394 540)] (397 ,512) 2972 0.8% 4
Total Central Budgets (398,072)]  (397,480) (592)]  (0.1%) (181)

Page 44




Our Future Council

10.78 When setting the 2024/25 budget the Council approved a savings
requirement from the Our Future Council programme of £8.6m, this figure
iIs made up of an undelivered £0.5m from 2023/24 and a new £8.1m for
2024/25.

10.79 Following the latest progress the full £8.6m will be required to be met from
reserves. Further detail of work is contained in section 12 of this report.

Contingency

10.80 The Council’s base budget included a contingency of £6m which is to meet
unexpected costs that arise in the year. Given the overspends within
service budgets already reported £4.9m has been released to offset the
other pressures across the Council. The remaining £100k has been
earmarked for the Youth Service.

Central Finance

10.81 Central Finance includes income generated from both council tax and
business rates. The business rates estimate included in the budget is
£63.976m, which is based on the MTFP. The amount declared on the
NNDR1 was £68.473m and this is based on the valuation list from the
revenues system adjusted for provisions. After taking account of
contributions towards climate change and the LEP there is forecast
favourable variance of £3.0m.

11 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

11.12023/24 ended with a £23.6m overspend. At the 30 September 2024, the
forecast outturn is a £31.99m overspend for 2024/25. Adding the historic
cumulative deficit position, a revised cumulative deficit would be £90.3m
as at the end of the 2024/25 financial year. This figure reflects the
withholding of DfE contributions whilst the safety valve agreement is
being reviewed. Inthe event that the agreement is reinstated and
previously committed contributions are received this would reduce to a
cumulative deficit of £64.9m after DfE and Council contributions.

11.2Any deficit associated with the DSG is kept off councils' balance sheets
as a result of the statutory override set out in The Local Authorities
Capital Finance and Accounting (England) Regulations. It was
announced in December 2022 that this would apply for a one-off period
of three years up to 31 March 2026.

Page 45



11.3

114

115

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

Until March 2026 the deficit is therefore held separately from the general
fund, however there remains an underlying cashflow pressure from
carrying a £88.2m deficit meaning that the Council has access to £88.2m
less cash than it would otherwise. As a result, interest foregone during
2024/25 on the deficit equates to £4.6m of pressure met by the General
Fund. This is £4.6m which could otherwise be spent on local service
delivery.

Furthermore, as the deficit grows, at the point at which it exceeds Council
reserves, the Council would be technically insolvent. With no certainty as
to the Governments plans as to how this financial to address this, the
Council must therefore plan for the known situation, which is the ending of
the override in March 2026.

Safety Valve

To address the deficits nationally the DfE introduced the Safety Valve
Programme. As mentioned earlier in this report, Dorset’s agreement is
currently under review, with partner contributions being withheld.

The agreement with the Department for Education in March 2022 to help
eradicate the cumulative DSG deficit and support a return to a balanced
in-year DSG position by 2026-27. Dorset Council will contribute £33m of
revenue as part of the agreement. Additionally, Dorset are investing £47m
into capital schemes across the county.

To date, the DfE funding received totals £23.75m and Dorset Council
contributions equal £15m. As at the 30 September 2024, the DfE
contributions for 2023-24 and 2024-25 which total £13m have not yet been
received as the review has not yet concluded.

The revised plan is part of the DfE Enhanced Monitoring and Support
(EMS) programme and includes allocated DfE advisors.

Quality of SEND provision

In March 2024 Dorset had an inspection for local area arrangements for
children and young people with special educational needs and/or
disabilities (SEND). The report from that inspection was published in May
2024. The inspection report stated that: ‘the local area partnership’s
special educational needs and/or disability (SEND) arrangements typically
lead to positive experiences and outcomes for children and young people
with SEND...Children and young people with SEND and their families are
placed at the heart of all that leaders do.’

Page 46



11.10 This is the best possible outcome from an inspection and Dorset Council is
the first unitary authority to receive this outcome under the new SEND
inspection framework. Testament to the hard work and dedication of the
teams supporting children and young people with SEND and their families
and the whole Council and partners approach to supporting their work.

Local Context

11.11 A significant driver for the historic deficit is the continued rise in the
number of children and young people who require an Education, Health,
and Care Plan (EHCP). From the January 2024 SEN2 return, Dorset’s
percentage of pupils with an EHCP is 5.3%, compared with a national
average of 4.8%. The difference is approximately 370 EHCPs. At the end
of March 2024, there were 3,975 children and young people with an
EHCP. By the end of September, this had increased by 196 to 4,171
children and young people with an EHCP.

11.12 From analysis at the end of September, 49% of our children and young
people are within mainstream provision. Of the net movements since 31
March 2024, there has been a net increase of 47 (24 at June) within the
‘Specialist Provision’ section, 35 (23 at June) within the Independent
Special School placement category

Placement EHCP %
Specialist Provision 1,656 40%
Mainstream Provision 2,032 49%
Other Provision 483 12%
30 Sept 2024 - TOTAL EHCP: 4,171

11.13 Spend on high-cost placements is £7.7m over budget, this includes places
at independent special schools and specialist post 16 provision.

11.14 Dorset have 454 children and young people now educated within an
Independent Special School or Specialist Post 16 Placement, 11% of
Dorset’s children and young people EHCP population.

12 Progress against budgeted savings

12.1 In setting the budget strategy for 2024/25, the Council identified a budget
gap of £23m. The subsequent reports to Cabinet and Full Council set out
how the gap was calculated. Part of the process of setting the budget
involved identification of new service savings.

12.2 Savings carried forwards from prior years increased the total savings
required for 2024/25 to £34m.

Page 47



12.3

12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

12.8

12.9

12.10

12.11

12.12

More detail on the delivery of the savings is set out below:

Savings - Adults & Housing

The Adults and Housing directorate has a savings programme
requirement of £8.581m. At this stage, £3.358m (39%) has been
achieved. Below details the progress on each of the programmes.

Market Management £5.00m — To date, £2.5m is confirmed as having
been delivered through negotiations with providers at the start of the year,
mostly around spot purchase arrangements. Framework providers were
further supported, as planned, through market sustainability and other
grant funding. Work continues to confirm further delivery against this
saving.

Commissioned care £1.5m — To date, £0.453m has been delivered, with
further active casework underway on continuing healthcare and joint
funding.

Home First Accelerator £0.926m — Reablement has, as intended,
avoided some long-term care costs. Work is currently underway to capture
the implications and forecast year-end impact.

Working age accelerator £0.500m —To date, £0.405m delivered, it is
anticipated that this target will be met.

Accommodation with care £0.74m — Extra care scheme opened in
October 2024. Monitoring of savings will be reported in the Q3 report.

Birth to settled adulthood £0.581m — Whilst cost avoidance savings
have been identified there is an underlying overspend within this cohort.

Savings — Children’s

The Children’s Services directorate has a savings programme to deliver
£6.235m in 2024/25. To date, £3.342m has been achieved.

Children’s Services compare and benchmark nationally and against
statistical neighbours who are Ofsted Good or Outstanding to help
demonstrate value for Money. From the LG Futures ‘Finance Intelligence
Toolkit 2023/24 Subscription — Children’s Social Care Report’, Dorset’s
expenditure per resident (aged 0 to 17) is 6.9% lower than the England
average. The Ofsted inspection of Dorset local authority children’s
services in September 2021 was deemed ‘Good’ with an ‘Outstanding’
grade for leadership, and the Ofsted Area SEND inspection of Dorset
Local Area Partnership in March 2024 achieved the highest result
possible.

Page 48



12.13

12.14

12.15

12.16

Family Hubs — a network of Family Hubs, embedded in communities in
Dorset where families can get the support they need. External
contributions (£1m), earned through successful bids, has enabled six
family hubs to be opened across the county (Ferndown, Wimborne,
Wareham, Swanage, Bridport and Dorchester), with four more to be
opened over the coming months. In line with Department for Education
service expectations, all Hubs are providing activities for young children
(aged 0-5), while also enabling multi-agency professionals to deliver
additional support during stay and play sessions where possible.

Mockingbird - the first Mockingbird Constellation was launched in
November 2022. There are currently 5 constellations, and the sixth
constellation will launch in August 2024, making Dorset Council the largest
in the South-West region and on par with Leeds in the country. The aim is
to have a total of 10 Constellations over the 5-year programme. Evidence
of real impact has been recorded for the foster carers and the children
they are caring for: prevention of 3 foster carer household resignations,
stability support preventing 4 children moving from 2 households, nurturing
relationships between the children and young people within the
constellation, supportive relationships formed between foster carers, and
recognition of hidden talents within our young people. An additional £96k
of external funding has been awarded to this project.

Safeguarding Families Together - is a whole family, strengths-based
approach to safeguarding children. The design encompasses a co-
located multi-disciplinary team that includes children’s social workers and
specialist adult practitioners from domestic abuse, substance use/recovery
and mental health services, which has been implemented in three pilot
localities. Since the commencement of the pilot, which was live by
January 2023, 338 children and their families have received help from
SFT. Out of the 133 children who have closed to SFT, we are now seeing
evidence of families successfully stepping down from Child Protection
plans or Child in Need plans and sustaining change.

Early Support and Digital Family Offer — is about creating a Children’s
Services that is digital by design: in how we think, work and shape our
services around the needs of children and families. The project is focused
on improving access to both universal and specialist services, creating
online services that become the preferred choice. Work is underway to
identify how the savings target of £1.343m (£593k 2023/24 and £750k
2024/25) can be realised, and where there is synergy, the elements of the
project which can be transferred to Our Future Council. There is
significant interdependence with this work and the Our Future Council
programme to identify and deliver against our ambitions, such as machine
learning and Al capability, to enable savings to be achieved. This is also

Page 49



12.17

12.18

12.19

12.20

contingent on its digital capacity to support development work so that
project delivery remains on track and benefits are realised.

Birth to Settled Adulthood — in April 2024 the new 0-25 Birth to Settled
Adulthood Service for children with disability and complex needs was
launched. This is a partnership between Children's Services, Adult
Services, the Health Service, and Dorset Parent Carer Council, and
managed within Children’s Services. It is designed and committed to the
provision of a consistently good service for disabled children and young
people and their families, which continues seamlessly from childhood to
young adulthood. The phase 2 timeline working on the integration with
Health is underway. To date the savings of £1.550m have not been
realised — the savings and overall budget (Children’s and Adults) is being
reviewed as part of the B2SA Finance project. Dorset Council have
repurposed and updated a property at minimal capital cost, Hayeswood, to
help deliver respite care for children with a disability and may reduce the
need to use high-cost external providers. For example, a child at one
provider received respite care (including one-to-one / two-to-one during
the week and once at weekends) cost £6.4k for the month or estimated
£76.8k annually.

Service by Service Review — the directorate has undertaken this to
ensure, where appropriate there is a redirection of services or change of
provider where others can deliver as effectively as we can. For example,
the music service runs independently and has improved the quality of
music education across the county and at the same time reduced the
headcount of Dorset Council staff. A recent review of in-house nurseries
and after school provision has enabled this to be managed by partners
who have extensive experience in early education. The Outdoor Education
service is also being redesigned to ensure it is sustainable and meeting
children and young people’s needs, with an eradication of overspend.

Savings - Place

Place directorate put forward £5m of savings for 2025/26. At that time,
Customer Services, Archives and Libraries were part of Place directorate
but have subsequently moved to Corporate Resources, meaning that
£4.081m of savings targets remain in Place directorate. In addition, there
are £1.363m of saving targets rolled forward from 2023/24, meaning that
£5.444m of savings targets are monitored.

The savings are within the following services:

I. Assets and Regeneration £2.022m
ii. Place Services £2.229m
iii. Economic Growth and Infrastructure £1.193m

Page 50



12.21

12.22

12.23

12.24

12.25

12.26

12.27

12.28

12.29

12.30

The savings can be broadly categorised as follows:

I. Additional income target built into base budgets £1.459m
ii. Changes to service delivery £0.681m

iii. Realignment of budget £0.250m

Iv. Operational savings £3.054m

The headline position for Place directorate savings is that, of the total
saving target of £5.444m, £0.375m (7%) is declared as not achievable at
this stage, with all other savings considered as achievable.

An overview of material savings is contained in the following paragraphs.

Within Waste Operations, savings targets put forward by Place for
reduction of agency (£159k) and reduction in street sweeping (E350Kk) are
expecting a shortfall of £175k as the proposed changes to street sweeping
have not been implemented.

Within Assets and Property, there is a savings target to reduce the running
costs of the property portfolio through property disposals (£486k). This
relates to the disposal of Furzehill which is expected to complete in
2025/26.

Some of the more significant savings that have been achieved, or are on
course to be achieved, are as follows:

The withdrawal from Queen Elizabeth Leisure Centre in Wimborne has a
budget saving £331k.

Increased income for trade waste and Garden Waste services are on track
to achieve the £500k uplift as is glass recycling £325k.

The reduction of the vehicle fuel budget by £250k, based on fuel market
prices, looks on track to be achieved.

Savings through additional vacancy management is on track in the year to
date.

Page 51



12.31

12.32

12.33

12.34

12.35

13

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

Savings — Corporate

The Corporate savings target for 2024/25 is £1.6m, the majority of which,
£1.2m, has a green RAG rating and has been achieved.

There are savings within Customer Services £168k, Sundry debt £150k and
Libraries £47k that require further work and so have a RAG rating of amber
until there is more information that will clarify their status.

Savings - Our Future Council

Earlier this year PwC were commissioned to undertake a review of the
transformation programme and identify the required £8.6m of savings in-
year. Following the latest update from PwC it is all but confirmed the full
£8.6m will be required to be met from reserves.

PwC were asked to support the council to find ways that processes can be
streamlined and use technology in smarter ways so the council can deliver
sustainable services for Dorset residents.

The outcome of this work is contained within the Our Future Council draft
business case report included in this agenda.

Local Authority Trading Companies (LATC)

The council has involvement with three LATC’s that support the work of
the council. This report focuses on the financial performance of the
LATC’s and highlights any material financial matters which could impact
the Council’s finances.

Care Dorset

Care Dorset was established in October 2022. The accounting year end
for Care Dorset is the 30th September.

Turnover for the company’s first year of trading ending 30" September
2023 was £29.583m. The company made an operating loss of £0.394m.

Care Dorset has a 5-year strategy to modernise services and meet
emerging need, significantly expanding services such as reablement,
rehabilitation and intermediate care. This strategy also looks to modernise
offerings in day services, invest in growing extra care and supported living
and continue to work with our commissioners to develop services further.

Page 52



135

13.6

13.7

13.8

13.9

By ensuring that Care Dorset’s strategies align with Dorset Council
commissioning strategies they are confident they will achieve long-term
growth with a sustainable strategic fit to support sustainable delivery of
Adult Social Care.

Dorset Centre of Excellence Ltd

The Dorset Centre of Excellence Ltd was established in June 2021. The
Company became leaseholder of the site previously owned and occupied
by St Mary’s Independent School in May 2022 and opened Coombe
House School in the same month.

Coombe House provides education for children with special educational
needs and/or disability (SEND). The Dorset Centre of Excellence Ltd is a
limited company, 100% owned by Dorset Council.

The accounting year end for the Dorset Centre of Excellence Ltd is 31
March.

Turnover for the Company was £3.3m in 2023/24 (£1.9m for 2022/23). The
Company received fees from Dorset Council of £2,989k for 2023/24
(£1,554k for 2022/23).

13.10 The Company expect to report a loss of approximately £600k for 2023/24

(£1.3m loss 2022/23). This is significantly ahead of the performance
forecast in the 5-year Business Plan (approved June 2023) which
anticipated a loss of £1m.

13.11 The Company continues to meet growth targets in pupil numbers and staff

in line with the 5-year Business Plan (revised March 2024) and expect to
achieve a surplus of £300k in 2024/25 which is year 3 of trading. This
milestone is achieved with minimal development of other commercial
activities on the site, pupil numbers not yet at capacity and despite cost
pressures from inflation and Teachers’ Pension Scheme employer
contribution increases.

Page 53



Connect2Dorset

13.12 Connect2Dorset is a new joint venture with Commercial Services Group (a
company wholly owned by Kent County Council). The new service went
live at the beginning of April 2024 and will provide the Council with
contingent agency, contract and interim employees.

13.13 The long-term aim of Connect2Dorset is to improve the quality of our agency
workers, and where suitable convert agency workers to permanent
employees.

13.14 Commentary on Connect2Dorset’s financial performance commentary will
be included in future reports.

14 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts
14.1 As part of the 2024/25 budget the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts policy
was approved which included projects within two service areas; Assets

and Regeneration and Housing.

14.2 As part of the policy it stated the following savings were expected to be
delivered which would fund future transformation in those areas.

14.3Where savings are expected recurrently, these will support closing the 25/26
budget gap.

Assets & Regeneration

14.4Assets and Regeneration savings were scheduled to be realised on a year
on year basis with payback under two years.

Assets & Regeneration projects - Expenditure 2023/24 2024/25
Strategic Asset Management Plan and Effective

Property Services (Corporate Landlord) £158,547 £494,004
RAPID Asset Reviews £129,965 £250,000
Acceleration of Disposals £204,340 £481,938
Property Management System £206,264
Total £492,852 £1,432,206

Page 54



Assets & Regeneration projects - savings 2024/25
Strategic Asset Management Plan and Effective Property

Services (Corporate Landlord) £240,333
RAPID Asset Reviews £285,000
Acceleration of Disposals £200,000
Property Management System £219,650
Corporate Office and Depot Rationalisation £85,094
A&R Realignment & resulting efficiencies £258,707
TOTAL £1,288,784

Current Status — Assets & Regeneration

14.5At the time of writing, £539k has been incurred as spend, over years
2023/24 (£493k) and 2024/25 (47k). No further expenditure or savings are
expected. A further update will follow as part of the Quarter 3 report.

14.6 Housing projects were scheduled to payback in two years:
Housing Services projects — expenditure 2024/25
Temporary accommodation management plan and effective
) . . £379,985
temporary accommodation housing management services
Housing Register management and lettings services £404,194
Housing Strategy Delivery Plan £263,338
Strategic Performance and Improvement Delivery Plan £125,924
Effective Empty Homes Services £49,689
Effective Homeless Prevention Services £282,065
Total £1,505,195
Housing Services Projects - Savings 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
Asset Review (Temporary
Accommodation / Bed & Breakfast Exit) £90,000 £1,053,400 £218,400 £83,400
Temporary accommodation housing £0 £49,000 0 £0
management system
Effective Empty Homes Services £0 £0 £0 £13,800
Effective Homeless Prevention Services | £127,800 £127,800 £127,800 £127,800
Total £217,800 £1,230,200 £346,200 | £225,000

Page 55




14.7

14.8

14.9

14.10

15

15.1

Current Status — Housing

The council has identified £1.5 million of unallocated Capital receipts to be
used by Housing services to fund the service reconfiguration, structural
changes, and operating model refinements. This will ensure the Council
provides an improved housing offer, which benefits both the Council and
those who approach us for help.

The additional investment has resulted in greater efficiency and
effectiveness across the housing service, enable a more ‘customer
focussed’ approach and enabling earlier efficiencies and effectiveness.

Spend to the end of September was £0.401m with a forecast spend of
£1.063m resulting in a forecast underspend of £0.442m due to delays in
recruitment.

Despite not all staff being in post good progress has been made on
improving performance and outcomes for individuals as noted as part of
the main narrative on Housing.

General fund position and other earmarked reserves at year-end
Any overspend at the end of the year will mean a drawn down from
reserves will be required. At the end of financial year 2023/24 the council

held £37.686m in the general fund and £121.872m in earmarked reserves
which was a reduction of £16.1m from the previous year.

Page 56



15.2 Based on the revenue forecast as at the end of 2024/25 there will be a
requirement for the following use of reserves:

2024/25 Estimated
Adjustment  balance
S 31 March

Balance
31 March

2024 2025
£'000 £'000

General Fund

(a) Financial strategy 18,622 (10,622) 8,000
(b) PFI Reserves 5,976 (625) 5,351
(c) Insurance Reserve 2,325 2,325
(d) Trading Account Reserves 332 332
(e) Transformation Fund 3,314 (3,314) -
(f) Other Reserves 11,744 (883) 10,861
(g9) Repairs & maintenance 754 754
(h) Unused Grant Funds 36,622 (11,053) 25,569
(i) Infrastructure related 9,747 (1,000) 8,747
(j) Innovation 236 (236) -
Sub-total 89,672 89,672
(k) Section 31 Grant Reserve 16,637 (4,598) 12,039
(I) Public Health inc Covid funding 2,663 (1,759) 904
(m) DSG recovery plan funding 12,900 (12,900) -
(n) Covid - -
Total Revenue Reserves 121,872 (46,990) 74,882
General Fund 37,686 (15,048) 22,638
Total General Fund and Earmarked Reserves | 159,558 (62,038) 97,520

15.3 Unless some currently earmarked reserves can be repurposed, this could
mean the Council is required to use its General Fund reserve, reducing
the balance from 10% of General Fund to 6.18%. Depleting reserves at
this rate in a single year would be a cause for real concern as the
minimum operating level for the council to hold in it's general fund would
be 5%.

Page 57



16

16.1

16.2

16.3

Capital programme and financing

The capital strategy and capital programme for the MTFP period, which
totalled almost £373m, was agreed by Cabinet in February 2024.

The 2023/24 capital outturn was reported to Cabinet in June 2024 and the
result of that was that there was programme slippage of £28.844m into
2024/25.

This, along with the approved budget and updates since that date, mean a
programme of £364.5m for the next five years, as summarised in the table
below.

Capital Programme Total Budget
2024/25 2025/26 | 2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 Total
Budget
24/25-29/30
Full external funding 31,909 9,749 138 0 0 41,796
Partial external funding 52,413 0 0 0 0 52,413
Partial external funding 14,845| 52,652 17,982 0 0 85,479
Council funded 37,981| 28,926 21,179 (7,877)| (17,269) 62,940
Funded from other Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0
Capital Receipts Applied 5,800 9,900 1,000 1,000 1,000 18,700
Minimum Revenue Provision 11,241 12,972 14,122 16,019 16,269 70,623
Self Funded 10,408 9,933 9,932 2,350 0 32,623
Total funding 164,597 124,132 64,353| 11,492 0 364,574

16.4

The spend and commitments against the programme of £164.5m at 30
September 2024 was £47.3m (29%). The programme is under continuous
review to monitor the progress of all approved projects and to identify any
issues that may impact on the overall programme. Where slippage is
identified the project budgets will be reprofiled within the overall programme.

16.5

Based on spend so far it is expected that the Q3 report will have a

significant reprofiling to be more in line with the previous spend which has

been circa £80m.

16.6 The project budgets for the current year are outlined below.

Project spend plr\lcf}égzs EL%JS;E Corﬁ?n??rgénts Variance | % Spent
£,000 £,000 £,000

Adults & Housing 16 10,626 828 9,798 8%

Children’s 15 36,011 5,370 30,641 15%

Place 120 106,774 39,434 67,340 37%

Corporate 10 11,186 1,711 9,475 15%

Total 161 164,597 47,343 117,254 29%

Page 58




16.7 The movements in the project budgets since quarter 1 are shown in the

16.8

16.9

16.10

16.11

16.12

16.13

table below.
. 1 . Re- New 2
DUCELRIELE Bu%get N[BT profiling funding Bu?:iget
£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Adults & Housing 9,998 16,000 -16,114 742 10,626
Children’s 22,907 0 0 13,104 36,011
Place 107,795 2,620 -5,780 2,139 106,774
Corporate 9,896 1,290 0 0 11,186
Total 150,596 19,910 -21,894 15,985 164,597

Changes to the Capital scheme since the 2024/25 quarter 1 report include
the following items.

There have been adjustments to the capital programme of £20m. This
includes an additional £16.0m for the Adults Care Home project approved
by Cabinet and a funding adjustment of £3.9m for the Highways Corporate
Funding (EAP).

There has been re-profiling of £21.9m into future years to more accurately
reflect the timing of works, and therefore spend incurred. This includes
Adults Care Home £16.0m; Dorset Waste Infrastructure - Blandford site
£3.4m; Weymouth Relief Road of £1.3m and West Bay Harbour Wall
Emergency Works £0.9m.

There has been new external funding of £16.0m confirmed, most
significantly £13.1m relating to the SEND Capital Strategy and an additional
£2.0m for the Local Transport Plan programme of works.

It is too soon to forecast what level of slippage we might anticipate into
future years, based on previous financial years it is unlikely that all aspects
of the programme will be deliverable this year based on the current rate of
spend.

The delivery of the capital programme is reviewed monthly by the Capital
Strategy and Asset Management Group (CSAMG).

Page 59



17

17.1

17.2

17.3

17.4

17.5

17.6

17.7

17.8

Capital Projects —for Cabinet approval

Sewerage Treatment Services Improvement Works B - £3.45m

Dorset Council owns and, therefore, is responsible for managing and
maintaining thirty-three Sewage treatment assets. These are in east
Dorset and service small villages and hamlets. Sites range in type, from
septic tanks to sewerage treatment plants.

Septic tanks are small, simple and low maintenance sites, which do not
require electricity or any mechanical equipment. The larger sewerage
treatment plants are more sophisticated and technologically complex,
each consist of number of treatment processes and require electricity as
well as mechanical & electrical equipment, to function.

There are thirteen treatment plants of which eleven are in a poor or very
poor condition and are in urgent need of upgrade and replacement.
Dysfunctional treatment plants are a pollution and health risk, and
sewerage treatment is a highly regulated sector with large fines for
environmental discharge breaches.

This business case seeks spend approval of the £3,450,000 allocation that
was agreed by the Capital Strategy and Asset Management Group on 7
October 2024.

The full business case is set out in Appendix C.

Foster Carers Adaptations - £1.0m

Dorset Council is committed to supporting a child’s right to a family life so
to address housing related barriers, a £1m business case has been
prepared to invest in foster carers and kinships homes. Having this fund in
place will allow the Fostering and Adoption teams to work differently with
existing and new recruited foster carers to meet the needs of children and
families.

It is expected that a variety of proposals in different circumstances will be
developed, as all families and children’s needs are different and that these
will test the effectiveness of this fund in practice in Dorset and its impact
on the placement budgets.

The full business case is set out in Appendix C.

Page 60



17.9

Weymouth Harbour Walls F&G — project uplift £2.8m

The project is co-funded between the Department of Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities (now MHCLG) and Dorset Council; and the
arrangement is governed by a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). An
amount of £8.46 million was allocated from the LUF funding towards the
harbour walls project. According to the MOU, Dorset Council is obliged to
cover the rest of the project costs over and about the grant received.

17.10 The scheme was originally forecast to cost £11m the latest scheme costs

17.11

17.12

17.13

are forecast to increase total spend to £13.8m with funding contributions
as follows.

Element Amount

LUF — construction & professional fees Walls F&G £6,825,000
LUF — construction & professional fees Wall 4 £1,000,000
Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Scheme £485,000
Weymouth Peninsula including harbour walls (W&PBC) £540,000
Weymouth Flood Defences CIL Strategic Funds £2,000,000
Weymouth s106 flood defence funds £168,633
Previously approved total scheme costs £11,018,633
New funding: Harbour Reserve £1,478,502
New Funding: Dorset Council Capital contingency £1,300,000
Revised total scheme costs £13,797,135

A further breakdown of the costs and funding is available in appendix C

Thus far the project has been progressed with the LUF funding and is
already in an advanced stage. lItis currently in a tender phase and
programming puts contractor appointment and construction
commencement in the early part of 2025.

If the necessary funding is not secured the project will have to be halted
and disruption to the project will result in considerable additional

costs. The walls are in a very poor condition and due to public safety
concerns an exclusion zone has been in place for the last 3-4 years. The
project also enjoys high prominence because of its Levelling Up Funding
backing, as well as its location.

Page 61



Reallocation of Parkdean budget to Greenhill — £0.160m

17.14 At Greenhill the wall condition was far worse than what could be

18

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

determined during pre-construction investigations; and it collapsed during
repairs. As a result, the costs have gone up considerably and a budget
shortfall has developed. Although the site is stabilised, the work cannot be
deferred for an indefinite period of time. During the Park Dean project, the
CRM team effected some cost savings through making use of internal
resources, and through design and scope development. CRM would like to
make use of this savings of £160k, by using it to cover the shortfalls on the
Greenhill project.

Statement of Accounts
Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2024

In England the backlog in the publication of audited accounts of local
bodies has reached an unacceptable level. The number of outstanding
opinions peaked on 30 September 2023 at 918. At a national level the
system partners have been working to develop a solution involving
‘backstop dates’.

The first backstop will help clear the backlog and enable a focus on recent
accounts. Five further backstops will enable auditors to rebuild assurance
over several audit cycles rather than in a single year, reducing the risk of
the backlog re-emerging.

To meet the ‘backstop dates’ two slightly unusual things will happen;
some local authorities will need to publish financial accounts with less
confidence than usual. [This is not the case for Dorset]

some auditors will need to issue audit opinions by the deadline, without
obtaining the usual level of evidence. [This is the case for Dorset]

As a result of the backstop dates, it is likely hundreds of financial
statements will be published with ‘modified’ opinions, which vary
depending on the extent to which the auditor lacked evidence or found
material misstatements, and whether these issues were limited to specific
areas or affected the accounts more broadly.

Page 62



18.5. Modified opinions in one year affect the accounts preparation and audit of
subsequent years, which normally take assurance from the unmodified
opinion. The more extensive the modified opinion in the previous year, the
greater the impact on the following year, requiring more extensive work to
address and recover the situation.

18.6The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2024 were laid in
parliament on 9 September 2024 and came into force on 30 September
2024. The statutory backstop dates are as follows:

Financial year Statutory backstop date
2022/23 and before | 13 December 2024
2023/24 28 February 2025
2024/25 27 February 2026
2025/26 31 January 2027
2026/27 30 November 2027
2027/28 30 November 2028

18.7 For Dorset Council 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 accounts are currently
open to audit and must be completed by the relevant date or will receive a
modified opinion.

18.8 Audit & Governance committee oversee the audit process and have been
receiving regular updates on the progress of the audit. A summary of the
status of each years audit is as follows:

e 2021/22 — expected full audit to be completed with an unqualified
opinion.

e 2022/23 — full audit is not expected to be completed due to national
issues affected the completion of 2021/22, which in turn has meant
Deloitte have not been able to resource this to meet the deadline.
2022/23 is expected to have a disclaimed opinion due to essentially
running out of time.

e 2023/24 — a full audit is expected to be completed and work with the
Councils new auditors, Grant Thornton, is progressing. Due to the
disclaimer for 2022/23 it is expected that the accounts will face a
disclaimed opinion in respect of the opening balances due to having
an incomplete 2022/23 audit affecting the level of assurance carried
over into this new year audit, in particular assurance on the opening
balances. The level of assurance will gradually be restored over
coming years audits.

Page 63



19 Sundry debt management

New invoices for 2024/25

19.1

The total value of debts (invoices) raised between 1 April 2024 and 30

September 2024 is £135.6m, a breakdown by directorate is shown below:

Total debt raised 2024/25
£000
Adults & Housing 36,999
Children's Services 5,051
Place 30,920
Corporate 62,644
Total 135,614

Overall amounts owed

19.2

30 September 2024 was £43.4m.

19.3 The breakdown of the current sundry debt is as follows:

Looking at debt across all years, the balance of sundry debt outstanding at

Total Debt

Directorate Total due Lg(s)sdg;zn 30-90 days 93;25 36?\(;2;/3

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adults & Housing 32,815 6,712 2,375 10,090 13,638
Children's Services 978 166 155 516 142
Place 6,761 1,687 768 1,097 3,209
Corporate 2,919 300 2,100 301 219
Grand Total 43,473 8,864 5,398 12,004 17,207

19.4 £32.8m of the £43.4m of outstanding debt is within Adults & Housing. Of
which, some relates to deferred payment arrangements, or care provided
through gross without prejudice.

Page 64



19.5 After adjusting for these the debt which is currently collectable is as follows:

Collectable Debt
Directorate Less than 90-365 Over
Total due 30 days 30-90 days days 365 days
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adults & Housing 20,987 6,394 1,357 5,643 7,593
Children's Services 978 166 155 516 142
Place 6,761 1,687 768 1,097 3,209
Corporate 2,919 300 2,100 301 218
Total 31,646 8,546 4,380 7,558 11,162

Prior year performance

19.6

£32.5m (71%) has been collected.

At the end of 2023/24 the Collectable Debt arrears were £46.0m and to date

19.7 The next table breaks down performance for prior year debts.
_ Amount Collected in Amoun_t
Prior year arrears owed outstanding % collected
31/03/2024 year 30/09/2024
£,000 £,000 £,000
Adults & Housing 17,028 7,314 9,715 43%
Children's Services 2,164 1,925 239 89%
Place 13,171 9,909 3,261 75%
Corporate 13,643 13,362 281 98%
Total 46,005 32,510 13,496 71%

Deferred payments

19.8

Deferred payments are debts that relate to adult care provided by Dorset
Council, which have been secured against the property of the customer.
The Council will eventually receive full payment of the debt when the

property is sold.

Deferred
Payments
Directorate Less than 90-365 Over
Total due 30 days 30-90 days days 365 days
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adults & Housing 3,840 16 412 1,276 2,135

Page 65




19.9

Gross without prejudice

Gross without prejudice debts also relate to adult care, the debt is raised
but not actively pursued whilst a care act assessment and subsequent
financial assessment is undertaken to determine whether the recipient of
the care is financially assessed as able to contribute towards the cost of

their care.

Gross Without
Prejudice

Directorate Less than 90-365 Over
Total due 30 days 30-90 days days 365 days

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adults & Housing 7,988 302 606 3,170 3,910

Write-offs

19.10 The write-offs processed so far this year are shown in the table below.

20

20.1

20.2

There is adequate provision to cover these debts, which are a relatively
small proportion of the total outstanding debt (0.32%).

Debts written off 2024/25
£'000
Adults & Housing 91
Children's Services 0
Place 49
Corporate 0
Total 140

Council tax and business rates debt management
Council tax

The value of council tax debt raised in 2024/25 is £393.4m and £221.2m
has been collected to date. The collection rate at 30 September 2024 is
56.24%, which is broadly in line with the corresponding position from the
previous year, which was 56.47%.

Business rates (non-domestic rates — NDR)

The value of business rates debt raised in 2024/25 is £103.9m and £63.3m
has been collected to date. The collection rate at 30 September 2024 is
60.96%, which is an improvement on the corresponding position from the
previous year, which was 59.22%.

Page 66



20.3

21

21.1

21.2

22

22.1

22.2

Write offs

The write-offs processed by the Revenues & Benefits Service during the
year are shown in the table below.

Debts written off 2024/25
£'000
Council tax 1
Business rates 1
Housing Benefit overpayments 14
Total 16

Financial planning, strategy and the MTFP

The Council has already started the process of refreshing the MTFP and
developing the budget strategy for 2025/26 which, as well as meeting new
pressures, will also need to deal with any ongoing pressures from
2024/25.

The MTFP is being presented to Cabinet on 19 November 2024 on the
same agenda as this paper, and so provides more information.

Summary, conclusions and next steps

2024/25 continues to be an extremely challenging time for local
government, with inflationary and demand pressures impacting on income
and expenditure. There remains a large degree of financial uncertainty
and, having reviewed expenditure for the first four months of the year,
Dorset Council’s prudent financial forecast is a £13.2m budget pressure.

The information contained within this report will form the basis of the
starting position for the 2025/26 budget setting process, which will once
again prove to be extremely tough as the Council seeks to achieve its
priorities whilst meeting the growing cost of demand, all from within limited
funds.

Aidan Dunn
Executive Director - Corporate Development (S151 Officer)

Page 67



Appendix A

Adults & Housing 8,581

Childrens 5,654

Place 5,444

Central 12,722

Corporate 1,508

Total Savings Plans 34,0090 16,612
14,000

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000
t
Adults & Housing |

Childrens -

Place

Central

Corporate 1

Page 68



Appendix B

Carbon Neutral Dorset 2050

Nature Positive Dorset 2030

Major positive impact

- Minor positive impact
- No known impact
Mixed impact

- Minor negative impact

- Major negative impact

Quantitative Impact on CEE targets (if known

Unit Number of units (+/-)
2030 - Natural asset extent & condition Ha 0
2040 - Operational Emissions CO, (tonnes) 0
ACCESSIBLE TABLE SHOWING IMPACTS
Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Impact
Strategy Commitments P
Energy minor positive impact
Buildings & Assets major positive impact
Transport major positive impact
Green Economy major positive impact
Food & Drink No known impact
Waste minor positive impact
Natural Assets & Ecology major positive impact
Water major positive impact
Resilience and Adaptation major positive impact
| Corporate Plan Aims | Impact

Page 69



Prosperity

strongly supports it

Stronger healthier communities

strongly supports it

Sustainable Development & Housing

strongly supports it

Responsive & Customer Focused

strongly supports it

TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations

Responses -will this be
incorporated into your proposal?
How? And if not, why not?

Energy

Find out energy use of buildings that are being
brought into the Dorset Council carbon footprint,
as this will affect our ability to hit our carbon
reduction targets

Find out energy use of any new build buildings
that are being added to the Dorset Council carbon
footprint, as this will affect our ability to hit our
carbon reduction targets

Support the acceleration of heating and energy
and water efficiency through cavity and solid wall
insulation, draught proofing, improved glazing and
shading, and high energy and water efficient smart
appliances

Buildings & Assets

No recommendations found for this category

Transport

No recommendations found for this category

Green Economy

No recommendations found for this category

Food & Drink

No recommendations found for this category

Waste

Look at ways to reduce the amount of waste
produced

Natural Assets & Ecology

No recommendations found for this category

Water

Page 70




No recommendations found for this category

Resilience & Adaptation

No recommendations found for this category

Page 71




Appendix C — Capital Business Cases

Note: There are numerous business case models that can be used to demonstrate the need
for your project to a commissioner. This business case template is designed according to
HM Treasury’s Five Case Model. For further information, please see the detailed Green
Book supplementary guidance by clicking here.

Dorset Council

Business Case

Sewerage Treatment
Services

Major Upgrade Works

September 2024

Page 72


https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/469317/green_book_guidance_public_sector_business_cases_2015_update.pdf

Version 1

Contents

=

L 0 N o U B~ W N

Executive Summary

Business Case details

Strategic Case

Economic Case

Commercial Case

Financial Case

Management case

Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration

Appendices

Page 73

52
53
55
59
60
61
64
65
125



Document Control

Document Title Sewerage Services Business Case
Version V1.1
Jessica Maskrey, Sarah Cairns, Matthew Penny, Mark
Author
Branson
Date September 2024
Further copies from PSP AMG Teams Channel

1. Executive Summary

Dorset Council owns and, therefore, is responsible for managing and maintaining thirty-three
Sewage treatment assets. These are in east Dorset and service small villages and hamlets. Sites
range in type, from septic tanks to sewerage treatment plants.

Septic tanks are small, simple and low maintenance sites, which do not require electricity or any
mechanical equipment. The larger sewerage treatment plants are more sophisticated and
technologically complex, each consist of number of treatment processes and require electricity
as well as mechanical & electrical equipment, to function.

There are thirteen treatment plants of which eleven are in a poor or very poor condition and are
in urgent need of upgrade and replacement. Dysfunctional treatment plants are a pollution and
health risk, and sewerage treatment is a highly regulated sector with large fines for
environmental discharge breaches.

Funding for upgrade and replacement of these 13 treatment plants was allocated in the capital
programme 2023/2024 approved by cabinet on 28 March 2023.

Sewerage Treatment Services Major Upgrade Works. Total of £3,450,000 over four years.
Consisting of £686,000 in 23/24, £518,000 in 24/25, £1,308,000 in 25/26 and £938,000 in 26/27.

This business case seeks approval of the £3,450,000 allocation and draw down of the funds.
The business case also seeks approval to reprofile the spend as follows:
24/25 150,000

25/26 1,100,000

Page 74


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MId=5364&Ver=4

26/27 1,200,000
27/28 1,000,000

TOTAL £3,450,000

2. Business Case details

Project Name

Sewerage Treatment Services Improvement Works - Capital
Investment

Project Sponsor

Ken Buchan/Matthew Penny

Project Manager

Mark Branson

Service description

Sewerage Services

Partner organisation(s)

NA

Project Reference

TBC

Page 75




Page 76



3. Strategic Case

3.1 The proposal

Dorset Council owns and, therefore, is responsible for managing and maintaining thirty-three
Sewage treatment assets. These are in east Dorset and service small villages and hamlets. Sites
range in type, from septic tanks to sewerage treatment plants.

There are thirteen treatment plants of which eleven are in a poor or very poor condition and are
in urgent need of upgrade and replacement. Dysfunctional treatment plants are a pollution and
health risk, and sewerage treatment is a highly regulated sector with large fines for
environmental discharge breaches.

The following works will be undertaken at the various sites.

e Mechanical and electrical equipment upgrades: New installations and upgrades of
Mechanical & Electrical equipment at various sites

e Upgrades to civil engineering and built structures: Upgrades and replacement of civil
and built structures at various site. This will include building new structures to
expand/add treatment processes where necessary.

e New sewerage pumpstations: Building and commissioning of pump stations to reroute
flow and decommission old/obsolete infrastructure, to gain network efficiencies.

e Replacement of prefabricated package plants: Some of the prefabricated package plants
that have reached the end of their life and need replacement. Replacements will either
be like-for-like; or where appropriate and cost effective, with built structures.

3.2 The case for change

3.2.1 Alignment with commissioner objectives/priorities
Capital expenditure will be used to bring the plants and assets to a standard of performance
where environmental pollution risk and health risks are successfully mitigated or eliminated. In

turn this will greatly reduce Dorset Council's exposure to potential legal action, by bringing
performance within regulatory requirements.

3.2.2 Fit with national policy

The Environment Act 2021 received Royal Assent on 9 November 2021. It imposed “a new duty
on government to produce a statutory plan to reduce discharges from storm overflows and their
adverse impact, and report to Parliament on progress”

Page 77



The Government has published a plan to work with water companies, sewerage asset owners and
regulators to stop the harm caused by raw sewage from overflows. The overflows discharge
reduction plan was published on 26 August, as a requirement of the Environment Act 2021 and
sets policy for England only.

3.2.3 Customer user needs — current and future

Noting the customer is defined as the organisation funding the service, as referenced above the
improvements will greatly reduce Dorset Council's exposure to potential legal action, by bringing
performance within regulatory requirements. The improvement works will also reduce the risk
of harm to the environment and the householders and schools who benefit from this service, so
by reducing the exposure of Dorset Council to the risk of any future legal actions.

3.2.4 Improvement of current service delivery arrangements

The current revenue budget of £245,000 is allocated for the emptying and disposal of sewerage
from the assets owned by Dorset Council. In addition to this budget householders who benefit
from the sewerage disposal are charged a fee that does not cover the cost of this service, and
members have previously accepted this to be the case. The level of this fee was agreed between
the former East Dorset District Council and the householders.

The sewerage emptying and disposal work is contracted out and this work is currently being
retendered.

3.2.5 Potential scope for further development/scalability

The potential for these sewerage assets in the former East Dorset District Council area to be
transferred to the local water company, as happened in all the other former District and
Borough areas in the Dorset Council area, has been explored. Unfortunately, due to the
condition and cost of maintaining these assets Wessex Water has declined the potential asset
transfer and is under no legal obligation to do so.

3.2.6 Benefits and risks

Benefits

Benefit Category | Description Decision- Financial year
maker / benefit is
Customer / | expected to
Market be achieved

Financial e  Reduction in future asset maintenance Dorset 2027

benefits revenue budget Council

e Intervention works now will reduce future
capital burden

Page 78



Economic None
benefits
Climate / e Reduced risk of environmental pollution 2027
environmental e Significantly improved levels of quality of
benefits treated effluent being discharged to
surface and groundwater.
Customer e Efficient sewerage disposal from the 2027
benefits houses and schools within the system
Efficiency e Improved operating performance 2027
benefits resulting in improved optimisation of
contractor maintenance and tankering.
Equalities
benefits
Other
Risks
Risk Mitigation
Risk of legal action if performance of sewerage Undertake capital works
services not brought in line with regulatory
requirements
Supplier delays due to Ukraine conflict / Brexit / Contingency built into budget

shortage.

COVID / HGV driver shortage / shipping container

or other as yet unidentified issues.

Overspend due to increased cost of building supplies | Contingency built into budget

Disruption to services whilst work is undertaken Phased works enable services to continue

to operate from building during works

3.2.7 Constraints and dependencies

Release of funding allocated in capital programme

The potential for these sewerage assets in the former East Dorset District Council area to be

transferred to the local water company, as happened in all the other former District and

Borough Council areas within the Dorset Council area has been explored. Unfortunately, due to

Page 79




the condition and cost of maintaining these assets, Wessex Water has declined the potential
asset transfer and is under no legal obligation to do so.

The capital investment in these assets will reduce the future maintenance burdens at the sites
where improvements take place.

The householders who financially contribute to the waste disposal will receive a better service
for their contribution and will reduce the risks to their health of living with a failing sewerage
system.

Page 80



4. Economic Case

4.1 Appraisals of costs and benefits

The main benefit is to the householders and schools who are part of the existing failing sewerage
system inasmuch that they will have a functioning system that reduces the risk to their health.

The Environment Agency, as the Government body responsible for environmental pollution, will
benefit by having reduced risk of pollution in the Dorset Council area as well as significantly
improved quality of discharge back into both surface water and ground water.

At the moment attempts to quantify the benefits in investment terms of Payback Period or
Internal Rate or Return, will not be accurate. The assets do generate an income through sewerage
tariffs being levied, but those tariffs have to be revised. Capital expenditure will result in a
reduction in repairs spending, while prolonging the life of the assets. In addition, capital
expenditure will immediately mitigate risks of financial loss through environmental fines. Failure
of assets, due to aged components and infrastructure, may lead to environmental fines that can
be quite substantial. All capital expenditure will certainly contribute to the protection of the
environment against pollution, as well as the health of the community.

These benefits include the following:

e Protection of the natural environment against sewage pollution
e Protection of community health against sewage pollution
e Quality of living is improved through improved sanitation services

Performance indicators will be introduced following completion of the capital investment to
measure how the success of this investment. It is proposed that the following KPls are used:

e Number of sewerage assets operating at 80% efficiency
e Number of discharge consent conditions met at 100%

4.2 Critical success factors to achieving the Economic Case

Release of capital funding

Construction of improved sewerage systems

4.3 Risk assessment

There is a significant risk to Dorset Council if the funds are not released as the assets are currently
not meeting their statutory compliance requirements and the EA are increasing the number of
inspections completed on companies providing this service. A team is now in place to manage

Page 81



these assets and a contractor is in place for the tankering and maintenance but in order to meet
the statutory obligations the assets must be upgraded.

5. Commercial Case

5.1 Procurement strategy

Given the value of construction works involved with the project, either the Highways term
contract or an open tender would be used. Each of the sites being upgraded will be managed as
an individual project within this overall project. Potential savings from tendering all works
together rather than individually will be explored at the start of the project.

Pricing mechanism:
Competition between contractors within the given Lot, to include assessment on value for
money and quality.

Benefits:
Range of contractors available to tender within the given lot.

Risks:
Recent inflation increases are likely to result in material costs and framework rates being higher
than the agreed priced schedule of rates.

5.2 Contractual arrangements

Once the successful contractor has been awarded the work, construction contracts will be
prepared and signed by the successful contractor and the Council as Employer.

The project will follow a NEC Contract without quantities.
Instructions and payments will be made through the NEC contract as and when required to

ensure the smooth running of the project when on site.

5.3 Charging mechanism

Once the contract has been signed by all parties, the construction works will follow a typical
construction pathway. Works will be valued on a monthly basis by the project administration
team and valuation certificates will be prepared based on the works completed on site at that
stage.

Payments will then be made from the allocated project account to the main contractor.

The project will also carry a project contingency and optimism bias to ensure that any unknows
or risks can be funded should funds be required.

Page 82



6. Financial Case

6.1 Capital and revenue requirements

Description Value Start date | End date

Capital investment £3,450,000 | 2024 2028
6.2 Resource requirements

Total funding required £3,450,000

What is it for? When is the cost incurred?

(equipment, facilities, Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

t | rti t

external expertise etc) 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

Construction (inc 970,000 1,035,000 880,000

Optimism bias)

Design & Fees 110,000 80,000 100,000 70,000

Licencing and 40,000 50,000 65,000 50,000

authorisation

Total 150,000 1,100,000 1,200,000 1,000,000

Page 83




Funding currently secured (if any)

Where is it from?

When will the money be available?

(Grant, revenue Year1l Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
budget, capital 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
budget — include
cost centres if
known)
Total
Staff Resources
When are new staff needed?
Year1 Year 2 Year 3
Service FTE's |Q1|Q2|Q3|Q4|Q1|Q2|a3|Q|Ql| Q2| Q3| Q4
Area/Function
Total
Balance of funding requested
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
Total 150,000 1,100,000 1,200,000 1,000,000

Page 84




6.3 Impact on income and expenditure account

6.4 Financial benefits

6.4.1 Financial benefits table

Description Benefit | Benefit | Benefit | Benefit | Cost Who is Has the
Centre / the budget

Please include: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Budget current holder
L. 2023/24 | 2024/2 2025/2 2026/27 affected? budget agreed

e  How the saving is 023/ 024/25 | 2025/26 | 2026/ holder? to the

calculated -

saving?

e Whether the saving is (Y/N)

revenue or capital

6.4.2 Requirements in order to realise savings

It is not anticipated that there will be any savings

6.5 Non-financial benefits

The Dorset Council Plan 2022-2024 identifies 5 strategic priorities, of which this project

contributes to:

e Creating stronger healthier communities
The risk of pollution to householders and schools is greatly reduced by having a functioning and

well-maintained sewerage system

The risk of ill health to householders and teaching staff and children is greatly reduced by having
a functioning and well-maintained sewerage system

e Protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology

The risk of pollution to the surrounding environment, eco-systems and water courses is
significantly reduced by having a functioning and well-maintained sewerage system

This will be monitored by Performance indicators that will be introduced following completion of
the capital investment to measure how the success of this investment. It is proposed that the
following KPls are used:

Page 85


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/dorset-council-plan/dorset-council-plan
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/creating-stronger-healthier-communities
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/protecting-our-environment

e Number of sewerage assets operating at 80% efficiency
¢ Number of discharge consent conditions met at 100%

7. Management case

The management case demonstrates that the project is capable of being delivered
successfully, in accordance with recognised best practice.

This section requires the project to demonstrate that there are robust arrangements in
place for project management, change management and contract management, the
delivery of benefits and the management and mitigation of risk (you could include a risk and
benefits register as appendices).

It also requires the project team to specify the arrangements for monitoring during
implementation and for post implementation evaluation, and the contingency plans for risk
management.

7.1 Programme and project management plans

A project delivery team will be established including colleagues from Sewerage Services
Management team, Assets & Regeneration and IT.

A project manager will report into a project sponsor (FCERM Service Manager), project highlight
reports will be supplied to EWB HoS and Place Services Board. Where appropriate project risks
and issues will be escalated to PSP AMG.

7.2 Change management arrangements/requirements
n/a

7.3 Approach to management and delivery of benefits

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, which they will report
against in regular project highlight reports to the project sponsor, EWB HoS and Place Services
Board.

Page 86



7.4 Approach to risk management

The project manager will maintain a risk register and issues log and will report against these in
regular project highlight reports to the project sponsor. Where appropriate risks and issues will
be escalated via the project highlight report process to A&R SMT, and PSP AMG as necessary.

7.5 Monitoring during implementation

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, along with a budget
tracker and a project pack which they will report against in regular project highlight reports to the
project sponsor, EWB HoS and Place Services Board.

7.6 Post implementation evaluation arrangements

Performance indicators will be introduced following completion of the capital investment to
measure how the success of this investment. Itis proposed that the following KPls are used:

e Number of sewerage assets operating at 80% efficiency
e Number of discharge consent conditions met at 80%

7.7 Contingency arrangements/exit strategy

N/A for this type of investment
8. Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration

8.1 Conclusions

Dorset Council inherited failing sewerage infrastructure from the former East Dorset District
Council that has reached the end of its useful life. If capital is not invested to upgrade this
infrastructure, resident's health is at risk, as is the risk of polluting the surrounding ground
water.

This business case seeks approval of the £3,450,000 allocation in the capital programme 24/25
to 27/28, and draw down of the funds.

8.2 Salientissues for consideration

If Dorset Council does not upgrade the sewerage systems that it owns there is a very high risk of
a fine being imposed by the Environment Agency.

Page 87



Dorset Council has a Statutory obligation to maintain this sewerage infrastructure

Dorset Council

Business Case

Greenhill Seawall
Reconstruction

05/11/2024
1.0

Page 88



Page 89



Contents

=

Executive Summary
Business Case details
Strategic Case
Economic Case
Commercial Case
Financial Case

Management case

L o N o Uk~ W N

Appendices

Document Control

Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration

o o u Ww

60
61
644
65
125

Document Title

Greenhill Seawall Reconstruction Business Case

Version 1.0
Author Antonio Espafia Zamora
Date 05/11/2024

Page 90




Further copies from N/A

9. Executive Summary

Dorset Council is responsible for coastal infrastructure renewal in many coastal conurbations,
both as landowner and as Coastal Protection Authority. Much of the coastal infrastructure
protects properties and businesses from flood or erosion risk, yet is aging and in need of renewal
or significant repair. The coastline also suffers repeated damage from the effects of storm events
that are either emergency or urgent works; and require swift action to stabilise and prevent failure
of coastal defences.

The council has a statutory responsibility to maintain these assets as the coastal protection and
harbour authority.

Greenhill beach is located along Weymouth seafront, between The Bandstand (southern end) and
Greenhill Groyne (northern end). The area can be found using coordinates: E368370, N0O80134.
Nearest post code is DT4 7RN. Location can be seen in Figure 1.

Location of
Seawall Damage

Figure 1. Works Location.

Initially constructed around the late 1800s or early 1900s, the current seawall is beyond its design
life. After many decades exposed to wave action and marine environment, its condition
progressively deteriorated. Routine repairs and reinforcing works have taken place over the years,
but the wall could not sustain the last iteration of works.

Page 91



In March 2024, the seawall suffered catastrophic damage leading to its partial collapse. Dorset
Council acted quickly and secured the area for the summer months to ensure that both visitors
and residents could still enjoy the area, while no more damage was caused in the vicinity.
However, the site needs to be brought back into a fit permanent state and reinstatement of the
145 meter section is now necessary.

The works will comprise the replacement of existing temporary arrangements with the
installation of precast concrete units that will secure the area for the future. Beach reprofiling will
also take place. The works will take approximately 5 weeks to complete.

Existing arrangements are displayed on Figure 2.

Page 92



10. Business Case details

Project Name

Greenhill Seawall Reconstruction

Project Sponsor

Ken Buchan

Project Manager

Antonio Espafia

Service description

Coastal Protection

Partner organisation(s)

DC Highways

Project Reference

2024WEYO01

Page 93




11. Strategic Case

8.3 The proposal

To undertake reinstatement works comprising the following in line with the council’s statutory
responsibility as the coastal protection and harbour authority:

e Removal of unsuitable temporary arrangements

e Supply and install of precast concrete wall units.

e Infilling and surfacing of the promenade behind the wall
e Beach reprofiling.

The proposed works will sustain the condition of the seawall for the future.
8.4 The case for change
8.4.1 Alignment with commissioner objectives/priorities

Dorset Council is responsible for coastal infrastructure renewal in many coastal conurbations,
including Weymouth, both as landowner and as Coastal Protection Authority.

The council has a statutory responsibility to maintain these assets as the coastal protection and
harbour authority.

Failure to undertake the reconstruction works at Greenhill Seawall will result in the diminishing
of the capacity of the coastal defences to fulfil their function. Should the defences be breached
during a storm, the promenade and properties. This area is also considered part of the working
Weymouth Harbour

8.4.2 Fit with national policy
National Legislation

Dorset Council is established as a Coastal Risk Management Authority, a Flood Risk
Management Authority and as a Competent Harbour Authority, by the following acts.

e (Coast Protection Act 1949
¢ Flood and Water Management Act 2010
e Pilotage Act 1987

As such the council has a statutory responsibility to maintain coastal, flood and harbour
infrastructure as the competent authority. The proposed works will fall within this category
of responsibility.

Shoreline Management Plan

Page 94



The Shoreline Management Plan is a national policy and plan, which dictates the level of
intervention to be undertaken by management authorities along the coast. For Weymouth
frontage, the policy dictates a Hold the Line level of intervention. This means that Dorset
Council has the responsibility to maintain the sea defences and infrastructure in that policy
area.

The proposed construction works therefore completely align with the national policy
intentions.

8.4.3 Customer user needs — current and future

Noting the customer is defined as the organisation funding the service, as referenced above the
improvements will greatly reduce Dorset Council's exposure to potential legal action, by fulfilling
the council’s statutory obligations.

The improvement works will also reduce the risk of damage to residential, commercial properties
and businesses that would otherwise be at increased risk of coastal erosion. Thereby reducing the
exposure of Dorset Council to the risk of any future legal actions.

The works will also reduce the likelihood of future damage that can cause health and safety
problems to the residents and/or visitors.

8.4.4 Improvement of current service delivery arrangements

The improvement works will reduce the risk of damage to residential, commercial properties and
businesses that would otherwise be at increased risk of coastal erosion.

8.4.5 Potential scope for further development/scalability

The whole Weymouth frontage needs seawall replacements in the short to medium term. A
comprehensive business case is being developed for that purpose. This section of wall requires
immediate action.

8.4.6 Benefits and risks

Benefit Category | Description Decision- Financial year
maker / benefit is
Customer / | expected to
Market be achieved
Financial e  Reduction in future asset maintenance Dorset 24/25
benefits revenue budget Council

e Intervention works now will reduce future
capital burden

e  Stabilisation of Harbour and leaseholders
of kiosks

Page 95



Economic e Reduced risk of erosion damage to Customer / 24/25
benefits properties and businesses in the vicinity of | Market

the area
Climate / e Reduced risk of coastal erosion Customer / 24/25
environmental Market
benefits
Customer e  Reduced risk of erosion damage to Customer / 24/25
benefits properties and businesses in the vicinity of | market

the area.

e  Better beach condition for residents

and/or visitors
Efficiency e None
benefits
Equalities e Improved beach condition to aid the Customer / 24/25
benefits transient of sight impaired people. market
Other
Risk Mitigation

Risk of damage to residential, commercial and business
premises

Undertake capital works

Risk of injury / death due to coastal erosion

Undertake capital works

Disruption to the use of the beach as an amenity asset

Undertake the works during Winter

Reputational risk to DC due to existing condition of their
asset.

Undertake capital works

Risk of injury due to trip hazards caused by the existing
condition

Undertake capital works

Reputational risk to Dorset Council of failing to act

Undertake capital works

Overspend due to increased cost of building supplies or
other as yet unidentified issues.

Contingency built into budget

8.4.7 Constraints and dependencies

Release of funding allocated in capital programme.

Page 96




FCERM colleagues are liaising with Weymouth Town Council that manage Greenhill Beach as an
amenity asset to ensure they are informed on when the area will be reinstated.

Page 97



12. Economic Case

9.1 Appraisals of costs and benefits

The costs of the works are as follows:

Greenhill Seawall Reconstruction

Professional/Consulting Fees £ 11,000.00

Construction £ 120,000.00

Risk Contingency £ 29,000.00
TOTAL EXPENDITURE| £ 160,000.00

The project is fully costed and agreed with the appointed contractor (DC Highways). As such, no
significant contingency has been built into the project. Weather conditions may impact the
delivery programme.

The benefits of undertaking the works include:

The material protection of residential, commercial properties and businesses that would
otherwise have been at increased risk of Coastal Erosion.

Protection of commercial and tourism activities that will be allowed to continue and grow.
Quality of living and community will be preserved and promoted.

Promotion of the safety and confidence of the public, when using the public spaces in
which the infrastructure is situated.

Cut back on revenue expenditure. Should capital funding not be approved, it would
increase the demand on revenue maintenance spend, to mitigate some of the required
work. However, revenue budgets cannot adequately cover the required improvement
costs and therefore asset decline will continue as a result. Capital expenditure would
increase the life of the asset by reinstating existing damages and halting further decline.
Benefit is therefore derived both from an increased useful life, as well as the decrease in
the need for revenue maintenance expenditure.

Performance indicators

Measure technical work against the designs and specifications
Track budget and expenditure
Project management

9.2 Critical success factors to achieving the Economic Case

Release of capital funding
Completion of emergency works

9.3 Risk assessment

See section 3.2.6. A project risk register has also been included in Appendix A.

Page 98



Page 99



13. Commercial Case

10.1 Procurement strategy

The consulting services were procured through Comensura and Ramboll was appointed.

Main contractor is DC Highways. They started the reinforcement works back in March and have
been kept engaged to ensure that the construction is completed in the most efficient manner.

10.2 Contractual arrangements
Contractual arrangements with Ramboll are defined by the standard terms and conditions defined
on the Comensura framework.

No special contractual arrangements with DC Highways as it is an internal department. DC
Highways will employ members of their supply chain to deliver the works. Instructions and
payments will be made through the Highways standard contract as and when required to ensure
the smooth running of the project when on site.

10.3 Charging mechanism

DC Highways will recharge their expenditure through the standard internal process. Payments will
then be made from the allocated project account to the contractor.

Page 100



14. Financial Case

11.1 Capital and revenue requirements

Description Value Start date | End date
Capital Investment—Greenhill Wall Reconstruction
) £160,000 Jan 25 Feb 25
(capital budget transfer from M-EN-600135)
11.2 Resource requirements
Total funding required
What is it for? When is the cost incurred?
(equipment, facilities, Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
external expertise etc) ear
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
Professional / consulting £11,000
fees
Construction £120,000
Contingency £29,000
Total £160,000
Funding currently secured (if any)
Where is it from? When will the money be available?
(Grant, revenue Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
budget, capital 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

budget —include
cost centres if
known)

Page 101




Total

£50,000

Staff Resources

When are new staff needed?
Year1l Year 2 Year3
Service FTEs|Q1 /1 Q2|{Q3|Q4|Q1|{Q2(Q3|Q4|Ql| Q2| Q3| Q4
Area/Function
Total
Balance of funding requested
Year1 Year 2 Year 3 Year4
2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
Total
11.3 Impact on income and expenditure account
11.4 Financial benefit
11.4.1 Financial benefits table
Description Benefit Benefit Benefit Benefit Cost Who is Has the
Centre / the budget
Please include: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Budget current holder
affected? budget agreed
e  How the saving is 2013/14 | 2014/15 | 2015/16 | 2016/17 holder? to the
calculated ) )
saving?
e Whether the saving is (Y/N)

revenue or capital

Page 102




11.4.2 Requirements in order to realise savings

It is not anticipated that there will be any savings, however the project will produce significant
cost avoidance, as doing nothing will result in further expenditure should further sections of the
wall fail.

11.5 Non-financial benefits

The Dorset Council Plan 2022-2024 identifies 5 strategic priorities, of which this project
contributes to:

Driving economic prosperity - Dorset Council

Failure to address the required emergency works will result in a negative impact on economic
prosperity in West Bay.

Protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology

Should the wall fail, this would have a negative impact on the natural environment.

Becoming a more responsive, customer focused council - Dorset Council

Failure to address the required emergency works will negatively impact on Dorset Council
residents. Failure to act would not contribute to the ambition of being responsive to our
customers (be these individuals or businesses).

Page 103


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/dorset-council-plan/dorset-council-plan
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/driving-economic-prosperity
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/protecting-our-environment
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/becoming-a-more-responsive-customer-focused-council

15. Management case

12.1 Programme and project management plans

The project team comprises of key roles as defined on the Construction Design and Management
Regulations 2015:

e Principal Contractor: DC Highways
e Principal Designer: Ramboll
e C(lient: DC FCERM

A project manager representing the client will report into a project sponsor (Head of Service).
Project manager will also liaise with key stakeholders and DC communications.

12.2 Change management arrangements/requirements

N/A

12.3 Approach to management and delivery of benefits

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, which they will report
against in regular project meetings and highlight any concerns to the Head of Service.

12.4 Approach to risk management

The project manager will maintain a risk register and issues log and will report against these in
regular project meetings. Where appropriate risks and issues will be escalated to the Head of
Service.

12.5 Monitoring during implementation

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, which they will report
against in regular project meetings and escalate to the Head of Service where appropriate.

12.6 Post implementation evaluation arrangements

Key Performance Indicators

e Measure technical work against the designs and specifications
e Track budget and expenditure
e Project management

12.7 Contingency arrangements/exit strategy

Current temporary works are the contingency arrangements until the permanent works are
implemented. Weather shall be monitored to ensure that the works are not carried out during
storms or adverse weather.

Page 104



16. Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration

13.1 Conclusions

This business case describes essential reinstatement works to keep the efficacy of current
coastal erosion defences. The works are considered relatively urgent.

This business case seeks approval to use £160,000 of funds currently allocated to a completed
capital project under code M-EN-600135.

13.2 Salient issues for consideration

Page 105



Note: There are numerous business case models that can be used to demonstrate the need
for your project to a commissioner. This business case template is designed according to
HM Treasury’s Five Case Model. For further information, please see the detailed Green
Book supplementary guidance by clicking here.

Dorset Council

Business Case

Children’s Social Care

Residential Sufficiency

January 24

Foster and Kinship Carers Adaptations
Capital Fund

Page 106


https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/469317/green_book_guidance_public_sector_business_cases_2015_update.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/469317/green_book_guidance_public_sector_business_cases_2015_update.pdf

Contents

. Executive Summary
. Business Case details
. Strategic Case

. Economic Case

. Commercial Case

. Financial Case

. Management case

86
89
89
96
98
104
105

8. Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration Error! Bookmark not defined.

9. Appendices

Error! Bookmark not defined.

Document Control

Document Title

Foster and Kinship Carers Adaptations Capital Fund

Version V5 for inclusion in the Cabinet paper
Author Jo Twine
Date 5% November 24

Further copies from

Jo Twine

Page 107




1. Executive Summary

This report sets out the business case for a £1M capital fund to be created by Dorset Council for
the financial year 24/25 to invest in foster carers and kinship homes to address housing related
barriers to children having “a loving, safe and stable home”*, to keep families together**and for
social care placement cost avoidance.

This business case addresses a need that is not in scope of any other existing or emerging
business case across Dorset, so has been brought forward as a discrete business case for
consideration as part of 24/25’s capital budget setting. Having this fund in place, will allow the
Fostering and Adoption teams to work differently with existing and newly recruited foster
carers, kinship carers and adopters to meet the needs of children and families from the date of
approval as it will take some time to develop specific proposals and finalise the optimum
commercial arrangements with colleagues in finance, procurement and legal.

It is expected that a variety of proposals in different circumstances will be developed, as all
families and children’s needs are different and that these will test the effectiveness of this fund
in practice in Dorset and its impact on the placements budget before any further investment
might be made by Dorset. Many other authorities have had funds to achieve this outcome for
some years and so there is learning in the sector that Dorset can benefit from. Capital can be
spent on land, construction works, vehicles and ICT hardware.

Assets and capital can create the settings needed to achieve Dorset’s ambition to keep children
with their families and extended families. The pace and scale of supporting Dorset residents to
adapt and extend their property to meet the needs of their extended family and Dorset’s
children and young people must be increased. Assets and capital can also reduce running costs
and so save revenue in two ways — firstly through carbon and energy efficiency and secondly,
fitness for purpose as safe accommodation and appropriately designed accommodation,
reduces the risk of harm to children and young people and the staff or family help needed to
meet need.

In addition, it is proposed that the evaluation of impact of this fund will be included in the
Families First for Children Pathfinder (FFfCP) programme. The FFfCP programme will seek a
capital contribution for local authorities from government in future for this purpose. The Dorset
£1M capital fund will demonstrate the impact on children, young people and families that this
investment can have and the cost avoidance in each case too.

The key issues for this business case are:

* How to deliver investment at speed to foster carers to meet need as it arises — time is
of the essence when keeping families together, especially at times of crisis, so
governance must be robust and at pace. Adopting a similar approach as currently
used for the Disabled Facilities Grant, which is an outsourced service that delivers
£5M pa of grant funding.

Page 108



How to protect Dorset Council’s investment in foster carers properties in a
proportionate, enforceable, and timely way and consider how to avoid attracting VAT
liabilities to the Council.

How we will use this Dorset commitment to seek additional funding from the DfE,
DLUHC and Innovate UK funding as part of the Families First for Children programme.

*The Families First for Children Pathfinder programme was announced in February 2023 as part

of the government’s children’s social care implementation strategy, Stable homes, built on love.

It responds to recommendations from the Independent review of children’s social care, the Child
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report on child protection in England and the Competitions
and Market Authority’s market study of children’s social care provision. The pathfinder will test

delivery of key strategy commitments.

**The Safeguarding Families Together programme.

There is much existing activity across Dorset Council to address housing, including the list below
which this paper has been coordinated with.

Existing programmes:

Foster Carers Adaptations Policy, approved by CSLT in December 23 as the basis of this
business case. Attached at Appendix 1 of this business case.

Kinship carers accommodation

Children’s Services Residential Sufficiency programme 2024-27

Permanence Strategy

Mockingbird programme

Housing Strategy

Supported Accommodation capital programme.

Birth to Settled Adulthood programme.

Building Better Lives programme.

Children and Adult Mental Health services (Tier 3.5 in partnership with the NHS).
Single homeless accommodation bid that has been submitted

Supported Lodgings

Shared Lives programme

Introduction and purpose of this strategy

Dorset Council is committed to supporting a child’s right to family life and we are focused on

providing homes, settings, and services that:

Page 109


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report

*  Support families to care for their own children preventing the need for children to enter
the care system.

* Support extended families to care for children through kinship care arrangements.

*  Support children to live in a family setting wherever possible when in care.

*  Provide loving and stable homes for children while they are in our care.

*  Provide high quality and safe accommodation for care leavers.

The Children’s Services’ family includes Dorset’s children, young people and their families who
need suitable and affordable housing to provide “a loving, safe and stable home”* and to keep
families together *Families First for Children programme. As children grow up into young adults
and to keep siblings together it is important to address housing related barriers.

This might be foster carers or kinship carers who need additional space in their homes to keep
siblings together for example. The parents, families and carers provide the love, but a safe and
stable home is also crucial. Poor and inappropriate housing or homelessness always results in poor
outcomes for children and their families. While the Families First for Children programme will
address the carers and the process, the housing issues must be addressed at the same time if the
outcomes of the programme are to be achieved.

The protected characteristic in Dorset’s equalities assessments of being a care-leavers are
testament to challenges these young people have faced. This programme and investment that will
allow foster carers and adopters to keep children in their homes, will result in better outcomes
for children currently in care when they become care leavers. Their life chances will be improved
because of the stability this fund will provide and they will cost Dorset less. Any parent of a
teenager for example, will know how important that second bathroom, or garage, or garden, or
loft space is to promote independence, while still providing support as young people mature and
learn about life. If a child or young person has any Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities
then adapting homes to promote independence is especially important to support their transition
into adulthood.

Work on the residential sufficiency strategy is ongoing with children, young people and carers and
partners such as health, third sector and the private sector. The residential strategy may make
additional proposals in due course, but this business case is concerned only with the foster and
kinship carers’ adaptations capital programme.

The development of the residential sufficiency strategy will include a thorough study of existing
Dorset capital programmes to strengthen and increase collaborative working that already exists
with adults, housing and the other programmes as set out above. In addition, the strategy will
develop creative asset and capital-based models that self-fund, avoid cost or raise income for
consideration to fund any future needs identified for residential sufficiency. It is acknowledged
that there is no additional capital available without being self-funding or providing an evidence-
based return on investment.

The purpose of this capital investment is to meet the needs of children in care in a loving, safe and
stable home. This approach is tried and tested across the country, but to be delivered quickly

Page 110



enough to have the impact needed, lessons can be learned about the approach to the commercial
elements of the transaction from elsewhere. A high level of trust is placed in our foster carers
when they provide a home for a Dorset child, so a light touch is proposed with this fund that is
both quick and reflects the trust and commitment between us.

2. Business Case details

Project Name Foster and Kinship Carers homes adaptations

Project Sponsor Theresa Leavy

Project Manager Jo Twine

Service description Social care placements cost avoidance

Partner organisation(s) Individual kinship and foster carers and supply chain partners
Project Reference 5% November 24

3.  Strategic Case

The Strategic Case demonstrates that the proposed investment fits with the strategic direction of
meeting the needs of children in care. The strategic case is based on a robust and evidence-based
case for change where children stay in kinship arrangements, or if in care are fostered in family
settings, rather than in children’s homes. These foster carers also live in Dorset, which also avoids
placements outside of Dorset, sometimes long distances away. Dorset staff must travel to support
these children and care leavers, wherever they may have been placed. The change from children’s
homes to kinship arrangements and fostering is required as the outcomes for children in care and
care leavers are not good enough. Having the loving, safe and stable home that the Families First
for Children Pathfinder also requires can be achieved through this investment. It is anticipated
that with this investment children will be happier, healthier and achieve and attain more. The full
residential business case can evaluate and measure the full societal impact of these proposals.

3.1 The proposal

The proposal is for a £1M capital fund to be created by Dorset Council for the financial year
24/25 to invest in foster carers homes to address housing related barriers to children having “a
loving, safe and stable home”*, to keep families together, including in kinship
arrangements**and for social care placement cost avoidance.

This business case addresses a need that is not in scope of any other existing or emerging
business case across Dorset, so has been brought forward as a discrete business case for

Page 111



consideration as part of 24/25’s capital budget setting. Having this fund in place, will allow the
Fostering and Adoption teams to work differently with existing and newly recruited foster carers
and adopters to meet the needs of children and families from the date of approval as it will take
some time to develop specific proposals. It is expected that a variety of proposals in different
circumstances will be developed, as all families and children’s needs are different and that these
will test the effectiveness of this fund in practice in Dorset and its impact on the placements
budget before any further investment might be made by Dorset. Many other authorities have
had funds to achieve this outcome for some years and so there is learning in the sector that
Dorset can benefit from.

In addition, it is proposed that the evaluation of impact of this fund will be included in the
Families First for Children Pathfinder (FFfCP) programme. The FFfCP programme will seek a
capital contribution for local authorities from government in future for this purpose. The Dorset
£1M capital fund will demonstrate the impact on children, young people and families that this
investment can have and the cost avoidance in each case too.

The key issues for this business case are:

* How to deliver investment at speed to foster carers to meet need as it arises — time is
of the essence when keeping families together, especially at times of crisis, so
governance must be robust and at pace. Adopting a similar approach as currently used
for the Disabled Facilities Grant, which is an outsourced service that delivers £5M pa of
grant funding.

* How to protect Dorset Council’s investment in foster carers properties in a
proportionate, enforceable, and timely way and consider how to avoid attracting VAT
liabilities to the Council.

*  How we will use this Dorset commitment to seek additional funding from the DfE,
DLUHC and Innovate UK funding as part of the Families First for Children programme.

*The Families First for Children Pathfinder programme was announced in February 2023 as part
of the government’s children’s social care implementation strategy, Stable homes, built on love.

It responds to recommendations from the Independent review of children’s social care, the Child
Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report on child protection in England and the Competitions
and Market Authority’s market study of children’s social care provision. The pathfinder will test
delivery of key strategy commitments.

**The Safeguarding Families Together programme.

3.2 The case for change

3.2.1 Alignment with commissioner objectives/priorities

The new residential sufficiency strategy sets out the Dorset Promise, as set out below, which
sets out commissioner objectives and priorities.

Page 112


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-review-into-the-murders-of-arthur-labinjo-hughes-and-star-hobson
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-market-study-final-report

“It takes a community to make a difference to the lives of our care experienced children and
young people.

In making this promise to you, we share our responsibilities by working with people who can
help make this happen.

We will do this by:
* Keeping our word. Being honest, kind and reliable
+ Listening to you and involving you
*  Working with you
* Helping you to be safe
*  Supporting you with your health and wellbeing
» Supporting you to live your life by providing you with opportunities and
activities, and celebrating your achievements
* Helping you to have aspirations for your future
* Supporting you to be steady and settled as adult

You can see our full promise on the Council’s website The Dorset Promise - Dorset Council.

Dorset Council is committed to supporting a child’s right to family life and we are focused on
providing homes, settings, and services that:

*  Support families to care for their own children preventing the need for children
to enter the care system.

*  Support extended families to care for children through kinship care
arrangements.

*  Support children to live in a family setting wherever possible when in care.

* Provide loving and stable homes for children while they are in our care.

*  Provide high quality and safe accommodation for care leavers.

Keeping children in care within or as close to Dorset and with families — in kinship arrangements
or with foster carers is the priority. Not only does it mean the child is able to retain and gain
support from important relationships with people within their community, but also means
Dorset staff don’t need to travel so far to provide support to Dorset’s children in care’s needs.
This strategy will mean cost avoidance in the short term in terms of staff savings —time and
travel costs saved, but more importantly because a care leaver will have grown up in a loving,
safe and stable home they will be supported throughout their lives as they grow with their
community and will require less Dorset Council help. This cost avoidance over the long term is
significant.

3.2.2 Fit with national policy

Our legal duties

Page 113


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/children-families/childrens-social-care/children-in-care/going-into-care/the-dorset-promise
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/children-families/childrens-social-care/children-in-care/going-into-care/the-dorset-promise
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/children-families/childrens-social-care/children-in-care/going-into-care/the-dorset-promise
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/children-families/childrens-social-care/children-in-care/going-into-care/the-dorset-promise

There are a range of legal duties associated with an overall ‘Sufficiency Duty’ on local authorities
as part of the Children Act, 1989, to secure accommodation for children in their care within the
local authority area:

Section 17(1) sets out the general duty of a local authority to provide a range and
level of services to children in need and their families in a local area that are
appropriate to their needs

Section 20 requires local authorities to provide accommodation for children in need
within the area if they appear to require accommodation.

Section 21 requires a local authority to accommodate certain children who are
remanded or who are subject to a criminal court order.

When deciding on the most appropriate placement, Section 22 requires a local
authority to give preference to a placement with a relative, friend or other person
connected with the child and who is also a local authority foster parent.

Section 22C sets out additional factors which must be taken into consideration
when deciding the most appropriate placement:

o Allowing child to live near their home. o Not disrupting child’s
education/training o  Enabling the child and other sibling to live
together.

o Meeting the needs of disabled children
Providing accommodation in the local authority area unless that is not
reasonably practicable.
The Children and Social Work Act 2017, extends the duties on all local authorities to
have regard to a set of Corporate Parenting Principles when exercising their
functions in relation to children in care and care leavers up to the age of 25.

National Strategy: Stable Homes Built on Love

Following an Independent Review of Children’s Social Care, the government published a new
strategy ‘Stable Homes Built on Love’, which brings forward a range of plans to reform how

children’s social care is delivered and has changed the national context for social care placement
sufficiency. These reforms are being tested through a number of different pathfinders, the most
relevant of which to this strategy are the ‘Families First’ and ‘Regional Care Cooperative’

pathfinders.

Families First

Dorset Council has been invited to be a pathfinder authority to implement the reforms under
the Families First for Children programme, the key strands of which are:

Family Help — establishing locally based multi-disciplinary teams that work
collaboratively with partners to provide intensive, non-stigmatising and effective
support that is tailored to the needs of children and families.

Child Protection — a more specialised service response involving workforce
transformation.

Page 114


https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love/guide-for-children-and-young-people-stable-homes-built-on-love
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/childrens-social-care-stable-homes-built-on-love/guide-for-children-and-young-people-stable-homes-built-on-love

*  Family Networks — greater use of family care and support, with earlier use of family
group decision-making, with support to enable more children to live at home or to
transition into kinship care.

« Safeguarding Partners — greater clarity on multi-agency roles and responsibilities,
and an increased role for education providers.

We will work on testing and learning from these new approaches over the next 2 years before
wider roll out across the country.

Regional Care Cooperatives

Regional Care Cooperatives have been recommended to address challenges with care
provision across the country. They are described as a model for providing homes for children
where responsibility for planning, commissioning and delivery sits at a regional level, rather
than with individual local authorities. The government’s intended outcome of this approach
is improved planning which increases the available number of care placements and enables
local authorities to manage the care market. Regional areas have been invited to participate
in these pathfinders. Dorset Council, along with 13 other local authorities in the South-West
has expressed an interest in becoming a regional care cooperative and have moved to phase
2. Regional Care Collaboratives will be required to focus on the following activities:

1. Carrying out regional data analysis and forecasting future needs of homes for
children in care, in partnership with health and justice.

2. Developing and publishing a regional sufficiency strategy setting out current
provision and action to fill gaps.

3. Market shaping, working as one customer with providers to address local needs,
improve value for money and commission the care places required from
external providers. This should include responding to the recommendation from
the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report on safeguarding children
with complex needs in residential settings “to improve commissioning for
children with disabilities and complex health needs”, in conjunction with health
partners.

4. Recruiting foster parents through a regional recruitment support hub and
improving the support offer to both new and existing foster parents. The RCC
could also include support for foster parents through involvement of regional
health partners, e.g. named nurse for children in care, potentially to help
address skills needs around providing trauma-informed care.

5. Developing new regional provision where gaps have been identified.

3.2.3 Customer user needs — current and future

Our Care Family

Snapshot October 2023 (turn into infographic)
«  Our children in care:
o 465 children in our care

Page 115



0 399 children from Dorset
0 66 unaccompanied children
o 49 of our children in care have a disability
o The majority of our children in care (77%) are White or White British with 23%
from Black and Minority ethnic groups - The care we provide:
o Our children in care are most likely to be living with foster carers (310, 67%) o
58 children are living with connected carers o 53 children are living
in residential children’s homes
o Half of our unaccompanied children live in supported accommodation o
196 children in care are living outside Dorset (42%)

. Our Care Leavers o We have 542 care experienced young people in
our care leaver family o 306 are receiving a service from a
Personal Advisor. Of these: 0 52 are former unaccompanied children

0 139 are male

0 164 are female

0 33 have a disability

0 79% of our care leavers are White or White British with 21%
from

Black and Minority ethnic groups

0 98% of our care leavers are in suitable accommodation

0 60% of our care leavers are in Education, Employment and
Training

The need for care placements is reducing, so Dorset’s strategy and services are working for
children and families. However, the costs of providing the necessary support and to so many
children outside of Dorset is placing a pressure on social care placements budgets. This investment
will start to address this budget pressure and is scalable.

Helping extended family to enter into kinship arrangements is Dorset’s priority and the
recruitment of foster carers is a persistent challenge. This investment will encourage more people
to meet the needs of more children if they have the right setting. For example, an Auntie or Uncle
may be able to care for a child with space or when foster carers or kinship carers may work from
home, they will need a space suitable for the work. If this is considered a barrier to kinship or
fostering by someone, then fixing this capital funded need will make a difference. Any parent of a
teenager for example, will know how important that second bathroom, or garage, or garden, or
loft space is to promote independence, while still providing support as young people mature and
learn about life.

Page 116



This capital investment fund is completely scalable. One of the intentions is to seek capital finding
from central government. The same processes would apply irrespective of the scale of investment.
The £1M fund could secure 10-15 new kinship or fostering arrangements. A larger fund would
secure more kinship or foster care arrangements in a direct proportion to the investment.
Following the evaluation of this pilot scheme, it will be possible to consider the impact of scaling
up the fund in future years.

In this section the benefits for Dorset’s children are set out - improved life chances and
improved mental health. In the economic and financial sections further benefits are set out.

Building trust is a benefit from this capital fund being approved, as well as a risk. A high level of
trust is placed in our foster carers when they provide a home for a Dorset child, so a light touch is
proposed with this fund that is both quick and reflects the trust and commitment between us.

Cumbersome, slow and expensive protections such as charges on mortgages for small investments
is not proportionate and adds to the transaction costs. This undermines the benefits from the
social care placement budget if savings made through reducing transaction costs are then
replaced by the transaction costs of commercial staff.

The key risks are ensuring that Dorset Council’s investment achieves the outcome sought for the
period of the agreement — five years and a proportionate transaction cost and process.

There is much existing activity across Dorset Council to address housing, including the list below
which this paper has been coordinated with. These have dependencies to this paper.

In terms of constraints the matter of a Housing Revenue Account for Dorset Council is important.
This business case does not propose acquiring homes int Dorset Council ownership and so avoids
a dependency to this commercial issue.

A further constraint is the treatment of VAT to the capital fund. VAT is not recoverable on grants
awarded to families where they deliver the works themselves. This can make a difference of 20%
to the total cost of the works. This business case seeks to keep all options open at this early stage
of the pilot scheme so we can fully evaluate and assess all the commercial issues in the round. We
will bring back an evaluation report to PSP AMG and CSAM within one year to inform any future
funding.

Existing programmes:

. Foster Carers Adaptations Policy, approved by CSLT in December 23 as the basis of this
business case. Attached at Appendix 1 of this business case.

Page 117



. Children’s Services Residential Sufficiency programme 2024-27

. Permanence Strategy

. Mockingbird programme

. Housing Strategy

. Supported Accommodation capital programme.

. Birth to Settled Adulthood programme.

. Building Better Lives programme.

. Children and Adult Mental Health services (Tier 3.5 in partnership with the NHS).

. Single homeless accommodation bid that has been awarded to us and is in delivery
now.

. Supported Lodgings

. Shared Lives programme

For example, there may be a need for more supported accommodation arising from the emerging
Residential Sufficiency Strategy, but there is an existing framework with capacity and capital
funding in place already, so no need to duplicate at this early stage. If further supported
accommodation is needed, then it would be better to increase the capital funding for existing
programmes rather than create new duplicate ones.

This investment will result in an increase in the number of Dorset foster carers we are able to
recruit. If we are able to show that this fund is in place, we can work proactively with prospective
foster carers to remove barriers in keeping children with their foster families.

4, Economic Case

This section of the Business Case assesses the economic costs and benefits of the proposal to
society as a whole and spans the entire period covered by the proposal. Providing children in care
with a loving, safe and stable home will mean care leavers are self-sufficient, resilient, employed
and contribute to their communities. This is also a very cost-effective set of outcomes for Dorset
Council’s placement budget and staff costs and travel expenses.

4.1 Appraisals of costs and benefits

This investment proposal aims to fix a ‘market’ challenge of inadequate foster carers to meet the
needs of Dorset’s children in care. Sometimes small interventions in the home e.g. a garden room
can make a big difference to a family and how they all live together. Especially if siblings are to be
fostered together.

Foster care is wanted for children, rather than children’s homes and is also much cheaper. You
can feel the love in Dorset’s children’s homes, it is palpable. But some are very large and not fit

Page 118



for purpose, have a certain smell and are not safe enough to promote the levels of independence
we want for all Dorset children where appropriate.

The Mockingbird model is in its second year of delivery. Dorset Council’s foster families and the
young people they look after, have bult a resilient and caring community through four
Mockingbird constellations across Dorset. Mockingbird is a global award-winning pioneering
programme which nurtures the relationships between children and foster families through each
constellation of six to ten satellite families. To avoid foster care placements breakdowns, the
support provided by others who are in the same position is invaluable. In most birth families, the
extended family provides support, care and respite to parents and young people and this model
replicates that.

Through Mockingbird, carers receive non-judgmental peer to peer support and advice and young
people build a greater sense of identity and belonging. Young people are also provided with an
opportunity to build safe, loving and lasting relationships at eth same time as being able to spend
time with other young people who have had similar life experiences.

This business case will offer these constellations of carers the opportunity to address
accommodation and setting barriers to meeting Dorset’s children’s needs. Across a constellation
in carers homes, we will seek to meet the needs of more children and young people. The use of
capital in this way is revenue cost avoidance.

4.2 Critical success factors to achieving the Economic Case
Foster carers need to remain foster carers or adopters for the full five years of the agreement.
The quality and standards of foster care and community support has to be high.

Pace at which projects can be agreed by Dorset Council. This has to be balanced by the rigour
with which the due diligence is carried out as the primary basis of protecting the Council’s
investment. It is too costly to effect charges on mortgages in most cases and a typical
investment may be £100,000. It is only for investments over £150,000 that this approach would
be pursued. Instead of assuming failure of the foster carer, we can assume success.

There are two approaches that could be adopted to deliver the funding and the key difference
relates to VAT treatment, as follows:

* The first approach is to grant the capital directly to families and undertake quality
assurance and benchmark rates etc. and inspect the works. This activity can all be
funded from the capital pot and be procured with full professional indemnity insurance
from a local consultancy firm. This would attract the full VAT liability to Dorset Council,
which could not be recovered by the Council. This has lower on-costs, but when you
take the VAT position into account, this will be different. It also carries different risks
e.g. lack of control or visibility.

Page 119



* The second approach is to manager and deliver the works through an existing provider
and contractor who currently works for Dorset Council and delivers the Disabled
Facilities Grant.

This would have much higher on-costs but would not attract VAT so may well balance
out. This approach would be less risky in commercial aspects but involves Council
contractors working with families directly with great sensitivity.

4.3 Risk assessment
Risks include the following:

* Young people who are care experienced have historically had worse outcomes than
children who are not. The approach to providing a family home should improve
outcomes for care experienced children, but there is a risk that they do not.

* That there are two different ways to deliver the investment with different risks that
must be fully evaluated and debated to agree the optimum approach to delivering the
scheme.

* That the investment may not secure the length of care that we expect as a return for
the investment e.g. five years or as agreed with the foster carers.

* That VAT matters need to be fully explored and understood.

* There being adequate expert and experienced and quality assured local contractors in
supply chains able to deliver the works.

5. Commercial Case

The Commercial Case demonstrates that the project will result in a viable and well-structured
procurement solution as this will only arise when foster carers are fully endorsed and approved
to be foster carers. Only then, will families be able to apply to this fund. The home-owner will
appoint an approved team to deliver the project complying with all health and safety standards.
Procurement will not need to be compliant with public procurement legislation as will be low
value and procured directly by the home-owner.

Where the home-owner is a Registered Provider arrangements will be made directly with them
to protect the tenancy so as to support permanence for the child or young person.

There are two approaches that could be adopted to deliver the funding and the key difference
relates to VAT treatment, as follows:

* The first approach is to grant the capital directly to families and undertake quality
assurance and benchmark rates etc. and inspect the works. This activity can all be
funded from the capital pot and be procured with full professional indemnity insurance
from a local consultancy firm. This would attract the full VAT liability to Dorset Council,
which could not be recovered by the Council. This has lower on-costs, but when you

Page 120



take the VAT position into account, this will be different. It also carries different risks
e.g. lack of control or visibility.

* The second approach is to manager and deliver the works through an existing provider
and contractor who currently works for Dorset Council and delivers the Disabled
Facilities Grant. This would have much higher on-costs but would not attract VAT so may
well balance out. This approach would be less risky in commercial aspects but involves
Council contractors working with families directly with great sensitivity.

The commercial aspects of these two options relate to the capacity, quality and scalability of the
local small contractor and specialist contractors” markets in the locations where the works are
undertaken. This is an opportunity for Dorset Council to support economic growth and social
value through its investments — this could be a home and a job for a young person if set up ina
circular economy structure. How can we squeeze every opportunity out of the funding we have
available to us?

We will need to compare the two approaches to test out how each option meets the following
criteria.

* Delivery of value for money
*  Optimum social value e.g. employment opportunities too

* Delivery of highest quality standard of finished works and highest levels of health and
safety and consideration

* Availability of consultants and contractors in a local area
* Availability of materials
*  Supply chain market development opportunities — start-ups and Dorset artisans

* Pace of delivery

5.1 Approval Process

As set out above, there are two different approaches which could be adopted to deliver this
programme. One approach is to grant the capital and the other is to procure a contract for a
contractor to undertake the works on behalf of Dorset Council, just in kinship or foster carers

homes. The main considerations as to which process would work best are.

*  Each kinship arrangement or foster carers circumstances will be different so the

maximum flexibility for commissioners is required — strategic and economic case

* Transaction costs. — financial and management case
* VAT treatment —financial case

* Availability and quality of supply chain in locality — commercial case

Page 121



* Procurement arrangements for each approach — different in each case — commercial
case

Irrespective of the preferred route for delivery, the first stage is always the same.
First Stage

Where a foster carer has applied for funding towards an extension or adaptation, Dorset Council
will arrange for a surveyor to inspect the foster carer’s property and assess the feasibility of

options for the extension or adaptation and process to be followed.

This part of the process is proposed to out-sourced to Millbrook as an extension to their existing
contract. We have met with Elspeth Bridges to discuss this possibility and this works particularly
well as the current DFG grant is being reduced from £5M to £4M so this funding retains the same
level of spend through this competitively procured contract. Discussions have been jointly held
between Children’s Services and the Housing Team with all partners throughout the

development of this business case.

Then there are two options as set out below. The financial aspects of these two options are set

out in the financial case.

5.1.1 Kinship and Foster Carers being granted the capital directly, which would mean the
unrecoverable VAT would have to be funded by Dorset Council and add 20% to the cost of the
project. This is not the preferred route for delivery, but commissioners should have the

maximum flexibility for the pilot scheme to have the most impact on children and their families.

Where a foster carer has applied for funding towards an extension or adaptation, Dorset
Council will arrange for a surveyor to inspect the foster carer’s property and assess the
feasibility of options for the extension or adaptation and to determine the process to be
followed. This surveyors can be a direct Dorset Council employee or from a contracted prover

such as Millbrook.

The Fostering & permanency Service Manager will then discuss the available options with the

foster carer so that a preferred option can be agreed.

A financial and affordability assessment of the foster carer will be carried out to confirm
whether the foster carer can contribute to the cost of the extension or adaptation if the total
cost of the building works and associated costs might exceed the maximum contribution which
Dorset Council will agree to. Land Registry searches will be carried out in relation to the foster

carer’s title to the property to check the legal ownership of the property and to identify any

Page 122



registered legal charges or restrictive covenants affecting the property. The Council will not
consider contributing funding towards the extension or adaptation if the Council is not
satisfied with the outcome of the Land Registry searches or the financial assessment for any

reason.

If the Council is satisfied with the outcome of the financial assessment and the result of the
Land Registry searches, the application will then be submitted to the Sufficiency Board who
will consider the request and the future cost savings associated with increased capacity. There

is no guarantee that the foster carer’s application or the funding will be approved.

If the Fostering and permanency Service Manager refuses the application, the foster carer will
be informed in writing with reasons for the application not being approved. The applicant may

appeal to the board within 30 days of written evidence of refusal.

5.1.2 Contract with Millbrook existing provider of the Disabled Facilities Grant as a competitively
procured partner already with Dorset and providing high quality and value for money
services and works

The second approach is to manager and deliver the works through an existing provider and
contractor who currently works for Dorset Council and delivers the Disabled Facilities Grant. This
would have much higher on-costs but would not attract VAT so may well balance out. This
approach would be less risky in commercial aspects but involves Council contractors working
with families directly with great sensitivity.

This business case proposes that kinship and foster carers adaptations be delivered through this
existing Dorset contract. This would be through a variation to the existing contract.

A detailed service specification and operating processes will be developed with commissioners
and Millbrook if this business case is approved.

5.2 Procurement strategy

Under option 1 - The home-owner will appoint an approved team to deliver the project
complying with all health and safety standards. Procurement will not need to be compliant
with public procurement legislation as will be low value and procured directly by the home-
owner.

Option 2 — procured through Millbrook would be a variation to an existing Dorset contract. In
addition the DFG is being reduced next year from £5M to £4M and so this retains the planned
spend (and so Millbrook can avoid reducing staff) to meet the original value of the procured
contract.

Page 123



5.3 Contractual arrangements
If funding is approved in principle at the Sufficiency Board, the kinship or foster carer

will be notified of the approval.

Where a housing association is involved, they will be the contractual party to the
project.

The kinship or foster carer or the Council’s agents (Millbrook) must then obtain and
submit to the Fostering and permanency Service within six months of approval (or
other timescales which may be agreed with the Council at the Council’s discretion).
Often pace is crucial in keeping families together and so we would encourage with two

months to be the target for this period:

* evidence of all necessary drawings, licences, permissions, and consents relating
to the extension or adaptation and the proposed charge which will be

registered on the foster carer’s property; and

* competitive quotes including schedules of works for the proposed building

works from three independent building contractors.

* A suitably qualified advisor with professional indemnity insurance (This would

be Millbrook in the out-sourced option).

The Fostering & Permanency Service and the Council’s surveyor (to be out-sourced to
Millbrook) will review the quotes for the building works. The Fostering & Permanency
Service will decide with the kinship or foster carer and the qualified advisor which
quote is best value for money taking into consideration price and quality. If the kinship
or foster carer identifies a building contractor which is more expensive than other
contractors or the surveyors initial estimate of cost but has the funds to pay the
additional cost this will be considered, and they will need to commit to providing the
additional funds. However, ultimately, the Corporate Director for Care and Protection
in collaboration with the Housing Service, may apply discretion regarding which

contractors to appoint.

Once a decision has been taken to proceed with the building works, the kinship or

foster carer will be required to enter a legally binding contract with Dorset Council

Page 124



before the works may commence and the first instalment of funds will be released. The
kinship or foster carer will be given a reasonable amount of time to seek independent

legal advice in respect of the contract before entering it.

The amount of capital investment made by Dorset Council will be referenced in the
legally binding contract, and be shown as a percentage of the total value of the

property.

If the foster carer ceases to offer placements to children in care prior to 5 years of the
completion of the building works, then the monies will be repayable without charge of

interest to Dorset Council at Dorset Council’s discretion on the following basis:
Year 1 -100%
Year 2 —80%

Year 3 — 60%

Year 4 —30%

Year 5 -0%

If the foster carer sells their home within 5 years of the completion of the building

works then any funds are expected to be paid back in accordance with the profile

above.
The monies will not be repayable to Dorset Council in the following circumstances:

* The foster carer has had a child in placement for 5 years or more from the date

on which the building works were completed.

* The foster carer has ceased to foster because they have adopted a child in
placement; or
* The foster carer ceases to foster because they have obtained a child

Arrangement Order or a Special Guardianship Order for a child in placement.

* If a decision is made via the Sufficiency Board if the foster carer has developed
significant health issues and can no longer continue to offer placements to
children in care.

Page 125



5.4 Charging mechanism

Does not apply.

6. Financial Case

The Financial Case demonstrates that the project will result in a fundable and affordable
arrangement for the decision-maker. You need to summarise the overall capital and revenue
affordability of the project, including any additional funding requirements.

Apart from the impact on outcomes for the children for whom Dorset Council are the parents,
this business case can demonstrate cost avoidance to the revenue account.

The key issue for this financial case is the treatment of VAT. Two different approaches to the
pilot are proposed for evaluation and more detailed consideration if the capital allocation is
approved. If works are delivered by the kinship or foster carer themselves then the Council
may have to pay 20% unrecoverable VAT on these works. This may render some projects
unaffordable and also affect the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

5.5 Capital and revenue requirements

The capital required is £1M for the 2024/25 year. The on-costs can be capitalised as part of each
project delivered. If a project does not proceed then any up front work may need to be returned
to revenue, so this should be accounted for. But the aim is to secure the right projects and kinship
and foster carers from the outset and see projects delivered as quickly as possible.

6.2 Summary of cost to benefit

Description Value of Cost Net
investment | avoidance cumulative
revenue revenue
yrl benefit Yrs
Yrl 1-5
Capital for one foster carers adaptations for one child £100k 297,388 £1,486,940
capital

Page 126




Capital to administer foster carers adaptation £10k capital

Revenue if say 1 project does not progress? £10k
revenue
spend for
abortive
works

6.3 Resource requirements

Balance of funding requested

Year 12015/16 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 2018/19
2016/17 2017/18
Total £1,000,000
Capital on costs £100,000

* See management case for external provider to be commissioned to undertake a pilot
project to deliver the capital investment from an existing supplier who provides the
DFG process for adults — Millbrook.

6.3.1 Requirements in order to realise savings

The critical thing is for the kinship or foster carer or kinship carer to meet the needs of a Dorset
child who is in Dorset Council’s care.

6.4 Non-financial benefits

The non-financial benefits include improving life chances and outcomes for children who are
care experienced.

7. Management case

This management case for foster carers and kinship carers demonstrates that the project is
capable of being delivered successfully, in accordance with recognised best practice.

It is proposed to deliver the investment as a pilot scheme to mirror the arrangements
currently in place for the Disabled Facilities Grant. Following a procurement process,
Millbrook were appointed by Dorset Council’s housing services to deliver the Disabled
Facilities Grant. The DFG capital allocation is c.£5M and requires 10 staff in the Millbrook
team to deliver. A pilot scheme to deliver £1M in the same way would need c.2 staff for one

Page 127



year. The estimated cost of this is assumed to be £100k for the purposes of this business
case to establish the pilot scheme and assess impact.

Programme and project management plans

A project management plan for the pilot scheme will be developed in partnership with Millbrook.
Millbrook have an experienced and expert team who will be able to help us to detail the
arrangements and risks involved. This process is scheduled to start w/c 19" February and
meetings have been arranged with Millbrook and the housing standards service to develop the
delivery plan.

7.2 Change management arrangements/requirements

This pilot scheme proposes to mirror the Disabled Facilities Grant process and so is not a
departure from current practise.

The shift from residential care (Dorset or external) to foster carers and kinship carers is well
established in Dorset and is also part of the Families First for Children programme.

7.3 Approach to management and delivery of benefits
The benefits are twofold — both in outcomes for children who are care experienced and

financial.

7.4 Approach to risk management

A detailed risk register will be developed and monitored throughout the programme of delivery.
The preferred providers — Millbrook will support the risk management process.

7.5 Monitoring during implementation
Following pilot scheme development with Millbrook, a detailed monitoring regime will be
established. A bi-annual report can be made to CSAM as required.

7.6 Post implementation evaluation arrangements
Following the first year of delivery the impact of the investment will be assessed.

Page 128



Dorset Council

Business Case

Weymouth Harbour Walls

November 2024

Version 5

Page 129



Contents

1.  Executive Summary 52
2. Business Case details 53
3.  Strategic Case 55
4.  Economic Case 59
5.  Commercial Case 60
6. Financial Case 61
7. Management case 64
8.  Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration 65
9. Appendices 125

Document Control

Document Title Weymouth Harbour Walls Business Case

Page 130



Version V5

Author Jessica Maskrey, Matthew Penny
Date November 2024
Further copies from PSP AMG Teams Site

17. Executive Summary

Dorset Council is the harbour authority responsible for Weymouth harbour and as such have a
responsibility to maintain the harbour infrastructure.

Walls E, F&G are situated on the outer parts of Weymouth harbour and the peninsula as shown
on the below plan. Walls 4&4i (Wall 4) are also shown within the inner harbour along the North
Quay frontage. All the walls have reached the end of their design lifetimes and now need
replacement or strengthening work to prevent their failure.

Y
y-__ s

 (addiiona)—2"f

Walls F&G: due to the poor condition of the walls, the stability of and carrying capacity of the
peninsula is being eroded, and parts of the peninsula is compromised and subject to exclusion
zones. Replacement works will prevent erosion and stabilise the peninsula so that those closed
off areas can once more be opened for their intended use, including the proposed development
of the Peninsula area.

Wall E: is also in a poor condition but deterioration is not as pronounced as Walls F&G. The
proposed strengthening works will extend the life of wall, providing improved life expectancy,
operational serviceability and mooring capacity. Design work costs are included within the
requested funding. The improved design life of the wall will provide a stable quayside area of
harbour operations and de-risk the initial phases of the LUF development. Replacement works
for this wall can be included within future phases of the proposed Weymouth FCERM Scheme.

Page 131



Wall 4: the works are complete but minor defects have been identified for remediation. The
strengthening works will extend the design life of the wall by 40 years, assuming regular
maintenance. The cost of the design works for the strengthening scheme will be significantly
covered by the existing LUF allocation.

The Walls F & G works are estimated at £10,446,135 (the estimated costs include construction,
professional fees, public realm improvements, licensing & consents fees, suitable risk
contingency amount plus inflation and optimism bias allowances), whilst the Wall E
strengthening works are forecast to cost £1,791,000. Wall 4 works final costs are forecast to be
£1,560,000. Resulting in a total capital requirement of £13,797,135.

As part of its Levelling Up bid, the council has secured £6.5m, in Levelling Up Funding towards
Walls F&G construction (plus monies to cover professional fees associated with the harbour wall
repairs of £325,000). The LUF MoU states that Dorset Council must contribute additional
funding towards the project as well.

Similarly, Wall 4 is included within the LUF programme and has an estimated cost of £1.5m
within the LUF MoU. £1.0m LUF funding is available with a council match funding of £500,000.
The cost of the Wall 4 works forecast to rise to £1.55m, above the LUF funding level, thereby
requiring council to contribute toward its strengthening. Therefore £560,000 is requested to be
added to the capital programme for FY24/25 to cover the council contribution.

The funding that council provides toward the Walls 4, E, F&G works will be of benefit toward the
Weymouth FCERM Scheme, because the effective cost of the scheme over the 100-year strategy
period will be reduced. The scheme is currently at the outline business case stage of
development and will give it a greater chance of success. The Weymouth FCERM Scheme has a
cabinet approved Strategy (2020) and Strategic Outline case (2021).

Funding for repairs to Weymouth harbour walls was allocated in the capital programme
2023/2024 to 2026/2027 approved by cabinet on 28 March 2023. (shown in the below table) :

Allocation within 2023/24 capital programme Allocation | Allocation | Available
year Amount Amount
Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Scheme 2023/24 £485,000 £485,000
Weymouth Peninsula including harbour walls 2023/24 £1,450,000 | £540,000
(W&PBC)
Total Available for Contribution | £1,025,000

Page 132


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/280970/Weymouth+FCRM+Strategy+DC+Report+v4.0+Final-compressed.pdf/8f6aeb63-a050-dba0-b141-fa1720cf927b
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s24723/Appendix%201%20-%20Weymouth%20HE%20SOC%20Final.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MId=5364&Ver=4

Of these allocations included within the capital programme, the Weymouth Harbour &
Esplanade FCRM Scheme is CIL allocation, but the Spatial Planning team have confirmed that it
can be used for the purposes of Walls E, F&G construction.

The Weymouth Peninsula including harbour walls (W&PBC) budget is already approved and
allocated upon the capital programme. £410,000 has already been spent and committed this
financial year and another £500,000 is pre-allocated toward essential works for Westham Bridge
sluices, Walls 1 & 2 and cavity formation remedial works. Thus, only £540,000 remains
unallocated and available for contribution toward this business case.

In addition to the above, there is £1.5m of developer contributions (CIL strategic funds)
allocated to Weymouth flood defences. This will increase to £2m, should the annual £500,000
allocation also be included. This business case proposes approval to allocate that £2.0m (and
any future allocations) to this project.

Also available to contribute toward the funds is £168,633.45 of legacy Weymouth s106 flood
defence funds, of which £141,859.77 is specifically committed to Walls F&G on our s106
commitment record. The Spatial Planning have confirmed that some of the S106 agreements
that contribute to the higher balance (£168,633.45) cover specific named improvements
included within the Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study, such as Weymouth Walls B, 7 & 2.
However, walls B, 7 & 2 are not due to have significant work undertaken on them for 5-10 years
and thus there is a risk that those contributions will be unused and must be returned to the
developer. Therefore, it is proposed that the £26,773.68 difference between the two sums also
be allocated to Walls F&G as well. This represents a risk for council but is believed to be a
pragmatic approach and of best overall benefit to the community of Weymouth.

Therefore, this business case seeks approval to draw down the following:

Amount

LUF — construction & professional fees Walls F&G £6,825,000
LUF — construction & professional fees Wall 4 £1,000,000
Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Scheme £485,000
Weymouth Peninsula including harbour walls (W&PBC) £540,000
Weymouth Flood Defences CIL Strategic Funds £2,000,000
Weymouth s106 flood defence funds £168,633
Total £11,018,633

Page 133



This business case also requests an additional £2,778,502 of capital funding (to include the

£1.5m contribution required as part of the LUF funding MOU).

18. Business Case details

Project Name

Weymouth Harbour Walls 4, E, F & G

Project Sponsor

Ken Buchan / Julian Wain / Matthew Piles

Project Manager

Matthew Penny / lan Fitz

Service description

Harbours / Regeneration

Partner organisation(s)

n/a

Project Reference

TBC

Page 134




19. Strategic Case

13.3 The proposal

To undertake works comprising the following in line with the council’s statutory responsibility as
the coastal protection and harbour authority:

e Replacement of wall F

e Replacement of wall G

e Strengthening to Wall E

e Strengthening to Wall 4

e Reinstatement of backfilling material, where material has been lost to washing out.
e Biodiversity Net Gain Improvements (Statutory 10% improvement requirement).

The proposed Walls F&G construction works will replace the sheet pile harbour walls and have a
design life of up to 50 years. The construction work will bring renewed longevity and serviceability
for the walls and adjacent peninsula land, supporting the strategically important LUF
development. The proposed Wall E strengthening works is a significant repair and will extend the
life of Wall E by a minimum of 20 years for the same purpose and enhance harbour operations as
well. There will be the need for regular maintenance requirements to ensure the respective
design life of all walls.

The Wall 4 strengthening work will extend the design life of the North Quay frontage by 40 years.
As well as a harbour quayside wall, it also retains the adjacent highway and is critical for the
proposed North Quay development being progressed by the LUF team. There will also be the need
for regular maintenance requirements to ensure the respective design life of all walls.

Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is a statutory responsibility to leave habitats in measurably better state
than they were before development, including infrastructure renewal like Walls F&G. Developers
must deliver a BNG of 10%. This will require investment that cannot yet be quantified as part of
discussions with Natural England.

13.4 The case for change

13.4.1 Alignment with commissioner objectives/priorities

The Council is responsible for coastal infrastructure renewal in many coastal conurbations,
including Weymouth Harbour, both as landowner and as Coastal Protection Authority.

The council has a statutory responsibility to maintain these assets as the coastal protection and
harbour authority.

Failure to undertake the work to Weymouth harbour walls will diminish the harbour’s ability to

fulfil its functions. Keeping the harbour in a safe and working condition is an obligation that is put
on Dorset Council by the Port Marine Safety Code and Pilotage Act 1987.

Page 135



The works are also key to the council’s Levelling Up ambitions for the redevelopment of the
peninsula and North Quay areas. The external perimeter of each respective area must be safe and
secure to develop the land or continue the current car parking/highway arrangements. Soft
market testing has shown that the wall repairs are needed to derisk the Peninsula & North Quay
projects and ensure high quality developers are attracted to both prime waterside opportunities.

The funding that council provides toward the Walls 4, E, F&G works will be of benefit toward the
Weymouth FCERM Scheme, because the effective cost of the scheme over the 100-year strategy
period will be reduced. The scheme is currently at the outline business case stage of
development and will give it a greater chance of success. The Weymouth FCERM Scheme has a
cabinet approved Strategy (2020) and Strategic Outline case (2021).

13.4.2 Fit with national policy

Dorset Council is established as a Coastal Risk Management Authority, a Flood Risk Management
Authority and as a Statutory and Competent Harbour Authority, by the following acts.

e Coast Protection Act 1949

e Flood and Water Management Act 2010

e Harbours Act 1964

e Pilotage Act 1987
As such the council has a statutory responsibility to maintain coastal, flood and harbour
infrastructure as the statutory and competent authority. The proposed works fall within this
category of responsibility.

Shoreline Management Plan

The Shoreline Management Plan is a national policy and plan, which dictates the level of
intervention to be undertaken by management authorities along the coast. For Weymouth
Harbour the policy dictates a Hold the Line level of intervention. This means that Dorset Council
has the responsibility to maintain the sea defences and infrastructure in that policy area.

The proposed construction works therefore completely align with national policy intentions.

13.4.3 Customer user needs — current and future

The improvement works will also reduce the risk of damage to residential, commercial properties
and businesses that would otherwise be at increased risk of flooding or coastal erosion. Thereby
reducing the exposure of Dorset Council to the risk of any future legal actions.

13.4.4 Improvement of current service delivery arrangements

The improvement works will reduce the risk of damage to residential, commercial properties and
businesses that would otherwise be at increased risk of flooding or coastal erosion. They also
support the delivery of the council’s Levelling Up ambitions.

13.4.5 Potential scope for further development/scalability

Page 136



The Levelling Up Fund (LUF) bid included installation of utility infrastructure and repairs to the

harbour walls at the Peninsula which will allow proposals from private investors/developers for

new residential, commercial and leisure development to be invited.

HGP Architects have designed the preferred option also known as ‘Option B’ which has been

submitted for a pre app with the Dorset Council planning team (18 August 2023) the details of

which are:

= 210 residential units (in 11 blocks), a new 70-bed luxury hotel and over 5,500 sqm of

commercial space together with 365 parking spaces;
= a new public square, where events such as the local seafood festival can take place

(covering the car park below)

= retention and improvement of the Pavilion Theatre, adjoining it with a new commercial

offering to create a contemporary cultural district;

= conversion of the pleasure pier into a cafe/restaurant, lit as a beacon at night;

= apedestrian board walk wrapping the whole perimeter.

13.4.6 Benefits and risks

the vicinity of the harbour

Benefit Category Description Decision- Financial year
maker / benefit is
Customer/ [expected to be
Market achieved
Financial benefits Reduction in future asset maintenance Dorset 25/26
revenue budget Council
Intervention works now will reduce future
capital burden
Economic benefits Reduced risk of flood damage to Customer/ |25/26
commercial properties and businesses in  [Market
the vicinity of the harbour
Enables development of the peninsula
Climate / environmental [Reduced risk of flooding / coastal erosion |Customer/ |25/26
benefits Market
Reduces risk of damage to sensitive
marine environment (including protected
seagrass beds).
Customer benefits Reduced risk of flood damage to Customer/ |25/26
commercial properties and businesses in |market

Efficiency benefits

None

Equalities benefits

The construction of the proposed
development will bring new jobs and once

Page 137




completed increased visitor spending from
improved offer of accommodation, and
new jobs in leisure.

Other

Risk

Mitigation

Risk of injury / death

Undertake capital works

Risk of substantial erosion damage to the peninsula, with possible
utility infrastructure losses and loss of income.

Undertake capital works

Risk the location becomes a public safety hazard. This will result in an
even larger exclusion zone and is almost certainly to adversely affect
the Weymouth Pavilion theatre and its activities. This disruption may
extend to the southern part of Weymouth beach as well.

Undertake capital works

Risk what are currently categorised as urgent works will become
emergency works, which would complicate the work and escalate
costs exponentially.

Undertake capital works

Risk of damage to sensitive marine ecology, most notably protected
seagrass beds. Wall failure will dump rubble and debris on the seabed
and kill off a large part of that marine environment.

Undertake capital works

Supplier delays due to Ukraine conflict / Brexit / COVID / HGV driver
shortage / shipping container shortage.

Contingency built into
budget

Overspend due to increased cost of building supplies or other as yet
unidentified issues.

Contingency built into
budget

Disruption to businesses whilst work is undertaken

Consideration of
compensation

Reputational risk to Dorset Council of failing to act

Undertake capital works

13.4.7 Constraints and dependencies

Release of funding allocated in capital programme.

Impact on Dorset Council leaseholders and other businesses in the vicinity of the works.

Liaison with impacted business owners will be required.

Compensation for impact on businesses may be required.

Page 138




20. Economic Case

14.1 Appraisals of costs and benefits

The costs of the works for Walls 4, E, F&G are as follows:

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26) Total

Professional/Consulting Fees £128,000 £138,153 £203,738 £469,891
Construction £504,000, £1,552,950| £11,120,294| £13,177,244
SI, licencing and planning £112,000 £13,000 £25,000 £150,000
TOTAL EXPENDITURE £744,000( £1,704,103| £11,349,032 £13,797,135

Please note that optimism bias/contingency is built into the above. The works will be undertaken
using well established and well tested construction methods.

The benefits of undertaking the works include:

Prevention of wall failure and subsequent H&S, operational and reputational risks that
could be realised.

The cost of the works will increase if the wall were to fail.

The material protection of residential, commercial properties and businesses that would
otherwise have been at increased risk of flooding or Coastal Erosion.

Protection of commercial and tourism activities that will be allowed to continue and
grow.

Quality of living and community will be preserved and promoted.

Promotion of the safety and confidence of the public, when using the public spaces in
which the infrastructure is situated.

Cut back on revenue expenditure. Should capital funding not be approved, it would
increase the demand on revenue maintenance spend, to attempt to mitigate some of the
required work. However, revenue budgets cannot adequately cover the required
improvement costs and therefore asset decline will continue, resulting in eventual
failure. Capital expenditure would increase the life of the asset by repairing existing
damages and halting further decline. Benefit is therefore derived both from an increased
useful life, as well as the decrease in the need for revenue maintenance expenditure.

Performance indicators

e Measure technical work against the designs and specifications
e Track budget and expenditure
e Project management

14.2 Critical success factors to achieving the Economic Case

Release of capital funding
Completion of works

Page 139



14.3 Risk assessment

See section 3.2.6

Page 140



21. Commercial Case

15.1 Procurement strategy

A Cabinet meeting in January 2024 gave approval to commence procurement for a Walls F&G
contractor and materials. The intent is to procure the work through an open tender process
using the ProContract E-tendering Portal. Due to the nature of the works, it is recommended
that the procurement process is as expedient as possible.

Cabinet approval for the Weymouth Wall E contractor commission will be sought through the
September 2024 procurement paper that is due to presented. Wall 4 has already been tendered
and contractor appointed.

Project team to develop contractor scope and Works information package for all construction
works.

15.2 Contractual arrangements

Once the successful contractor has been awarded the work, construction contracts will be
prepared and signed by the successful contractor and the Council as Employer.

Instructions and payments will be made through standard contract procedures as and when
required to ensure the smooth running of the project when on site.

15.3 Charging mechanism

Once the contract has been signed by all parties, the construction works will follow a typical
construction pathway. Works will be valued monthly by the project administration team.

Payments will then be made from the allocated project budget to the contractor.

The project will also carry a project contingency and optimism bias to ensure that any unknowns
or risks can be funded if required.

Page 141



22. Financial Case

16.1 Capital and revenue requirements

Description Value Start date End date
Capital investment — works to Weymouth Harbour £13,797,135 Jun 2024 Mar 2026
Walls 4, E, F&G.
16.2 Resource requirements
Total funding required
What is it for? When is the cost incurred?
::g)uipment, facilities, external expertise Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Professional/Consulting Fees £128,000 £138,153 £203,738
Construction £504,000 | £1,552,950 | £11,120,294
SI, licencing and planning £112,000 £13,000 £25,000
Total £744,000 £1,704,103 | £11,349,032
Funding currently secured (if any)
Where is it from? When will the money be available?
(Grant, revenue Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
budget, capital 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
budget —include
cost centres if
known)
LUF construction £616,000 £1,696,000 £5,187,973
LUF professional
¢ £128,000 £138,153 £58,874
ees

Page 142




Weymouth Harbour
& Esplanade FCRM
£485,000
Scheme M-EN-
600144
Weymouth
Peninsula including
harbour walls £540,000
(W&PBC) M-EN-
600133
Weymouth Flood
Defences CIL £2,000,000
Strategic Funds
Weymouth s106 £168 633
flood defence funds ’
Total £744,000 £2,374,153 £7,900,480
Staff Resources
When are new staff needed?
Year1 Year 2 Year 3
Service Area/Function FTE’s Ql1|Q2|Q3|Q|Q1|Q2({a3| Q]| a1 Q2| Q3| Q4
None
Total
Balance of funding requested
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Total £0 £0 £2,778,502

Page 143




16.3 Impact on income and expenditure account
See capital workbook
16.4 Financial benefits

16.4.1 Financial benefits table

Description Benefit | Benefit | Benefit | Benefit | Cost Who is Has the
Centre / the budget

Please include: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Budget current holder
h L 2023/a4 | 2024/2 2025/2 2026/27 affected? budget agreed

e  How the saving is 023/ 024/25 | 2025/26 | 2026/ holder? to the

calculated -

saving?

e Whether the saving is (Y/N)

revenue or capital

16.4.2 Requirements in order to realise savings

It is not anticipated that there will be any savings, however the project will produce significant
cost avoidance, as doing nothing will result in high expenditure should the wall fail. It will also
contribute to income generation as part of the Levelling Up programme.

16.5 Non-financial benefits

The Dorset Council Plan 2022-2024 identifies 5 strategic priorities, of which this project
contributes to:

Driving economic prosperity - Dorset Council

Failure to address the required emergency works will result in a negative impact on economic

prosperity in Weymouth Harbour

Protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology
Should the wall fail, this would have a negative impact on the natural environment.

Becoming a more responsive, customer focused council - Dorset Council
Failure to address the required emergency works will negatively impact on Dorset Council

residents. Failure to act would not contribute to the ambition of being responsive to our

customers (be these individuals or businesses).

Dorset Harbours Business Plan 2024 — 2029

Page 144


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/dorset-council-plan/dorset-council-plan
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/driving-economic-prosperity
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/protecting-our-environment
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/becoming-a-more-responsive-customer-focused-council

Following the departure of the ferry service in 2015, much of the commercial port area fell into
disuse. As developments are now taking place through the Weymouth Quay Regeneration Project,
further opportunities to develop the port areas have been identified within the Dorset Harbours
Business Plan 2024 — 2029. The provision of marine services relevant to the users of Weymouth
Harbour, such as marine engineers and electricians, the potential installation of a slipway and the
subsequent ability to lift out vessels, will provide highly beneficial facilities to all manner of vessels
and harbour users, commercial and recreational, and ensure Weymouth remains a popular and
thriving harbour for residents and visitors alike.

Further development of the port area and indeed the wider peninsula area is reliant on integrity
of Walls E, F & G are the first line of defence in protecting this area of reclaimed land from the
sea. During periods of strong easterly winds in particular, these sections of the harbour wall are
extremely exposed, and any weakness developing in the walls could prove catastrophic if a
collapse allowed the sea to breach into this area. Access to and from the commercial port by a
wide range of vehicle traffic is conducted through the Peninsula site, and failure of the road
surfaces, the development of sinkholes or wider surface collapse, could essentially cut off the port
area and render it unusable. Consequently, the repair of Walls F & G is of great importance to the
continued use and future development of the port.

23. Management case

17.1 Programme and project management plans

A project delivery team is already established including colleagues from FCRM, and relevant
stakeholders. Representatives from the appointed contractor will join this team.

A project manager will report into a project sponsor (Head of Service). Project progress meetings
are held fortnightly. Where appropriate project updates, risks and issues will be escalated to Head
of Service and to the LUF Governance Board.

17.2 Change management arrangements/requirements

Change management will be administered through the construction contract risk management
process and significant changed communicated to the project sponsor and governance board.

17.3 Approach to management and delivery of benefits

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, which they will report
against in regular project meetings and highlight any concerns to the Head of Service and the LUF
Governance Board.

Page 145



17.4 Approach to risk management

The project manager will maintain a risk register and issues log and will report against these in
regular project meetings. Where appropriate risks and issues will be escalated to the Head of
Service, and the LUF Governance Board.

17.5 Monitoring during implementation

The project manager will maintain a project delivery plan, with milestones, which they will report
against in regular project meetings and escalate to the Head of Service where appropriate and
the LUF Governance Board.

17.6 Post implementation evaluation arrangements

Key Performance Indicators
e Measure technical work against the designs and specifications
e Track budget and expenditure
e Project management

17.7 Contingency arrangements/exit strategy

The site supervisor will formally inform the client officer that the works have been completed. A
12-month defect period will follow where snagging items are resolved and a fee is retained, which
will be paid upon successful completion of the defect period. Following works, the usual system
of inspections will continue.

24. Conclusions and salient issues for further consideration

18.1 Conclusions

This business case describes works required to Weymouth Harbour Walls, costed at
£13,797,135

Funding for repairs to harbour walls was allocated in the capital programme 2023/2024 to
2026/2027 approved by cabinet on 28 March 2023.

This business case seeks approval to draw down of the £1,025,000 of those allocated funds.

Additionally, £7,825,000 LUF funding has been secured.

This business case also seeks approval to allocate £2,168,633 of CIL strategic & S106 funds to
the project.

This business case also requests an additional £2,778,502 of capital funding (to include the
£1.5m contribution required as part of the LUF funding MOU). Of the above £2.779,502, £1.3m

Page 146


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MId=5364&Ver=4

will come from Dorset Council capital funding resources and £1.5m from Weymouth Harbour
funding resources (subject to Harbours Advisory Committee).

18.2 Salient issues for consideration

Development of the Peninsula land is dependent upon the Walls F&G replacement works.

The LUF funding agreement states the council must fund the additional funding requirements
for the works.

Weymouth Harbour walls 4, E, F&G are in poor condition and at risk of failure.

25. Appendices

Capital workbook

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

Audit and Governance Committee
13 January 2025
Information Governance - Update

For Decision

Cabinet Member and Portfolio:
Clir N Ireland, Leader of the Council, Climate, Performance and Safeguarding

Executive Director:
J Mair, Director of Legal & Democratic

Report Author: Marc Eyre

Job Title: Service Manager for Assurance
Tel: 01305 224358

Email: marc.eyre@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public Choose an item.

Brief Summary: The Annual Information Governance Report was presented to
Audit and Governance Committee at the meeting on 22 July 2024. This included
the Strategic Information Governance Board’s action plan in response to criteria
in the Information Commissioner’s Accountability Framework for which the
Council believes it is not currently fully meeting. It also noted performance
across a range of whole authority key performance indicators.

The Committee noted the resource challenges and recognised that this may
require further focus. It was agreed that a further report should be presented
back to the Committee to present progress.

In addition, SWAP have concluded an internal audit into the Council’s business
continuity arrangements, which provided a limited assurance and a number of
priority actions, including one priority one assessment. Due to the links with the
cyber security risk, the Strategic Information Governance Board includes
business continuity within its remit. This report also therefore has been extended
to provide some context to the audit findings that will be reported in the SWAP
paper later on the agenda and sets out an improvement action plan.

Page 149



Recommendation: To note the progress set out in the report, including the
actions identified to respond to the business continuity internal audit.

Reason for Recommendation: To ensure that information governance and
business continuity is embedded and effective across Dorset Council

1. Strategic Information Governance Board Action Plan

1.1  The Annual Information Governance report presented to committee on 22
July 2024 included the Strategic Information Governance Board’s
improvement action plan. This plan is intended to ensure that Dorset
Council is meeting the expectations of the Information Commissioners
Office (ICO), as set out within the ICO Accountability Framework self
assessment.

1.2  The Framework is broken down into the following ten categories:
)] Leadership and oversight;
i) Policies and Procedures;
iii) Training and Awareness;
iv) Individuals Rights;
V) Transparency;
Vi) Records of Processing and Lawful Basis;
vii)  Contracts and Data Sharing;
viii)  Risks and Data Protection Impact Assessments;
iX) Records Management and Security; and
X) Breach Response and Monitoring

1.3 The graphic below summarises the proportion of assessment criteria
within the framework where Dorset Council meets ICO expectations, as at
the July 2024 report:

Page 150


https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/

1.4

15

Breakdown of '‘Current Status' per category
100%
= | - B
= " AN
60%

40%
0% - [

1. Leadership 2. Policies & 3. Training & 6. ROPA B 7. Contracts 8. Risks & 9. Records 10. Breach
& Oversight Procedures  Awareness Inclnncluals Transparency Lawful Basis & Data DPIAs  Management Response &
Rights Sharing & Security  Monitoring

m Fully meeting our expectation Partially meeting our expectation
m Not meeting our expectation m Not Applicable

EBlank

The Operational Information Governance Group has been leading on the
majority of the actions, with particular development input from the Service
Manager for Assurance; Data Protection Officer; Cyber Security and
Service Continuity Lead; and the Data and Information Manager. With the
agenda having to meet the dynamic needs of the organisation (particularly
the group’s role in challenging and making recommendations on Data
Protection Impact Assessments related to service change) progress has
been slow in some areas. The frequency and duration of Group meetings
has been increased to meet this demand. Agreement has been reached
to employ a Data Protection Analyst on a 12 month interim basis to
support the work required in achieving criteria 1 to 8 and 10. Recruitment
will commence shortly.

The current assessment based on work progressed since the July 2024
report is highlighted below, and shows some positive progress:

Breakdown of "Current Status’ per category

' B 1 l N BN

80%

60%

40%
ZOU/D I I I
0% | ||

1. Leadership & 2. Policies & 3. Training & 4. Individuals' 5. Transparency 6. ROPA & Lawful 7. Contracts & 8. Risks 8 DPIAs 9. Records 10. Breach

Oversight Procedures Awareness Rights Basis Data Sharing Management & Response &
Security Monitoring
= Fully meeting our expectation Partially meeting our expectation mNot meeting our expectation
m Not Applicable mBlank

Page 151



1.6

2.1

2.2

It should be noted that a number of actions are aligned to the roll out of the
revised Information Asset Register, and therefore will remain red until that
work is complete. This is particularly the case in respect of category 6 —
‘ROPA and Lawful Basis”.

Performance

The annual report provided performance data on a range of key
performance indicators including: i) Public (Freedom of Information) and
Environmental Information Requests; ii) Requests Relating to Personal
Information; and iii) Mandatory Training.

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOI) and Environmental
Information Regulations 2004 (EIR) gives a general right of access to
information held by public authorities. The Information Commissioners
Office anticipates 90% compliance with the statutory response timescales
of 20 working days. The Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee
requested a performance report for its meeting on 24 October 2024 (which
can be viewed here ) and will continue to receive progress reports. The
following chart is an extract from this report, but has been extended to
include reporting since August 2024. As can be seen, whilst whole
authority performance is generally Amber, the % is not too far removed
from the 90% target. Work will be initiated with those Directorates that are
struggling to meet compliance levels (primarily Childrens). In the
meantime, an automated chase up process has been implemented to take
administrative pressure off of the Information Compliance Team. A
number of other automation possibilities were considered, but were not
feasible for implementation, as the case numbers are not high enough to
“teach” Al models sufficiently:

Whole Adults & Childrens

Authority | Housing

Corporate | Place

Nov24 | 87% (133)

98% (40) | 84% (58)

86% (21)

Oct24 | 88% (116) 91% (42) | 95% (39)

Sep24 | 87% (99) 93% (28) | 89% (47)

Aug 24 | 86% (119) 97% (37) | 92% (39)

Jul 24 84% (106) 84% (43) | 86% (44)

91% (11)

Page 152


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s42837/Public%20Freedom%20of%20Information%20and%20Environmental%20Information%20Requests.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s42837/Public%20Freedom%20of%20Information%20and%20Environmental%20Information%20Requests.pdf

2.3

2.4

Whole Adults & Childrens | Corporate | Place

Authority | Housing
Jun24 | 82% (114) 84% (44) | 95% (37)
May 24 | 85% (127) |94% (16) 87% (39) | 86% (56)
Apr 24 91% (137) 98% (45) | 90% (67)
Mar24 | 81% (111) 81% (43) | 89% (36)
Feb24 | 88% (165) 92% (63) | 86% (64)
Jan24 | 85% (82) 94% (31) | 86% (35)

80% (35)

83% (42)

80% (99) | 90% (10) | 81% (16)

Sep23 | 88% (122) | 100% (23) |87% (15) | 80% (35) | 88% (48)
Aug 23 | 83% (123) 80% (50) | 96% (45)
Jul 23 86% (125) | 100% (12) 85% (55) | 85% (46)
Jun23 | 85% (108) | 81% (16) NOSUNBIN 90% (39) | 86% (44)
May 23 | 91% (97) |85% (13) |[83% (12) |90% (39) |97% (33)
Apr 23 80% (101) 84% (37)

Individual Rights allows data subjects to enact certain powers over their
personal information that is held. The most common and well known of
these rights is the right of access, commonly referred to as subject access
or subject access requests (SARSs). This gives individuals the right to
obtain a copy of their personal data held by an organisation, as set out in
the General Data Protection Regulation.

Historically the Council has struggled to meet compliance with statutory
timescales, with regularly reporting as a “Red” performance indicator
(below 80% compliance). Significant progress has been made to improve
performance since the Children’s SARs team were integrated into the

Information Compliance team. Q1 and Q2 of 2024/25 are showing

Page 153



2.5

2.6

3.1

3.2

compliance rates at 95% and 92% respectively, and recorded as Green.
This is a significant achievement, as the complexity level of SARs has
increased, particularly in terms of care leaver requests. The position has
been improved by increasing the headcount in the team by 0.5fte to
reduce outsourcing costs.

Officers and members are required to undertake mandatory data
protection training. This is delivered primarily via e-learning, with data
protection training completed annually and also incorporated into the
elected member induction programme.

At the time of the July annual report, compliance levels for the mandatory
Data Protection training was approx. 84%. As at November 2024 this has
increased to 88%, but remains short of the 95% requirement set out in the
NHS Data Security and Protection Toolkit, which is key in enabling
continued access to health service data. A task and finish sub group has
been established to look at improving compliance further, as part of an
improvement action plan agreed with NHS, including understanding
barriers to completion, identification of focus areas and consideration of
consequential actions for non-compliance.

Business Continuity

The Council’s Business Continuity Framework contains two main
mechanisms:

e The Business Impact Analysis (BIA) — This is a list of Council
functions assessed for their criticality in the event of a loss of
service. lItis atop level schedule that would be utilised by an
Incident Management Team, to enable prioritisation for mobilising
of services/recovery work and distribution of resources (for
instance, repurposing of staff roles from lower criticality functions);

e Business Continuity Action Cards — These provide the detailed
response that each Service Manager/Head of Service (action card
owners) will take in the event of a business continuity incident

The Emergency Management and Resilience Team in Assurance
facilitates the Council’s business continuity framework. However
completion and update of both actions cards and the BIA entries rest with
individual service areas. Because of the close links to the cyber risk, and
in the absence of a better suited corporate working group, business

Page 154



3.3

3.4

3.5

continuity assurance is built into the remit of the Strategic Information
Governance Board, and its associated working groups.

A 0.5 fte Emergency Management and Resilience Officer leads on
business continuity, reporting to the Service Manager for Assurance.
However their output is constrained by wider emergency management
response and other workstream duties. Emergency Planning activity is
reported annually to this Committee.

On inception of Dorset Council, predecessor Council action cards were
adopted pending the restructures that took affect January 2020. As part of
the preparations for EU exit, a process of amalgamation and review was
undertaken, both of the BIA and action cards. Since then, there have
been specific reviews of service criticality, aligned to Covid and, in 2023,
the risk of national power outage. This was however light touch and
scenario based, and not a full reassessment of business impacts. There
has been some Directorate level testing (particularly covering some Place
functions) and some whole Council exercises that provided a degree of
testing of business continuity (the cyber peer review; Local Resilience
Forum national power outage exercise).

On the 28th May 2024 an Incident Management Team (IMT) was
instigated to consider a risk with the microsoft licencing which was thought
could have resulted in the Council losing access to microsoft products until
licencing could be resolved. The IMT included a prompt for services to
ensure that their action cards could be accessed and were up-to-date.
There were instances where service level plans had not been developed
or reviewed. Following a debrief for the incident, the Service Manager for
Assurance commissioned SWAP Internal Audit to carry out a review of
business continuity embeddedness. SWAP issued their findings in
November 2024, which provided a limited assurance, and 15 management
actions, including 1 priority one (Red) and 13 priority two (Amber) actions.
A number of these actions are closely linked, and can be packaged
together as follows:

a) The BIA is insufficiently risk based (the priority one action) and out
of date. The critical systems identified in the BIA are not current.
The criticality of services has not been reviewed / signed off by
Senior Leadership Team for some time, and there is no process for
regular review;

Page 155



3.6

3.7

3.8

b)

f)

g)

The supporting Business Continuity Framework is out of date (last
reviewed in April 2022) and is not sufficiently clear on roles and
responsibilities. It could be better aligned to national standards;

Business continuity action cards are not being regularly reviewed or
updated by services;

Business continuity action cards have not been regularly tested,
either by individual services or on a whole council basis;

There is a lack of alignment of methodologies within the Business
Impact Analysis and ICT continuity;

Whilst the Council is good at undertaking debriefs following
incidents, identified actions are not tracked for completion and
therefore there is a limited assurance that the issues have been
completed;

Awareness and training of business continuity could be improved.

Although priority actions were identified by SWAP, a number of
improvements were already underway since the Emergency Management
and Resilience Officer lead was established. As recognised in the SWAP
report however, corporate resourcing for business continuity within
Emergency Management and Resilience Team is sparse, and the
framework that we have established is reliant on self-service within
Directorates.

Recent improvements include:

Transferring of business continuity action cards into an easier to
access/use site. This has included a review of action cards with
some service areas, including identification of missing plans and
updates to contact details;

Developing a portfolio of mini exercises on a range of scenarios
that can be used by service areas to test business continuity plans
(power outage; cyber attack; loss of data; fuel);

Running cyber related business continuity exercises with a range of
services across Place Directorate.

However it is clear from the SWAP outcomes that further action is
necessary, and at an increased pace. A draft improvement action plan

Page 156



has been developed, which will be considered at January 2025’s
Operational Information Governance Group (OIGG). In summary, it
provides the following proposed actions:

Target
Identified Action Timescale
Discuss Recovery Time Objectives with ICT (Align BIA to ICT Security
criteria) Jan-25
Finalise BC framework (This is largely already updated, but will require
some input from OIGG representatives) Jan-25
Develop Schedule of Communications and corporate exercises, to include
promotion of service level exercises (This is largely complete, but will be
agreed with OIGG) Jan-25
Commence work with each Directorate to review BIA (This is the most
resource hungry element and will require dedicated input from each
Directorate Management Team) Feb-25
Challenge output of BIA review via Strategic Information Governance
Board, together with sign off of revised framework Apr-25
Commence KPI reporting of service level action card reviews, for
Directorate Management Team intervention as appropriate. Apr-25
Present proposed BIA/critical services to SLT, as part of annual
Emergency Planning report May-25
Development of a whole authority action tracker, which would include
monitoring of lessons learnt from business continuity incidents / exercises | May-25
Whole Council business continuity exercise Thc

3.9 ltis likely that there will be a national level cyber security exercise during
2025 involving Local Resilience Forums feeding in to MHCLG. This would
provide an opportunity to run a Dorset Council “whole authority” business

continuity exercise alongside the LRF/national commitment.

3.10 Itis proposed to provide a further update to the Committee within the

Annual Emergency Planning report circa June 2025, to coincide with the

action target dates set out in the audit report.

Page 157




8.1

10.

11.

Financial Implications

There are no direct financial implications from this report, however
information governance and business continuity issues can have an
adverse financial impact

Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications

Good quality and managed data is essential in supporting our climate
change agenda

Well-being and Health Implications

Good quality and managed data is essential in supporting health and
wellbeing

Other Implications
None
Risk Assessment

HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level
of risk has been identified as:

Current Risk: High
Residual Risk: High

This scoring reflects a number of High risks identified within the Council’s
risk register.

Equalities Impact Assessment

Information Governance policies have been subject to Equalities Impact
Assessments

Appendices
None

Background Papers

Page 158


https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities

12.

111

Annual Information Governance Report to Audit and Governance
Committee 22 July 2024

Report Sign Off

This report has been through the internal report clearance process and
has been signed off by the Director for Legal and Democratic (Monitoring
Officer), the Executive Director for Corporate Development (Section 151
Officer) and the appropriate Portfolio Holder(s)

Page 159


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s41622/Annual%20Information%20Governance%20Report%20202324.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s41622/Annual%20Information%20Governance%20Report%20202324.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

Audit and Governance Committee
13 January 2025

Corporate Complaints and Managing
Customer Behaviour

For Decision

Cabinet Member and Portfolio:
Cllr R Hope, Customer, Culture and Community Engagement

Executive Director:
J Mair, Director of Legal & Democratic

Report Author: Marc Eyre

Job Title: Service Manager for Assurance
Tel: 01305 224358

Email: marc.eyre@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status: Public Choose an item.

Brief Summary: The Council maintains a policy for how it manages corporate
complaints, outside of the statutory complaints processes for social care matters.
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman issued a revised Complaint
Handling Code in February 2024, and therefore the Corporate Complaints policy
has been reviewed and updated to reflect Dorset Council’s consideration of the
best practice recommendations in the Code. This revised policy is presented to
the Audit and Governance Committee for approval. For avoidance of doubt, the
performance of complaints is considered annually by both Scrutiny Committees
and the 2023/24 reports are linked within the background papers for reference.

There are occasions where customer behaviour may deviate from what Council
employees and Councillors should expect. This can be through vexatious
behaviour, where the complaints process is exhausted but the complainant
remains dissatisfied, potentially exerting aggressive or violent behaviour, or
engaging in hate incidents. The Council has a protocol for managing such
behaviour, and this has been subject to regular review, to ensure that it is
updated to reflect any learnings from previous cases. It also benefits from the

Page 161



terms and definitions as outlined by the Ombudsman. The revised protocol is
presented for approval.

Changes made to both documents have been highlighted in the appendices.

Recommendation:
For Audit and Governance Committee to:

a) Review and approve the revised Corporate Complaints Policy; and
b) Review and approve the revised Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol

Reason for Recommendation: To ensure that the Corporate Complaints Policy
is consistent with the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s revised
Code, and that adverse customer behaviours can be managed fairly and
appropriately.

1. Corporate Complaints Policy

1.1  There are statutory complaints processes for Childrens and Adults Social
Care, as well as Councillor Code of Conduct. Of course, this only covers
part of the Council’s roles and responsibilities, for which there is equally a
desire to deliver public satisfaction. There will be occasions where an
individual will be unhappy with the service that they have received, and will
wish to submit a complaint. The Corporate Complaints Policy sets out
how these will be managed, outside of the statutory processes but
observing some of the best practice Code provided by the Ombudsman.

1.2  The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) produced
a revised Complaint Handling Code in February 2024, setting out what
Councils should do procedurally to handle complaints. Therefore, whilst a
corporate complaints policy is not a statutory requirement, the failure to
maintain and adhere to one might expose the Council to findings of
maladministration resulting in injustice to complainants.

1.3 The LGSCO had originally intended that the Code should be treated as
statutory guidance and its requirements mandatory upon all authorities
within scope. However, the LGSCO has since recognised that the
guidance does not have that legal status. Accordingly, it is open to the
Council to deviate from the LGSCOQO'’s preferred approach where the
Council considers this appropriate

Page 162


https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/

1.4

15

1.6

The Corporate Complaints policy has been reviewed and updated in the
light of the LGSCQO’s Code, with variations where this is considered
appropriate to reflect our local experience.

The Code can be viewed from this link, and was aimed at providing
alignment with the Housing Ombudsman Code. The most significant
changes are:

¢ Clarification of what constitutes a “complaint” vs a “service
request’;

¢ A recommendation that Council’s operate a two stage process (ie
reviewed by one officer, with an escalation to a more senior officer
if the complainant remains unhappy, before escalation to the
LGSCO);

¢ A recommendation that Councils accept complaints within a 12
month window, and apply discretion to accept complaints outside
of this time limit where there are good reasons to do so;

e A recognition that a high volume of complaints should not be
perceived as a negative, as it demonstrates a well publicised and
accessible process;

e A recognition that organisations should have a designated and
sufficient resource assigned for complaint handling, including
liaison with the LGSCO on escalated matters, with access to staff
at all levels to enable prompt resolution;

e Promoting a positive culture of learning from complaints;

e The need for organisations to have policies and procedures for
dealing with unacceptable behaviours from complainants or their
representatives;

e The consideration of a financial remedy without escalation to the
LGSCO to reflect the impact on an individual where fault is
identified, whilst appreciating that often an apology will suffice

The Council’s revised draft policy responds to the majority of the points
included within the Code. The policy does not however adopt the
introduction of a second stage. The Council removed the second stage in
July 2021 as it considered that it provided an unnecessary additional
burden on services with secondary investigations whilst generally not

Page 163


https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/complaint-handling-code/complaint-handling-code

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.2

2.3

changing the outcome. Instead the second local stage presented further
delay to the complainant in being able to escalate the matter to the
LGSCO for an external and independent assessment. It is the view of the
report writer that the Council should instead continue with a firm and
thorough single stage investigation. This justification to retain a single
stage local process has been detailed in 4.2 of the revised policy.

For avoidance of doubt, responsibility for scrutiny of complaints
performance rests with both the scrutiny committees, who each receive an
annual report. The 2023/24 Annual Report can be viewed here.

The Committee are asked to review and approve the changes made to
this Whole Authority Complaints Policy.

Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol

Most customers that contact the council do so politely and respectful of
Council employees and other workers. Even the most challenging
customer may have a valid point that needs to be addressed. However
there are exceptional circumstances where behaviour can present an
issue to wellbeing or result in an excessive amount of time being spent in
response.

The Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol sets out the process for how
the Council manages vexatious complainants and contact, in addition to
aggression, actual/attempted violence and hate incidents. The protocol is
supported by a schedule of customers whose contact has been deemed
“‘unreasonable”, and is made available to Council services on a risk based
need to know basis, as well as made available to councillors.

Inclusion and removal from the schedule is managed via the
Unreasonable Behaviours Panel, which is chaired by the Service Manager
for Assurance and includes representation from a number of key services
areas — complaints; customer services, health and safety, mental health
team and a representative from the equality team. Where a service has
escalated a customer for potential inclusion, the relevant operations
manager will attend in a non-voting capacity to brief the panel on the
incident(s). There are currently nine customers recorded on the schedule,
which demonstrates that it is in exceptional circumstances that individuals
are included. The associated behaviours do however present a
disproportionate amount of time to manage. Cases are reviewed on an
annual basis, and where behaviours have improved, the individual is
removed from the schedule.

Page 164


https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s43100/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Complaints%20Report%202023-24.pdf

2.4

Since the protocol was ratified by the Committee in July 2021, a number of
minor amendments have been made to the process, and a revised
protocol was approved in January 2024. The work of the panel is
continuously reviewed, and the protocol amended to reflect learnings,
particularly where the customer has appealed the decision. Following
review during 2024, a number of further changes have been made, and
are presented to the committee for adoption. This includes:

e Recognising that there are occasions where behaviours may not be
deemed to be unreasonable, but may merit managing through a
single point of contact or similar, to provide a co-ordinated
response;

e Definitions of unreasonable behaviour have been aligned to that of
the LGSCO;

e Clarification that information requests (freedom of information,
subject access requests etc) should fall outside of the panels remit,
and considered on a case by case basis as to whether they are
vexatious;

e Recognition of the Press Complaints Commission Editors’ Code of
Conduct;

e Encouragement to report hate crimes;

e Requirement for written papers to provide an evidence base for
decision making;

e Clarification of the review process, in the event that a panel
decision is appealed;

e Authority for the panel chair to add an individual to the schedule
immediately, where deemed to pose a high risk to safety.

Financial Implications

None

Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications
None

Well-being and Health Implications

Page 165



7.1

10.

11.

The Managing Unreasonable Customer Behaviour protocol is designed to
protect Council workers against the negative effect of vexatious,
aggressive or violent behaviour.

Other Implications
None
Risk Assessment

HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level
of risk has been identified as:

Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

Equalities Impact Assessment

No adverse implications identified

Appendices

Appendix A — Whole Council Complaints Policy
Appendix B — Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol
Background Papers

The 2023/24 Annual Report can be viewed here
Report Sign Off

This report has been through the internal report clearance process and
has been signed off by the Director for Legal and Democratic (Monitoring
Officer), the Executive Director for Corporate Development (Section 151
Officer) and the appropriate Portfolio Holder(s)

Page 166


https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s43100/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Complaints%20Report%202023-24.pdf

Whole Authority Complaints Policy / Procedure

Dorset

Council




Contents

Page
1 | Introduction 3
2 | Scope of the Policy
3 | How Will We Deal with a Complaint? 4
4 | What if | Remain Dissatisfied with the Outcome of My Complaint?
5 | Unreasonable Behaviours 5

6 | Compliments and Feedback

7 | Further Information

Page 168
1

Making Dorset a great place to

Live, WOrk and visit



1.

Introduction

1.1 We want to ensure that you are satisfied with our services. We have a policy for managing

your complaints if you are not happy with our services. We will seek speedy resolutions and
provide mediation between customers and staff. We will listen to and respond to feedback
from customers and act to implement improvements to our service. We embrace the Local
Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO)’s principles for effective complaint
handling, including consideration of some of their best practice Code that was introduced in
February 2024

* Accessibility — the policy is well publicised, easily accessed and understood
* Communication — effective, timely communication between all parties

* Timeliness — We aspire to provide resolution within 10 working days, but it can take up to
20 working days if a complex matter.

* Fairness — dealt with in a proportionate, open-minded and impatrtial way considering the
Ombudsman’s best practice Code

* Credibility — effective leadership to ensure complaints and learning has a high profile

* Accountability — managed in a proper and open way

1.2 We will always try to resolve things that go wrong quickly, and to give customers the best

2.

possible outcome. We aim to achieve this on an informal basis. So, as a first step, the
customers should talk to staff at the point of service delivery to try to reach an informal
agreement. We can also try to resolve any concerns informally but, failing this, we can
provide advice on how to make a formal complaint. We will seek to achieve this through the
following key aims and objectives:

* Creating a culture of learning and improvement;

* Providing customers lots of ways to give feedback;

* Leadership in sharing lessons across the council;

* Reach the optimum resolution or outcome;

* Resolve the problem quickly if possible;

* Observe the best practice guidance of the Ombudsman’s Code and not obstruct the
complainant from contacting them.

Scope of this Policy

2.1 Effective complaint handling enables individuals to be heard and understood. The starting

point for this is a shared understanding of what constitutes a service request and what
constitutes a complaint. In most cases organisations should be able to put things right
through normal service delivery processes.

2.2 The Ombudsman’s Code provides a clear definition separating a service request from a

formal complaint. We have adopted this as part of Dorset Council’s Complaints Policy.

2.3 A service request may be defined as: “a request that the organisation provides or

improves a service, fixes a problem or reconsiders a decision”. This provides

Page 169 Making Dorset a great place to
2 Live, Work and visit



organisations with opportunities to resolve matters to an individual's satisfaction before they
become a complaint.

2.4 A complaint may be defined as: “an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about

the standard of service, actions or lack of action by the organisation, its own staff, or
those acting on its behalf, affecting an individual or group of individuals ”. An
individual should not have to use the word ‘complaint’ for it to be treated as such. A
complaint that is submitted via a third party or representative should still be handled in line
with the organisation’s complaints policy.

2.5 Whatissues are outside the scope of this policy? We will usually consider complaints

under this policy, however there are some exceptions to this policy which include:

* Complaints about adult’s and children’s social care (which are managed via the
Adults Social Care and Childrens Social Care policies).

* Claims for financial compensation and insurance claims

* A routine first-time request for a service

* Complaints about the conduct of Councillors

* Complaints about schools or academies

* Complaints where there is a statutory right of appeal such as Special Educational Needs
(SEN), School Admissions, entitlement to School Transport, Council Tax, Non — Domestic
Rates, Blue Badges, Housing Benefit, Planning

* Housing Benefit (including discretionary housing payment decision), housing allocations
or homeless applications

* Matters subject to any arbitration process

» Staff disciplinary matters and grievances

* Legal matters or issues that have already been heard by a court/tribunal

* Police matters

* Safeguarding matters

* Freedom of Information matters

* Claims relating to inaccurate personal information

* Policy decisions made by the Council’s Executive

* Penalty Charge Notices (PCN'’s)

* An attempt to reopen a previously concluded complaint or to have a complaint
reconsidered where we have already given our final decision

* complaints about services that are not the responsibility of Dorset Council

* Matters that are over 12 months old unless there are exceptional circumstances

3. How will we deal with a complaint?

3.1 Upon receipt of your complaint we will investigate the issues in order to fully understand
and attempt to resolve matters where possible. If the council has done something wrong,
we will apologise and try to put things right. We will also consider if, and how, we can
improve things to ensure that similar problems do not happen again through proactively
learning from complaints. For example, we could provide an explanation or information,
review a policy or procedure, provide training and guidance for employees.

Page 170 Making Dorset a great place to
3 Live, Work and visit


https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-adult-services-complaints-policy-and-procedure
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/social-care-complaints-policy-and-procedure-for-children-s-services
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-adult-services-complaints-policy-and-procedure
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/social-care-complaints-policy-and-procedure-for-children-s-services

3.2 If you should need help in making your complaint, please see www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
or contact your local council office who will be able to advise you.

3.3 We will try to resolve things that go wrong quickly, and to give customers the best possible
outcome. We aim to achieve this without the need for a formal complaint if it is deemed
to be a service request. We refer to this as “informal local resolution”.

3.4 If your concerns cannot be immediately resolved or they are not considered a service
request, we will register them within the complaints procedure as a formal complaint.
Complainants will be asked to provide all the relevant information about them and their
complaint, so it can be dealt with. All information received by email, letter, telephone or
online form will be recorded in line with our data protection policy. Within the first 3
working days of the council receiving the complaint we will send an acknowledgement to
the customer. The team manager will investigate your complaint. We will aim to respond
to all formal complaints within 10 working days of the submission date, in-keeping with
the Ombudsman’s best practice code. However, complainants should be aware that it can
take up to 20 working days and we will provide the Ombudsman’s details in our
acknowledgements in case investigations exceed these timescales.

3.5 As part of our investigations we may need to clarify any aspects of the complaint we are
unclear about, and aim to:
» deal with complaints on their merits,
* act independently, and have an open mind
* give the individual a fair chance to set out their position;
» take measures to address any actual or perceived conflict of interest; and
» consider all relevant information and evidence carefully.

3.6 Complaints should be made within 12 months of the incident that is subject to the
complaint. The consideration of whether to consider a complaint outside of this 12
month window will be at the discretion of the Council, where there are reasonable
grounds for a delay.

4. What if | remain dissatisfied with the outcome of the
complaint?

4.1 We try to resolve most complaints internally, but if you are still unhappy you can refer
your complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman (LGSCO), who will carry out an
independent review. The LGSCO will not normally accept a complaint which has not
been considered under the council’s internal process first.

4.2 Dorset Council take complaints very seriously and believe that the investigations and
responses should be robust and fit for purpose without the need for further attempts at
it, or second chances to get it right. We recognise and respect the Ombudsman’s code
of best practice, and the advice that local authorities should have a 2nd stage.
However, Dorset Council have decided against the second stage for the reasons noted
above, and the reiteration of a final position as a superfluous step does not help resolve
the complaint and can cause further delay and dissatisfaction. Instead if complainants
are unhappy with the outcome of their complaint (which the Ombudsman would refer to

Page 171 Making Dorset a great place to
4 Live, Work and visit


http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/

as a Stage 1), they may then take the complaint and response to the Ombudsman
without a second stage. Dorset Council’s Complaints process remains a single stage
process as agreed in Scrutiny Committee July 2021.

4.3 In-keeping with the LGSCO'’s code, you may also approach them if you have not had a
response within 20 working days:
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 OEH
Advice line: 0300 061 0614 or 0845 602 1983

www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint

5. Unreasonable Behaviours

5.1 We will try to resolve things that go wrong as soon as possible, and to give customers an
outcome that they are satisfied with. However, if a customer behaves in an unacceptable
manner, or is unreasonably persistent, we may decide to restrict the ways that they can
deal with us or refuse to consider further complaints about the same matter. For example,
if a customer makes multiple complaints about the same matter, or if their complaint has
been considered and found to be unjustified but they are not prepared to accept this
conclusion.

5.2 In such circumstances, the council will consider evidence available including how we
have responded to the complaint and if necessary, can decide that the complaints are
vexatious and unduly time-consuming. We may then decide to restrict access, giving the
customer a single named point of contact with the council, or refuse to consider any
further complaints about the same matter, unless any significant new information is
provided.

5.3 We will inform the customer about this, explaining why the decision has been taken,
what restrictions will be applied, for how long, and how the complainant may appeal
against such a decision in accordance with the Council’'s Managing Customer
Behaviour Protocol.

6. Compliments and feedback

6.1 We value our staff and it is important to us that they know when they have done a good
job or exceeded expectations. Once received, they are recorded and then fed back to
the relevant team member. We also like to receive feedback on our services which is
helpful in making improvements and amendments as necessary. As a learning
organisation we welcome all feedback.

7. Further Information

Page 172 Making Dorset a great place to
5 Live, Work and visit


http://www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/managing-unreasonable-customer-behaviour-protocol-2024
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/managing-unreasonable-customer-behaviour-protocol-2024

7.1 If you would like further information, please contact:

Complaints Team
Dorset Council County Hall Dorchester DT1 1XJ
Tel: 01305 221061

Email: complaints@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Webpages www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Policy Owner: Tony Bygrave, Complaints Manager

Date Last Reviewed: 12 December 2024

Approved by: [To be presented to Audit and Governance Committee — January 2025]
Review Date: January 2028

Page 173 Making Dorset a great place to
6 Live, Work and visit


mailto:complaints@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol

Dorset

Council




Contents

Purpose of the Protocol 2
1. Introduction 2
2. What constitutes unreasonable behaviour? 4
3. What should you do? 4
4. The Unreasonable Behaviours Panel and supporting schedule 5
5. Maintenance of the Unreasonable Behaviours schedule 7
6. Process for review of decisions 8
7. Who can access the Unreasonable Behaviours schedule? 8
8. What happens if behaviours do not improve? 8
Appendix A — Health and Safety Executive Definitions 9
Appendix B — Flowchart 10
Page 176 Making Dorset a great place to
1

Live, WOrk and visit



Purpose of the Protocol

This document sets out the protocol for managing incidents of unreasonable behaviour, whether
violent, potentially violent or vexatious by a customer/member of the public.

This protocol supports a number of existing Dorset Council policies:
Complaints Policy

Violence, Aggression and Harrasment at Work Policy
Dignity at Work Policy

This protocol is applicable to all Dorset Council employees and other workers (including
volunteers), as well as elected councillors. It defines the Council’s response to managing any
unreasonable behaviour by a customer/member of the public. It supersedes the previous
document that was approved in December 2023 by Audit and Governance Committee.

1. Introduction

1.1 Most customers that contact the council do so politely and respectful of Council employees
and other workers. Even the most challenging customer may have a valid point that needs
to be addressed. However there are exceptional circumstances where behaviour can
present an issue to wellbeing or result in an excessive amount of time being spent in
response. Dorset Council does not expect its employees and other workers to tolerate
unreasonable behaviour from members of the public or other points of contact. The
organisation has a direct duty of care to its employees and other workers and also a
responsibility to any associated organisations and/or partners it works alongside.

1.2 It is therefore vital that any known risks emerging from contacts with our clients, customers
and/or suppliers etc are logged and recorded and are then available to others that may have
contact with that individual to protect their personal safety and/or wellbeing.

1.3 The purpose of this protocol is to set a process by which unreasonable behaviour (whether
violent, potentially violent or vexatious) can be assessed, recorded and made available to
employees (on a risk assessed and need to know basis), whilst recognising also the need to
ensure that personal data is managed effectively and appropriately. Dorset Council is
committed to being compassionate, responsive, sensitive to its clients, customers, residents
and that we have a trained workforce to fully support the needs of those groups and respond
appropriately to prevent such situations.

1.4 In some instances, the customer behaviour may in itself not be deemed to be unreasonable,
but at the same point it may be deemed appropriate to manage such behaviours in-line with
this protocol, to provide a more facilitated contacted with the customer. An example of this
may be the decision to allocate a Single Point of Contact.

1.5 Frontline staff need to take guidance from line managers on how best to resolve using
customer services techniques, empathy and the skills required to perform their duties at

Page 177 Making Dorset a great place to
2 Live, Work and visit


https://intranet.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Dorset-Council-Complaints-Policy-July-2021.pdf
https://intranet.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/DC-Violence-Aggession-and-Harassment-at-work-Policy.pdf
https://intranet.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/task/dignity-at-work/

Dorset Council. This protocol is by exception only to manage those extreme behaviours that
are beginning to impact staff wellbeing or are unreasonably time consuming.

What Constitutes “Unreasonable Behaviour”

2.1 Dorset Council follow the Ombudsman’s guidance in defining unreasonable behaviour, which
may include:

. Being abusive, threatening or acting in a manner intended to intimidate staff. This
includes any use of racist, sexist, homophobic or other discriminatory language;

. Putting, or threatening to put information on social media or websites which
includes personal information of an organisation’s employees without their consent and/or
making defamatory statements about employees online;

. Making excessive demands on the time and resources of staff with lengthy phone
calls, emails to numerous council staff, or detailed correspondence every few days or
more often, and expecting immediate responses;

. Submitting repeat contacts or complaints with minor additions/variations which the
complainant insists make these ‘new’ complaints;

. Refusing to specify the grounds of a complaint, despite offers of help.;

. Refusing to cooperate with the complaints investigation process. For example,
failing to provide information requested that is important for the investigation.;

. Insisting on the complaint being dealt with in ways which are incompatible with the
adopted complaints procedure or with good practice;

. Making unjustified complaints about staff who are trying to deal with the issues,
and seeking to have them replaced;

. Frequently changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation proceeds;

. Raising many detailed but unimportant questions, and insisting they are all
answered;

. Providing false information and/ or submitting falsified documents from themselves
or others;

. Adopting a 'scatter gun' approach: pursuing parallel complaints or contact about

the same issue with various organisations;

. threats of violence;
. actual violence;
. possible hate incident

Page 178 Making Dorset a great place to
3 Live, Work and visit



e

#3;,,;/"

2.2 This protocol recognises that some behaviour that may be deemed unreasonable may be
linked with underlying health issues, conditions or disabilities. In these instances contact may
be made with relevant colleagues, such as Adult Social Care, to determine whether this
impacts on how the individual’s behaviour is managed.

2.3 For avoidance of doubt, where contact relates purely to vexatious information requests (ie
Freedom of Information; Subject Access Requests etc), this is out of scope of this policy.
Individual information requests can be determined vexatious, but not the requestor. A decision
on whether an information request is vexatious will be made by the Data Protection Officer (or
their nominated representative) in conjunction with the impacted service(s).

2.4 If the behaviours relate to a mainstream or conventional journalist, they may be subject to the
Press Complaints Commission (PCC) Editors’ Code of Conduct. If the behaviours are
attributable to an individual who publishes posts, tweets or articles, their contact may be
deemed to be “journalistic material” for the purpose of the Human Rights Act 1988 and entitled
to enhanced freedom and protection of journalistic expression (s.12 and Article 10). In the
event of any doubt, advice should be sought from legal services before the protocol is applied.

3. What should you do if you believe that you have been or
are the subject of unreasonable behaviour?

3.1 Where you believe that there is no immediate risk to yourself or others, you should use your
own judgement and customer services skills to resolve the issue where you are
able. However, where you do not feel this to be the case, or if you believe that you have been
subject to unreasonable behaviour, you should notify your line manager. Where the incident
relates to violent or potentially violent behaviour the Violence, Aggression and Harassment at
Work policy and guidance should be followed. All incidents of violence, aggression and
harassment, regardless of severity must be reported on the accident incident report form. The
Health and Safety Team will escalate to the Unreasonable Behaviours Panel, where
appropriate.

3.2 The following link can be used to report any hate crimes to Dorset Police and all team members
should be encouraged to do so. In the event that the individual is not happy to report the
incident, the service should consider doing so - https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-
online/report-ahttps://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/hate-
crime-or-incident/

3.3 Where the manager of the service is of the opinion that the individual poses a significant risk
to staff or is concerned that the vexatious nature of contact is having an adverse impact on
service, they  should email details to the dedicated email address
spocassurance@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk. This should include details and numbers of incidents,
so that an assessment can be made as to whether the individual displaying unreasonable
behaviours needs to be recorded within the ‘unreasonable behaviour’ database so that other
members of staff can review and take appropriate action should they have contact. The
decision will be made by the Unreasonable Behaviours Panel.

Page 179 Making Dorset a great place to
4 Live, Work and visit


https://intranet.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Accident-Form-Dorset-Council-November-2020-Corporate.docx
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
mailto:spocassurance@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

4. The Unreasonable Behaviours Panel and supporting
schedule

4.1 The Council maintains a schedule of those individuals that have been identified as displaying
unreasonable behaviour, which sets out how employees and other workers should respond in
the event that they come into contact with an identified individual. It will also identify if the
individual is subject to any service restrictions, permitted means of contact and any “single
point of contact” that may have been allocated.

4.2 The schedule is maintained by the Unreasonable Behaviours Panel, who will determine
whether individuals meet the criteria for inclusion, keep the database up to date, and consider
renewals on a twelve-monthly basis.

4.3 The Panel consists of the following members and will meet monthly (physically or virtually), or
more regularly if business dictates:

Service Manager for Assurance (the Panel chair)
Senior Assurance Officer — Complaints

Health and Safety Manager

Business Manager — Customer Services

Head of Specialist Services, Adult Social Care
Representative of the Equality and Diversity Network

4.4 The quorate for decision making will be four panel members. In the event of absence, panel
members should seek to arrange for a suitably briefed deputy to attend on their behalf, where
possible.

4.5 If panel members are implicated by the circumstances of the case, or have a relationship with
the customer that could reasonable impact of their decision making, they will declare this. In
such cases a decision will be reached by the Chair (or in their absence, the Monitoring Officer)
as to whether they should be excluded from decision making. Where possible, this should be
determined prior to the panel meeting occurring.

4.6 Where available, the appropriate Operations Management (or equivalent) will be invited to the
Panel to present their case for an individual to be added to the schedule. For High risk
incidents, or cases where legal proceedings have been intimated, a Legal Services
representative will also be invited in an advisory capacity.

4.7 Panel members will be provided with appropriate papers in order to make a decision in
advance of the meeting, or if not available, a statement by the appropriate Operations
Manager.

4.8 The panel will decide if the behaviours meet the criteria for Unreasonable Behaviour. Inclusion
on the schedule should be on exceptional circumstances, in many instances the issues can
be controlled by the service issuing a letter to the individual setting out expected behaviours,
and the panel may suggest this course of action in the first instance.

Page 180 Making Dorset a great place to
5 Live, Work and visit



4.9 In determining inclusion on the schedule, the Panel will consider the following risk assessment
criteria (Appendix A provides HSE guidance on threatening behaviour). Inclusion on the
schedule is based on a majority vote (four panel members):

Vexatious is defined as: Threatening behaviour can be Violence is defined
causing or tending to defined as: a statement of as: Any incident in
cause annoyance, an intention to inflict pain, injury, which a person is
frustration, or worry. damage, or other hostile action abused, threatened or
Person who uses on someone in assaulted in
abusive language and retribution for something done or circumstances
are generally rude. not done relating to their work’

LOW RISK MEDIUM RISK HIGH RISK

4.10 The panelwill in the first instance consider whether the individual has any underlying health
issues, conditions or disabilities, and in such cases consideration will be given to any changes
to the approach set out below, in conjunction with specialist colleagues from appropriate
services. Where it has been deemed necessary to consult with Mosaic or another system,
this should onIy be done so by the panel representatlve from Adult Soual Care and should be

4.11 Consideration should be given as to whether a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) is required
at this stage. A SPOC will generally be an appropriate Service Manager, but at their discretion
this may be delegated to another appropriate officer. The SPOC will generally be based in the
impacted service area, but if cross-service impacts have been identified, it may be appropriate
for the SPOC to be within Assurance Service. If itis identified that there are underlying health
issues, it may be appropriate for the SPOC to be an operations manager in the relevant
locality. The individual subject to the SPOC should be provided with the contact details of the
SPOC. In some instances a SPOC may be deemed appropriate where customer behaviour
has not been determined as “unreasonable” if the panel believes that such coordination will
better facilitate service to the customer.

4.12 Where a SPOC is applied, it may be deemed appropriate to apply an email divert to the
SPOC address. Where this is actioned, the panel will liaise with the relevant ward councillors
to determine if they wish for the divert to apply to their email address. The customer will be
advised where a divert has been applied.

4.13 Where the panel’s risk assessment determines that the individual should be logged on the
unreasonable behaviour database the following actions should be taken:

4.13.1 Low / Medium Risk —
A letter or email should be sent from the relevant Operations Manager (or
equivalent). This correspondence should:

e describe the incident, location, date and time and why the behaviour has
been identified as unreasonable;

N

—~ Page 181 Making Dorset a great place to
Live, Work and visit



include a SPOC (if relevant) and any future contact restrictions;

any restrictions to service provision;

identify the consequences of a breach;

note that they have been logged on the Council’s unreasonable behaviour
and that the record will be removed after 12 months as long as there is no
repeat behaviour.

e OQOutline the process for review.

The correspondence will be accompanied by an Equalities and Diversity

guestionnaire. Where the returned questionnaire identifies underlying issues that have
not previously been identified, the panel will refer to appropriate specialist colleagues (as
per 4.6 above).

The incident and follow up actions should be recorded on the unreasonable behaviours
database.

4.13.2 High Risk
Where the individual is deemed to pose a High risk to safety, the panel chair may

determine the need to immediately add an individual to the schedule, for ratification at
the next available panel meeting. In the event of absence of the chair, such a decision
would be escalated to the Director for Legal and Democratic.

4.13.3 The panel will arrange for correspondence to be drafted and sent by a Legal Services
representative. This letter will:

o Describe the incident, location, date and time and why the behaviour has
been identified as unreasonable.

¢ Include a cease and desist requirement

¢ Include a SPOC (if relevant) and any future contact restrictions

¢ Any restrictions to service provision

Identify the consequences of a breach;

Note that they have been logged on the Council’s unreasonable behaviour
schedule and that the record will be removed after 12 months as long as there
is no repeat behaviour.

o Process for appeal

4.13.4 In the event that court action is taken, it is possible that staff may be summoned to give
evidence. In such cases, support should be sought from the line manager in the first
instance.

5. Maintenance of the Unreasonable Behaviours Schedule

5.1 Unreasonable behaviour records will be reviewed after 12 months by the panel, and a view
taken as to whether or not to remove the individual from the list. Where appropriate, the
relevant Operations Manager / designated SPOC will be invited to the appropriate meeting
of the panel meeting to inform the decision. Removal from the list will not be communicated
to the perpetrator as this may re-oxygenate the issues.

!‘ Page 182 Making Dorset a great place to
! Live, Work and visit



5.2 The Service Manager for Assurance will be the Information Asset Owner for the
Unreasonable Behaviours database, but the responsibility for individual records will rest with
the identified Operations Manager.

5.3 The process is summarised as a flowchart in Appendix B.

0. Process for Review of Panel Decisions

6.1 An individual subject to inclusion on the unreasonable behaviours database has the right to
request that the decision of the Panel is reviewed by the Council’s Monitoring Officer (or their
Deputy or their identified legal services representative) if they believe that i) this protocol has
not been followed; ii) the decision was unreasonable; or iii) if there is any circumstance or
evidence since the panel’s decision that may necessitate a further review. Such request
must be made in writing within 28 working days of the notification. The individual will remain
on the database until the outcome of the appeal is determined.

7. Who Can Access the Unreasonable Behaviours
Schedule?

7.1 To be effective it is important that the information on ‘anticipated risk levels’ associated with
known individuals and/or specific addresses are available to appropriate services that are
anticipated to have likely contact (for instance, customer services, Directors PAs, complaints
team, elected councillors). Other services will be granted access to the schedule on a risk
assessed / ‘need to know’ basis by the Panel on request to
spocassurance@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk . For instance, those likely to visit customer
addresses may require access to Medium/High risk data only. This recognises that the
organisation also has a responsibility to ensure that sensitive data is protected and managed
appropriately in keeping with the General Data Protection Regulations.

7.2 The Panel will maintain a record of services and individuals with access to the database,
together with the risk based rationale for permitting access.

8. What happens if the behaviours do not improve?

8.1 In the event that behaviours do not improve, the matter will be referred back to the panel and
where necessary escalated to Legal Services to determine what further action needs to be
taken.

Policy Owner: Marc Eyre, Service Manager for Assurance

Date Last Reviewed: 16 December 2024

Approved by: [To be presented to Audit and Governance Committee — January 2025]
Review Date: January 2028

!‘ Page 183 Making Dorset a great place to
8 Live, Work and visit


mailto:spocassurance@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Appendix A

Definitions

The Health & Safety Executive (HSE) have published some helpful guidance and supporting
definitions which the organisation is seeking to utilise to guide its own approach to assessing
the level of anticipated risk’.

These definitions are as follows:

VIOLENCE
Any incident in which a person is abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances relating
to their work.

AGGRESSION
Feelings of anger or antipathy resulting in hostile or violent behaviour; readiness to attack or
confront.

HARASSMENT

The act of systematic and/or continued unwanted and annoying actions of one party or a
group, including threats and demands.

These definitions also include verbal abuse or threat, threatening behaviour, any assault, any
serious or persistent harassment and extends from what may seem to be minor incidents to
serious assaults and threat against the employee’s family.

Also covered by this policy are employees that work from home and work flexibly from home
or other locations that are not their normal place of work, as this is still counted as being 'at
work'.

These definitions are also taken to include any form of hate crime against any individual or
group of people including any form of sexual harassment or discrimination against any of the
protected characteristics under equality legislation, i.e.

e Age;

eDisability;

eGender reassignment;
eMarriage and civil partnership;
ePregnancy and maternity;
eRace;

eReligion or belief;

eSex;

eSexual orientation

The following link can be used to report any hate crimes and all team members should be
encouraged to do so - https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-
ahttps://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/hate-crime-or-
incident/

?‘ Page 184 Making Dorset a great plac_e to
0 Live, Work and visit


https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/
https://www.dorset.police.uk/do-it-online/report-a-hate-crime-or-incident/

Appendix B
Unreasonable Behaviour Panel Process

Service completes e
fiorm "Aocident
[ Incident f Mear Miss"
Report form

?‘ Page 185 I\/lakin_g Dorset a great plac_e to
10 Live, Work and visit



This page is intentionally left blank



—~—
2N Dorset

Dorset Council
Report of Internal Audit Activity
s Progress Report 2024/25 — January 2025

jb)

Internal Audit = Risk = Special Investigations = Consultancy

Unrestricted

SWAP

INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
Helping Organisations to Succeed




88T abed

@®SWAP

Executive Summary

As part of our update reports, we will
provide an ongoing opinion to
support our end of year annual
opinion.

We will also provide details of any
significant risks that we have
identified in our work, along with the
progress of mitigating previously
identified significant risks.

The contacts at SWAP in
connection with this report are:

Sally White Assistant Director
Tel: 07820312469
sally.white@swapaudit.co.uk

Angie Hooper Principal Auditor
Tel: 07536453271
angela.hooper@swapaudit.co.uk

SWAP is an internal audit partnership
covering 25 organisations. Dorset
Council is a part-owner of SWAP, and
we provide the internal audit service
to the Council.

For further details see:
https://www.swapaudit.co.uk/

@ Audit Opinion, Significant Risks, and Audit Follow Up Work

Audit Opinion:
This is our third update report for 2024/25 financial year.

Our live Rolling Plan dashboard available through our audit management system AuditBoard AuditBoard | Login
(auditboardapp.com), and specifically the Audit Coverage (which can be found on the first tab of the dashboard
or on page 3 below), reflects the outcomes of recent reviews completed. Based on these recent reviews, we
recognise that generally risks are well managed. We have identified some gaps, weaknesses and areas of non-
compliance however, we have reasonable levels of confidence that the agreed actions will be implemented and
as such are able to offer a reasonable opinion.

Since our last progress report in September 2024, we have issued three Limited assurance opinions on areas
and activities that we have been auditing, one of which has been identified as having a potential significant
corporate impact. Agreed action plans are in place to improve internal controls in these areas, which we will
follow up through our usual processes. The summary reports can be found on pages 8 to 10.

In September, we reported a Limited assurance opinion for Estates Income & Debt Management, but we had
also been engaged in further dialogue with the service who had advised us that there was more evidence that
wasn’t provided at the time of the audit. We have since undertaken some follow up work and can report that
the original Limited assurance opinion stands but that four of the five actions that were due have been
completed with one in progress. The follow up summary report can be found on page 11 and analysis of the
top 75 debts (as at August 2024) in Appendix B.

Significant Corporate Risks

SWAP has undertaken an audit of Effectiveness of Business Continuity Plans to provide assurance that business
continuity plans are adequate to maintain critical operations, systems and services during an incident. Whilst
we acknowledge that this audit was requested by the Service Manager for Assurance following an incident in
May 2024 where the Council experienced an issue with Microsoft licencing that required business continuity
plans to be invoked, the Council lacks a unified, Council-wide consistent approach to business continuity
planning for it to be effective. Regular risk assessments and business impact analyses are not systematically

INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
elping Organisations 10 Succeed

Unrestricted

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
: guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Page 1 of 11


mailto:sally.white@swapaudit.co.uk
mailto:angela.hooper@swapaudit.co.uk
https://www.swapaudit.co.uk/
https://swap.auditboardapp.com/login
https://swap.auditboardapp.com/login

Executive Summary

conducted to inform business continuity planning, and there is a lack of regular, council-wide testing, exercising,
monitoring or reviewing of business continuity plans which could leave the Council vulnerable during
disruptions. Further details can be found in the summary report on page 10. Actions are due to be implemented
by the end of May 2025 and we will report progress of implementation in our update in July 2025.

Update on Response to Climate Emergency

In April, we reported that all actions that were due had been completed. The remaining one priority 1 and one
priority 2 actions are not due until 30" April 2025, so we will undertake another formal follow up nearer that
time to allow the actions to become embedded.

Follow Up of Agreed Audit Actions

Graphs showing the numbers of overdue priority 1 and 2 actions and those actions with revised due dates can
be found on page 5. There are 26 overdue actions, 11 of which have passed their original date and 15 of which
have passed at least one revised date. In addition, there are another 10 actions where the date has been revised
at least once but the latest revised date has not yet passed.

Both the number of overdue actions and those with revised timescales remain high, but we are in contact with
officers to ensure that actions are implemented in a timely way. Further details on outstanding actions can be
found by viewing the Management Actions tab of the SWAP Executive dashboard which is stored in AuditBoard
and can be viewed by clicking on this link AuditBoard | Login (auditboardapp.com)

68T abed

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further

O TERNAL AUDIT SERVIGES — . . . . . . L P 20of 11
~eipng Ogmsstons o Scceed guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. ageso

Unrestricted


https://swap.auditboardapp.com/login

Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25

Our audit plan coverage assessment is
designed to provide an indication of
whether we have provided sufficient,
independent assurance to monitor the
organisation’s risk profile effectively.

For those areas where no audit
coverage is planned, assurance should
be sought from other sources to provide
a holistic picture of assurance against

@’ SWAP Internal Audit Plan Coverage

The table below, captures our audit coverage, mapped against the Authority’s corporate risk themes since
November 2022 when we started using our audit management system, AuditBoard AuditBoard | Login
(auditboardapp.com). Furthermore, we have then overlayed the audit assurance outcomes of those risk areas
that we have reviewed. As you will see we have provided some level of recent audit work across all of the
corporate risk themes. It is possible on the dashboard to also view coverage of our recent audit work mapped
by Corporate Priorities, Directorates, SWAP Top 10 Risk Themes, and Core Areas of Recommended Assurance.
The audits that make up the coverage can be viewed by right clicking in the coverage cell, select drill through

and audit details.

key risks.
Strategic Risk Coverage Average Opinion of
J1) (Completed Audits) | Completed Audits
Q
% DC RO1 - Finance Good Reasonable
= DC R02 - Compliance Adequate
8 DC RO3 - Health, Safety, Wellbeing Reasonable
DC R04 - Communities Adequate Reasonable
DC RO5 - Digital & Technology Reasonable
DC RO6 - Safeguarding Reasonable
DC RO7 - Transformation
DC RO8 - Workforce
DC R09 - Political & Leadership
DC R10 - Service Delivery Good Reasonable
SR E B Sound system of governance, risk management
T Good audit coverage completed - and controls exist
Adequate audit coverage completed Generally sound system of governance, risk
management and control in place
Some aspects of audit coverage completed Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-
PTVIITE some aspects of audit coverage in progress compliance were identified
. No Assurance RG] tal gaps, k or non-
m No audit coverage to date compliance identified
SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further

INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
Helping Organisations o Succee

Unrestricted

S guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Page 3 of 11


https://swap.auditboardapp.com/login
https://swap.auditboardapp.com/login

Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25

We review our performance to ensure
that our work meets our clients’ SWAP Performance Measures
expectations and that we are delivering Performance scores from post audit questionnaires:

value to the organisation.
Conduct and Findings
100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Responses by Questionnaire Section

@ es @ Met Expectation @Exceeded Expectation
o B B

R

Scope Professianalism and Conduct Communication, Timeliness and Value Demonstrating our Values
Findings

100%

T6T abed

work is completed to comply wi e International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
SWAP ki leted t ly with the Int tional Professional Practices F k of the Institute of Int | Auditors, furth Page 4 of 11
A SRS - guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. €

Helping Organisations <0 Succeed

Unrestricted



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25

We monitor the Council’s performance

for implementation of agreed actions.

26T abed

Outcomes from Follow Up Audit Work

Open Management Actions by Open Overdue Management Actions Open Management Actions with Revised Due Dates
Priority On Time @ Overdue No @Yes
& 26 (32.91%)
( 25 (31.65%) r
2 53 .
(67.09%) 54 (68.35%)

1 2

Open Management Actions by Due date

24
17
14
s . . 14 . 10 9
e W — I 0
DC- DC

Open Management Actions by Directorate

45

Not yet due Due within  1-30days 31-90days 91-180 days 181-364
30 days overdue overdue overdue days DC - Adults ( C - DC-Place DC-Cross DC - Public
overdue & Housing Children Corporate Directorate Health

Unrestricted

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Page 5 of 11



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25

Added Value

‘Extra feature(s) of an item of interest
(product, service, person etc.) that go

beyond the standard expectations and
provide something more while adding
little or nothing to its cost.’

€6T abed

>

Added Value

Cifas

The use of the Cifas data sharing service continues to bring benefits in preventing and detecting fraud. Since our
last update it has been decided not to progress with the project to use Application Programming Interface (API)
between Mosaic and Cifas to identify deceased cases because the level of debts does not justify the resources
required. Annual checks of senior officers are now taking place. Previously agreed areas continue to be run
through the database with matches being identified and action taken where necessary.

Whistleblowing Investigations
SWAP’s Counter Fraud team has recently completed an investigation which resulted from whistleblowing and
have also just started another unrelated investigation which is also a result of whistleblowing.

Data Analytics
Data analytics, which has been used to provide to inform audit findings and provide additional insight has been

undertaken for the Estates Income and Debt Management (Top 75 debts). Benchmarking exercises have been
carried out for Governance of Cyber Security Risk, Implementation of Domestic Abuse Strategy and Children’s
Social Care Complaints.

Newsletters and updates
SWAP regularly produces a newsletter and other relevant updates for partners such as fraud bulletins, which
provide information on topical issues of interest.

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further

INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
elping Organisations 10 Succeed

Unrestricted

: guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Page 6 of 11



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25 — Limited Opinion Audits APPENDIX A

The role of SWAP as the internal auditors for Dorset Council is to provide independent assurance that the Council’s risk management, governance and internal control

processes are operating effectively. In order for senior management and members to be able to appreciate the implications of the assurance provided within an audit
report, SWAP provide an assurance opinion. The four opinion ratings are defined as follows:

Assurance Definitions

No The review identified fundamental gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance, which require immediate action. The system of governance, risk management and
LUITELILMN control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

The review identified significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance. The system of governance, risk management and control requires improvement to
effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited

Reasonable The review highlighted a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in place. We identified some issues, non-compliance or scope for
improvement were identified which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

The review confirmed a sound system of governance, risk management and control, with internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to
support the achievement of objectives in the area audited.

PIn addition to the assurance definitions above we also provide an ‘assurance dial’ which indicates on a range of high medium or low where within the range of that
assurance a particular audit assurance sits.

ab

As can be seen in this example the assurance provided is low limited as the dial is sitting on the lower end of the limited scale. It could equally have been a medium
limited assurance where the dial sits midway or high limited when it is sitting at the upper end close to the reasonable assurance.

The Committee is able to view a record of all internal audit work on the Rolling Plan dashboard held in AuditBoard, including work in progress and all completed work

that would have previously been reported to the Committee in a table form. To provide the Committee with additional insight we include our one-page audit report
in full for Limited assurance audits.

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
__INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES

o ; guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 7 of 11

nsto S

Unrestricted



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25 — Limited Opinion Audits APPENDIX A

o

Temporary Accommodation — Final Report — September 2024 ""‘ Eo?rfg’;Et @ Stvxwﬁcg

Audit Objective To review the effectiveness of controls and processes which allow the council to remain compliant with legislation and deliver value for money to taxpayers.

Executive Summary

Assurance Opinion Management Actions Organisational Risk Assessment
The review identified significant gaps, Priority 1 1 Our audit work includes areas that we consider have a medium

weaknesses, or instances of nan- organisational risk and potential impact.

compliance. The system of governance, 5

risk management, and control requires Priority 3 1 The key audit conclusions and resulting outcomes warrant
improvement to effectively manage further discussion and attention at senior management level.
risks to the achievement of objectives

Total 17
in the area audited.

.U Key Conclusions Audit Scope

g_) We tested 25 properties for H&S certification, 14 were found to have not undergone comprehensive
(@] asbestos surveys, or the existing records have not been appropriately maintained or updated. This The scope of the audit considered the following areas:

() situation presents a high risk potentially compromising the well-being and safety of both occupants and

= contractors. The Assets and Regeneration team should ensure asbestos surveys have been completed for &  Supply of temporary accommodation,

o) all housing properties and any records which have not been updated will be rectified. A centralised tracking & The voids process and the property Health & Safety
o1

system will also be created to ensure consistent and timely completion in the future. compliance

An Assets Register for properties is not present to comprehensively track and monitor organisational assets * Budgeting and forecasting

and action is needed to finalise essential policies, in order to adapt to changing regulations and industry & Rent collection process

standards. The implementation of these docurments will enable the service to improve their operational * Monitoring performance and KPI's

framework. &  Placing residents in temporary accommodation
The council currently does not set the rents for temporary accommodation at the level recommended by including requirements and monitoring

guidance. By setting this, it would mean the council are more likely to obtain the money owed and able to s Leaving temporary accommodation and temporary to
move the clients out of temporary accommaodation quicker by preventing rent arrears building up for the permanent housing

client.

There is a significant lack of staff training in using the internal software system, leading to inefficiencies,
errors, and reduced proficiency. The information in the system lacks completeness and there are areas
that show incorrect information which needs to be cleansed. Through designing and executing a thorough
staff training program for effective internal software system use, proficiency and accuracy of processes
and data will improve.

Next Steps

At the commencement of the audit, the service did identify many issues prior to our review. The “Findings & Action Plan” includes details of the management actions, which once
completed, will enhance the control environment.

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
IERDAL RUBIT SERVICES guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Helping Organisations to Succeed

Page 8 of 11

Unrestricted



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25 — Limited Opinion Audits APPENDIX A

-
Children's Services Social Care Complaints — Final Report — October 2024 ~q Dorset SWAP

Council INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES

To provide assurance that complaints are handled efficiently, effectively, and in accordance with relevant regulations and guidelines, ensuring any escalation

Audit Objective . i
is appropriately managed.

Executive Summary

Assurance Opinion Management Actions Organisational Risk Assessment
The review identified significant gaps,

weaknesses, or instances of non- m Our audit work includes areas that we consider have a

compliance. The system of pgowvernance, 5 medium organisational risk and potential impact.

risk management, and control requires Priority 3 3
n improvement to effectively manage risks The key audit conclusions and resulting outcomes warrant

to the achievement of objectives in the Total 8 further discussion and attention at senior management level.
area audited.

Q Key Conclusions Audit Scope
Q Through sample testing of complaints, we identified limited communication from the Council during the life of the complaint, The scope of the audit considered the
) with complainants sending chaser emails for updates. Establishing a clear communication link with complainants will aid in their  following areas:
= reassurance and reduce the number of incoming emails.
O We tested a sample of 11 complaints to ensure they followed the complaints process in full. We identified seven of those * Policies and procedures;
o complaints were not given a response within the established timescale. The cause of the response delays was due to the * Process for investigating
investigating managers failure to complete investigations within timescales, which therefore impacted on the ability of the complaints, including a focus on
Complaints team to respond to the complainant. Ensuring enhanced oversight of investigating managers will ensure deviations complainant  experience  and
from expected timelines are justified. impact on escalations from stage 1
to stage 2;
Whilst we are satisfied that Stage 2 and higher action plans are appropriately tracked and evidence collected for closure within il . . )
L ) \ , ) ) ) s The complaints decision making
the one-month period in most cases, this does not occur at Stage 1 or informal complaints. Implementing actions will lead to the process;

mitigation of a further complaint. ) .
= Action monitoring;

We conducted sample testing of external investigating officers and independent persons to confirm appropriate disclosures were  «  Complaints outcomes;
obtained. The data Dorset Council holds for these individuals was out of date. Periodic checks of this will enable Dorset Council e  Performance and learning and how
to ensure an up-to-date record is maintained. this is applied to practice; and

Dorset Council has a suite of up-to-date policies and procedures which clearly establish the complaints process for Children’s *  Howcomplaints data is monitored.
Services Social Care Complaints. All staff within the Complaints team are fully aware of the process and aid in the implementation

of this throughout the service. Though the general complaints process is embedded, further efficiencies are required in the service

overall to ensure an effective, joint approach. Benchmarking against three Local Authorities found that Dorset Council had the

lowest amount of Stage 2 investigations, and in comparison, suggests proactive intervention at Stage One.

Next Steps

The 'Findings & Action Plan includes details of the management actions, which once completed, will enhance the control environment. Benchmarking results against Local Authorities,
have been shared providing further rationale for the review.

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further

~ NTERNAL AUBIT SERVICES P 9o0f11
e guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. age o

Unrestricted



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25 — Limited Opinion Audits APPENDIX A

=
Effectiveness of Business Continuity Plans — Final Report - November 2024 = Dorset S WAP

Council INTEANAL AUDIT SERVICES

To assess the effectiveness of Dorset Council's Business Continuity Plans to ensure that they are adequate to maintain critical operations, systems, and services
during an incident.

Assurance Opinion Management Actions Organisational Risk Assessment

Audit Objective

Executive Summary

Reason The review identified significant gaps, weaknesses, or ity 1 Our audit work includes areas that we consider have a high
instances of non-compliance. The system of governance, 13 organisational risk and potential significant impact.
risk management, and control requires improvement to _ ) )
n effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives Priority 3 1 Both senior management and the Audit Committee should
| | consider key audit conclusions and resulting outcomes.
in the area audited. Total 15 Yy 4
Key Conclusions Audit Scope

Regular risk assessments are not systematically conducted to inform Business Continuity Planning (BCP). The process requires  The Service Manager for Assurance asked SWAP
Business Impact Analyses (BlAs) and risk assessments to be developed independently by each service. This approach lacks a unified,  to undertake this audit after an incident in May
council-wide strategy for integrating risk assessments into BCPs. 2024 where Dorset Council experienced an issue

There has been no regular council-wide testing, exercising, monitoring, or review of the Action Cards/ Business Continuity Plans With Microsoft licencing that required Business
(BCPs). This lack of regular evaluation means that the effectiveness and reliability of these plans remain unverified, potentially ~Continuity Plans (BCPs) to be invoked. A post
leaving the council vulnerable during disruptions. Additionally, the ICT Service does not have a formal BCP in place, although thisis €vent briefing identified some issues around
currently being worked on. This absence is concerning given the critical role ICT plays in supporting and maintaining essential Service BCPs.

business functions and operations. We assessed if there is strategic overview and
Business Impact Analyses (BIAs) and action cards are not regularly updated or tested. Out of the 283 BIAs, only 41 have documented  appropriate service buy-in and identification of
testing dates. BIA forms the cornerstone of an effective Business Continuity Plan, ensuring that the council can continue to operate  the council's critical services. We evaluated
and recover swiftly in the face of unexpected events. whether services have reviewed and updated
their plans to explain how they would respond
to cyber-attacks and data loss risks.

/6T abed

The Business Continuity Framework is overdue a review and update. Currently, roles and responsibilities within the framework are
not clearly defined, and resources allocated for Business Continuity Planning are limited. Additionally, Recovery Time Objectives

(RTOs) are not aligned between the Business Continuity Framework, Business Impact Analysis (BlAs), and ICT systems. . . )
We assessed if services know how to locate their

Lessons learned from past incidents have not been implemented, which can lead to recurring issues. The Business Continuity action plans, whether they have tested their
Framework is missing a current list of critical systems, as the list is outdated and contains systems no longer in use. Furthermore, plans and assessed if they are fit for purpose,
the absence of robust regular awareness campaigns can result in gaps in knowledge and preparedness among stakeholders. and if they understand their dependencies on

Clarity is needed regarding which standards and/or frameworks are being followed in the management of Business Continuity. = C'Ttical systems and suppliers.

Currently, there is ambiguity about the specific guidelines or best practices that should be adhered to, to ensure a unified and
standardised approach.

Other Relevant Information

The actions which are detailed in the Findings & Action Plan will be followed up at the appropriate time. We will report this high corporate risk to the Audit & Governance Committee in January 2025.

SWAP SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further
IERDAL RUBIT SERVICES guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.

Helping Organisations to Succeed

Page 10 of 11

Unrestricted



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2024/25 — Limited Opinion Audits APPENDIX A

Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up - Final Report = November 2024 --‘ Qorset S;WW' A. m ¢!s
flpiers NTERNAL AUBIT SEAVH
Follow Up Audit To provide assurance that agreed actions due for completion by the end of September 2024 identified within the 2024/25 Limited opinion audit of Estates
Objective Income and Debt Management report have been implemented.
Follow Up Progress Summary Follow Up Assessment
The original audit was completed in July 2024 and received a Limited assurance opinion but following
Mot the issue of the final report, the service suggested that there was more evidence that wasn't provided
Complete Summary . : . . .
Started at the time which may have altered our assurance rating. This follow-up audit has concluded that the
o 0 original Limited assurance opinion stands, however four of the actions are now complete with one in
Priority 1 0 0 0 0 progress. Key findings have been summarised below.
Priority 2 1 1 4] 2 4 Follow Up Scope
U Priority 3 3 0 o o 3 Additional testing has been performed in relation to one priority two action regarding the process for
g chasing rent arrears. Evidence obtained has supported in the implementation and closure of four
Total 4 1 0 2 7 actions.
D
©
Key Findin|
0o v rindines

The original audit concluded that there was limited evidence to show rent arrears are followed-up. The review found that whilst the team have monthly meetings to update

the Top 75 Debtors’ spreadsheet to track progress on current positions of outstanding balances, the commentary noted is not available on a central system, such as DES,

to enable all relevant officer’s sufficient oversight. The specific information to corroborate the notes are held on individual surveyor files/emails and has proved difficult

to source during the follow-up. However, this process is now being transferred to the Finance function, focusing on the collection of rents/invoicing. This new process will
@ incorporate changes to the central recording of rent arrears activities/conversations with tenants.

There has been work completed on updating and making available relevant policies, processes and procedures. The team now also has individual key performance indicators
(KPI's) which are aligned to the service objectives and reviewed during appraisals. As a result of an exercise completed by Hartnell Taylor Cook (HTC), the updating of lease
information is now completed, embedded into Civica and used by surveyors. For information sharing with Business Rates, a new process has been agreed with Legal to
notify of changes with lease events.

Further Follow Up Required

Further details of actions can be found in the Agreed Actions report and data analysis on Estates debt has also been provided. A summary of the key findings from our review will be
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2025. Going forward, we will follow up the remaining actions through our normal follow up process and close the actions
once the relevant work has been completed.

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further

guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 11 of 11

Unrestricted



>
: -~ Dorset W A
Appendix B - Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up Council %EHNALAUD.TSEW.CE

Data Analytics - November 2024

All the data in this Appendix is from August 2024.

Figure 1 represents the level of debt in the whole Place directorate as of
August 2024. This value equals £6,314,946.38 and is split between the
service areas.

Assets and Regeneration make up 72% of this figure, as shown in the chart,
at a value of £4,629,173.46. This puts into context the scale of the debt the
Assets and Regeneration service is dealing with compared to the whole
directorate.

Figure 2

Age of the debts

66T abed

B Sum of Less than
30 Days

m Sum of 30 - 59 Days

m Sum of 60 - 89 Days

Sum of 90- 365 Days
(1 Year)

M Sum of > 365 Days
( Over 1 Year)

Unrestricted

Figure 1

Percentage of Place debts

B Economy, Infrastructure
M Place Services

B Assets & Regeneration

Figure 2 outlines the age of the debts in Assets and Regeneration. The
largest percentage of the debts are over 365 days old, representing
40% in the chart, and £1,843,722.89 in monetary value.

The next highest are debts between 90 and 365 days old and these
amount to £1,323,990.38. This shows that the majority of the debt
requiring recovery action within Assets and Regeneration are older
debts.

Full details of our audit testing are available upon request. Our audit assurance framework and definitions can be found here (www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions)


http://www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions

>

: - Dorset \"\}
Appendix B - Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up N Council %EHNALAUD.TS%,.CE

Figure 3 T | | | f d b . A d Figure 3 shows the level of debt in Assets and Regeneration over the last 10
otal level o ebt in Assets an months, from October 2023 to August 2024. The graph identifies that the debt
Regeneration in October 2023 stood at £5,953,930.00 and, as of August 2024, the level of
debt in Assets and Regeneration stood at £4,629,173.00. This is a
00000 £1,324,757.00 reduction in the level of debt the service has, equalling a 22%
" 000.00 decrease in 10 months.
5,000,000.00
4,000,000.00 The debt was at its lowest level however in May 2024 where it stood at
3,000,000.00 £3,496,238.00.
2,000,000.00
1,000,000.00
- Figure 4
Y, I S SN SN SN SO S S S Debt 365 days and over
© U CER CER G
Q LRI IR O SIS A Sl A R £2,000,000.00
@ % > ” > v » > % % % £1,800,000.00
8 £1,600,000.00
o £1,400,000.00
Figure 4 represents the level of debt which is 365 days and older. £1,200,000.00

£1,000,000.00
£800,000.00
£600,000.00
£400,000.00

From February 2024 to August 2024 there is an increase in the level of debt.

In February 2024 the level of debt 365 days and older stood at £473,916.00,
the lowest level in this time period. However, in August 2024 the debt 365

£200,000.00
days and older stood at £1,843,743.00, the highest level in the time period. £-
This is an increase of £1,042,036.00 over the 10 months. Ke
’b\’\\/

Unrestricted
Full details of our audit testing are available upon request. Our audit assurance framework and definitions can be found here (www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions)



http://www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions

>

. - Dorset W
Appendix B - Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up N Council %;;;..MAUD.T:AE\RV.CE

Figure 5

Total debt levels and debt 365 days and older

£7,000,000.00
£6,000,000.00
£5,000,000.00
£4,000,000.00
£3,000,000.00
£2,000,000.00

£1,000,000.00 -

—

£-

e e 0 ™ ™ ™ ™ * * v

Q W W Q) Q) Q)
KOG AR N U ORI N CUA O
X W \'\')’ & \0"’ \6” O \0"’ S S
S AT S NS v A S AR SRR A AR N

Total Balance 365 Days +

TOg abed

The service informed us that they are actively chasing the top 75 debts in the
service. All debts are currently not being chased due to capacity issues.

Figure 6 shows the percentage of debts being actively chased compared to
debts not being actively chased. The percentage of debts being actively chased
is 96%, at a monetary value of £4,442,968.22. The amount of debt they are
not actively chasing is 4%, at a monetary value of £186,205.24.

While chasing the top 75 debts is not chasing all the debt, this shows they are
covering a large majority of the debt in Assets and Regeneration.

Unrestricted

Figure 5 combines data from Figure 3 and Figure 4, the level of debt in
Assets and Regeneration and the level of debt 365 days and over.

The graphs show that the percentage of debt 365 days and older makes
up a larger proportion over time.

In October 2023, the debt 365 days and older makes up 13% of the
debt in Assets and Regeneration. However, in August 2024 the
percentage of debt which is 365 days and older is now 40% of the whole
debt in Assets and Regeneration.

Figure 6

Debts being chased and not being
chased

M Percentage of total debt
debt being chased

M percentage not being
chased

Full details of our audit testing are available upon request. Our audit assurance framework and definitions can be found here (www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions)



http://www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions

>

. - Dorset W
Appendix B - Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up N Council %;;;..MAUD.T:AE\RV.CE

Figure 7

20z ebed

Top 20 debts in being chased

M Percentage of top 20 debts
compared to whole debt
Percentage of the rest of the
debt in Assets and Property
90%

Figure 8

Top 3 debts as a percentage

M percentage of top three
debts to rest of debts

Percentage of the rest of the
debt in Assets and Property

Further analysis was completed on the individual debts in Assets and Regeneration. In Figure 7, we looked at the top 20 largest debts and the chart shows that these
make up 90% of all the debts in Assets and Regeneration. In monetary terms, the top 20 amounts to £4,161,483.59 compared to the overall service debt figure of
£4,629,173.46.

Figure 8 shows the 3 highest debts, which make up 79% of the whole debt in Assets and Regeneration. In monetary terms, this amounts to £3,653,218.29 compared
to the overall service debt figure of £4,629,173.46.

From this analysis we can say that reducing the amount of debt owed from the top 3 debtors to the service will significantly reduce the overall debt in Assets and
Regeneration. Linking back to Figure 1, it will also significantly reduce the debt in the Place directorate. Below are the debts:

Sum of debt (August 2024) | Sum of debt (04/12/2024)
Debtor 1 £ 2,942,698.74 £1,740,000
Debtor 2 f 418,310.16 £420,000
Debtor 3 £ 292,209.39 £280,000
Top 3 Total £ 3,653,218.29 £2,440,000

Unrestricted

Full details of our audit testing are available upon request. Our audit assurance framework and definitions can be found here (www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions)



http://www.swapaudit.co.uk/audit-framework-and-definitions

€0¢ abed

Audit and Governance Committee Work Programme 2024-25

13 January 2025

Quarterly Risk Management Update

Update Report

Officer Contact- David Bonner/ Chris
Swain

SWAP Update Report

Update Report

Officer Contact- Sally White/ Angie Hooper

Q2 2024/25 Budget Monitoring Report Report Officer Contact- Sean Cremer

Progress Update on the Information Update Officer Contact- Marc Eyre/ James Fisher

Governance Paper

Corporate Complaints Policy and Report Officer Contact- Marc Eyre

Managing Unreasonable Customer

Behaviour Protocol

Update on Our Future Council Work Update Officer Contact- Aidan Dunn

24 February 2025

Q3 2024/25 Budget Monitoring Report Report Officer Contact- Sean Cremer

ISA 260 for the 2023/24 Audit Report Officer Contact- Heather Lappin/Jackson
Murray

Response to the consultation on Report Officer Contact- Jonathan Mair

strengthening the standards and conduct

framework for local authorities

Value for Money Opinion Report Officer Contact- Heather Lappin/lan
Howse

Update on Our Future Council Work Update Officer Contact- Aidan Dunn

14 April 2025

¢T Wa)| epuaby



0z abed

Annual Governance Statement

Statement

Officer Contact- Marc Eyre

Quarterly Risk Management Update

Update Report

Officer Contact- David Bonner/Chris Swain

Planning Paper for 2025-26

Planning Paper

Officer Contact- Sally White/ Angie Hooper

Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2024-25

Opinion Report

Officer Contact- Sally White/Angie Hooper

SWAP Update Report

Update Report

Officer Contact- Sally White/Angie Hooper

Update on Our Future Council Work

Update

Officer Contact- Aidan Dunn

Other items raised by Audit and Governance Committee requiring further consideration.

Issue

Notes

Date raised




Agenda ltem 14

Document is Restricted

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Risk Management Update
	7 September (Period 6) Financial Management Report 2024/25
	8 Information Governance - Update
	9 Corporate Complaints and Managing Customer Behaviour
	Appendix A - Whole Council Complaints Policy
	Appendix B - Managing Customer Behaviour Protocol

	11 Report of Internal Audit Activity -  Progress Report 2024/25 - January 2025
	Appendix B - Estates Income and Debt Management Follow Up

	12 Work Programme
	14 Exempt Business

